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Preface and acknowledgements

Our objective is to provide a balanced and comprehensive framework to enable students
to acquire the requisite knowledge and skills to appraise current practice critically and to
evaluate proposed changes from a theoretical base. To this end, the text contains:

@ current IASs and IFRSs;

@ illustrations from published accounts;
@ a range of review questions;

@ cxercises of varying difficulty;

@ extensive references.

Outline solutions to selected exercises can also be found on the Companion Website
(www.pearsoned.co.uk/elliott-elliott).

We have assumed that readers will have an understanding of financial accounting to a
foundation or first-year level, although the text and exercises have been designed on the
basis that a brief revision is still helpful.

Lecturers are using the text selectively to support a range of teaching programmes for
second-year and final-year undergraduate and postgraduate programmes. We have therefore
attempted to provide subject coverage of sufficient breadth and depth to assist selective use.

The text has been adopted for financial accounting, reporting and analysis modules on:

® sccond-year undergraduate courses for Accounting, Business Studies and Combined
Studies;

o final-year undergraduate courses for Accounting, Business Studies and Combined
Studies;

® MBA courses;
@ specialist MSc courses; and

@ professional courses preparing students for professional accountancy examinations.

Changes to the fourteenth edition

Accounting standards

UK listed companies, together with those non-listed companies that so choose, have applied
international standards from January 2005.
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For non-listed companies that choose to continue to apply UK GAAP, the ASB has stated
its commitment to progressively bringing UK GAAP into line with international standards.

For companies currently applying FRSSE this will continue. The IASB issued /FRS
Jor SMEs in 2009.

Accounting standards - fourteenth edition updates

Chapters 5 and 6 cover the evolution of global standards and a global Conceptual
Framework.
Topics and International Standards are covered as follows:

Chapter 4  Accounting for price-level changes IAS 29
Chapter 8 Preparation of statements of comprehensive ITAS 1, IFRS
income and financial position

Chapter 9  Preparation of published accounts IAS 8, IAS 10, TIAS 24, IFRS 5
and IFRS 8

Chapter 11 Off balance sheet finance TAS 37

Chapter 12 Financial instruments TAS 32, IAS 39, IFRS 7 and
IFRS 9

Chapter 13 Employee benefits TAS 19, IAS 26 and IFRS 2

Chapter 14 Taxation in company accounts TAS 12

Chapter 15 Property, plant and equipment (PPE) TAS 16, TAS 20, TAS 23,
IAS 36, IAS 40 and IFRS 5

Chapter 16 ILeasing TIAS 17

Chapter 17 R&D; goodwill and intangible assets; TAS 38 and IFRS 3

brands

Chapter 18 Inventories IAS 2

Chapter 19 Construction contracts IAS 11

Chapters 20 to 24 Consolidation TAS 21, TAS 27, TAS 28,
IAS 31 and IFRS 3

Chapter 25 FEarnings per share TAS 33

Chapter 26 Statements of cash flows IAS 7

Chapter 30 Corporate governance IFRS 2

Income and asset value measurement systems

Chapters 1 to 4 continue to cover accounting and reporting on a cash flow and accrual basis,
the economic income approach and accounting for price-level changes.

The UK regulatory framework and analysis

UK listed companies will continue to be subject to national company law, and mandatory
and best practice requirements such as the Operating and Financial Review and the UK Code
of Corporate Governance.

UK regulatory framework and analysis - fourteenth edition changes
The following chapters have been retained and updated as appropriate:

Chapter 7  Ethical behaviour and implications for accountants
Chapter 10 Share capital, distributable profits and reduction of capital
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Chapter 11 Off balance sheet finance

Chapter 27 Review of financial ratio analysis

Chapter 28 Analytical analysis — selective use of ratios

Chapter 29 An introduction to financial reporting on the Internet
Chapter 30 Corporate governance

Chapter 31 Sustainability — environmental and social reporting
Chapter 32 Ethics for accountants (now Chapter 7)

Our emphasis has been on keeping the text current and responsive to constructive com-
ments from reviewers.

Recent developments

In addition to the steps being taken towards the development of IFRSs that will receive
broad consensus support, regulators have been active in developing further requirements
concerning corporate governance. These have been prompted by the accounting scandals
in the USA and, more recently, in Europe and by shareholder activism fuelled by the
apparent lack of any relationship between increases in directors’ remuneration and company
performance.

The content of financial reports continues to be subjected to discussion with a tension
between preparers, stakeholders, auditors, academics and standard setters; this is mirrored
in the tension that exists between theory and practice.

® Preparers favour reporting transactions on a historical cost basis which is reliable but does
not provide shareholders with relevant information to appraise past performance or to
predict future earnings.

@ Shareholders favour forward-looking reports relevant in estimating future dividend and
capital growth and in understanding environmental and social impacts.

® Stakeholders favour quantified and narrative disclosure of environmental and social
impacts and the steps taken to reduce negative impacts.

@ Auditors favour reports that are verifiable so that the figures can be substantiated to avoid
them being proved wrong at a later date.

® Academic accountants favour reports that reflect economic reality and are relevant in
appraising management performance and in assessing the capacity of the company to adapt.

@ Standard setters lean towards the academic view and favour reporting according to the
commercial substance of a transaction.

In order to understand the tensions that exist, students need:

@ the skill to prepare financial statements in accordance with the historical cost and current
cost conventions, both of which appear in annual financial reports;

@ an understanding of the main thrust of mandatory and voluntary standards;

@ an understanding of the degree of flexibility available to the preparers and the impact of
this on reported earnings and the figures in the statement of financial position;

@ an understanding of the limitations of financial reports in portraying economic reality; and

® an exposure to source material and other published material in so far as time permits.
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Instructor’s Manual

A separate Instructors’ Manual has been written to accompany this text. It contains fully
worked solutions to all the exercises and is of a quality that allows them to be used as over-
head transparencies. The Manual is available at no cost to lecturers on application to the
publishers.

Website
An electronic version of the Instructors’ Manual is also available for download at
www.pearsoned.co.uk/elliott-elliott.
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CHAPTER I

Accounting and reporting on a
cash flow basis

Introduction

Accountants are communicators. Accountancy is the art of communicating financial
information about a business entity to users such as shareholders and managers. The
communication is generally in the form of financial statements that show in money terms
the economic resources under the control of the management. The art lies in selecting the
information that is relevant to the user and is reliable.

Shareholders require periodic information that the managers are accounting properly for
the resources under their control. This information helps the shareholders to evaluate the
performance of the managers. The performance measured by the accountant shows the extent
to which the economic resources of the business have grown or diminished during the year.

The shareholders also require information to predict future performance. At present
companies are not required to publish forecast financial statements on a regular basis and the
shareholders use the report of past performance when making their predictions.

Managers require information in order to control the business and make investment
decisions.

Objectives

By the end of this chapter, you should be able to:

® explain the extent to which cash flow accounting satisfies the information needs
of shareholders and managers;

® prepare a cash budget and operating statement of cash flows;

® explain the characteristics that makes cash flow data a reliable and fair
representation;

o critically discuss the use of cash flow accounting for predicting future dividends.

1.2 Shareholders

Shareholders are external users. As such, they are unable to obtain access to the same amount
of detailed historical information as the managers, e.g. total administration costs are disclosed
in the published profit and loss account, but not an analysis to show how the figure is made
up. Shareholders are also unable to obtain associated information, e.g. budgeted sales and
costs. Even though the shareholders own a company, their entitlement to information is
restricted.
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The information to which shareholders are entitled is restricted to that specified by
statute, e.g. the Companies Acts, or by professional regulation, e.g. Financial Reporting
Standards, or by market regulations, e.g. Listing requirements. This means that there may
be a tension between the amount of information that a shareholder would like to receive
and the amount that the directors are prepared to provide. For example, shareholders
might consider that forecasts of future cash flows would be helpful in predicting future
dividends, but the directors might be concerned that such forecasts could help competitors
or make directors open to criticism if forecasts are not met. As a result, this information is
not disclosed.

There may also be a tension between the quality of information that shareholders would
like to receive and that which directors are prepared to provide. For example, the share-
holders might consider that judgements made by the directors in the valuation of long-term
contracts should be fully explained, whereas the directors might prefer not to reveal this
information given the high risk of error that often attaches to such estimates. In practice,
companies tend to compromise: they do not reveal the judgements to the shareholders, but
maintain confidence by relying on the auditor to give a clean audit report.

The financial reports presented to the shareholders are also used by other parties such as
lenders and trade creditors, and they have come to be regarded as general-purpose reports.
However, it may be difficult or impossible to satisfy the needs of all users. For example, users
may have different time-scales — shareholders may be interested in the long-term trend of
earnings over three years, whereas creditors may be interested in the likelihood of receiving
cash within the next three months.

The information needs of the shareholders are regarded as the primary concern. The
government perceives shareholders to be important because they provide companies with
their economic resources. It is shareholders’ needs that take priority in deciding on the nature
and detailed content of the general-purpose reports.!

1.3 What skills does an accountant require in respect of external reports?

For external reporting purposes the accountant has a two-fold obligation:

@ an obligation to ensure that the financial statements comply with statutory, profes-
sional and Listing requirements; this requires the accountant to possess technical
expertise;

@ an obligation to ensure that the financial statements present the substance of the
commercial transactions the company has entered into; this requires the accountant to

have commercial awareness.”

1.4 Managers

Managers are internal users. As such, they have access to detailed financial statements
showing the current results, the extent to which these vary from the budgeted results and
the future budgeted results. Examples of internal users are sole traders, partners and, in a
company context, directors and managers.

There is no statutory restriction on the amount of information that an internal user
may receive; the only restriction would be that imposed by the company’s own policy.
Frequently, companies operate a ‘need to know’ policy and only the directors see all the
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financial statements; employees, for example, would be most unlikely to receive information
that would assist them in claiming a salary increase — unless, of course, it happened to be
a time of recession, when information would be more freely provided by management as a
means of containing claims for an increase.

1.5 What skills does an accountant require in respect of internal reports?

1.5.1

For the internal user, the accountant is able to tailor his or her reports. The accountant is
required to produce financial statements that are specifically relevant to the user requesting
them.

The accountant needs to be skilled in identifying the information that is needed and
conveying its implication and meaning to the user. The user needs to be confident that the
accountant understands the user’s information needs and will satisfy them in a language
that is understandable. The accountant must be a skilled communicator who is able to instil
confidence in the user that the information is:

@ relevant to the user’s needs;

® measured objectively;

@ presented within a time-scale that permits decisions to be made with appropriate information;
[ ]

verifiable, in that it can be confirmed that the report represents the transactions that have
taken place;

@ reliable, in that it is as free from bias as is possible;
® a complete picture of material items;

@ a fair representation of the business transactions and events that have occurred or are
being planned.

The accountant is a trained reporter of financial information. Just as for external reporting,
the accountant needs commercial awareness. It is important, therefore, that he or she should
not operate in isolation.

Accountant’s reporting role

The accountant’s role is to ensure that the information provided is useful for making
decisions. For external users, the accountant achieves this by providing a general-purpose
financial statement that complies with statute and is reliable. For internal users, this is done
by interfacing with the user and establishing exactly what financial information is relevant
to the decision that is to be made.

We now consider the steps required to provide relevant information for internal users.

1.6 Procedural steps when reporting to internal users

A number of user steps and accounting action steps can be identified within a financial
decision model. These are shown in Figure 1.1.

Note that, although we refer to an accountant/user interface, this is not a single occurrence
because the user and accountant interface at each of the user decision steps.

At step 1, the accountant attempts to ensure that the decision is based on the appro-
priate appraisal methodology. However, the accountant is providing a service to a user and,
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Figure 1.1 General financial decision model to illustrate the user/accountant
interface
USER ACCOUNTANT
User step | |dentify the material information
|dentify decision and needed by the user
how it is to be made Measure the relevant
User step 2 information
Establish with the USER/ACCOUNTANT Prepare report for user to
accountant the INTERFACE allow user to make decision
information necessary Provide an understandable
for decision making report to the user
User step 3

Seek relevant data
from the accountant

while the accountant may give guidance, the final decision about methodology rests with
the user.

At step 2, the accountant needs to establish the information necessary to support the
decision that is to be made.

At step 3, the accountant needs to ensure that the user understands the full impact
and financial implications of the accountant’s report taking into account the user’s level of
understanding and prior knowledge. This may be overlooked by the accountant, who feels
that the task has been completed when the written report has been typed.

It is important to remember in following the model that the accountant is attempting
to satisfy the information needs of the individual user rather than those of a ‘user group’.
It is tempting to divide users into groups with apparently common information needs,
without recognising that a group contains individual users with different information
needs. We return to this later in the chapter, but for the moment we continue by studying
a situation where the directors of a company are considering a proposed capital investment
project.

Let us assume that there are three companies in the retail industry: Retail A Ltd, Retail
B Ltd and Retail C Ltd. The directors of each company are considering the purchase of a
warehouse. We could assume initially that, because the companies are operating in the
same industry and are faced with the same investment decision, they have identical infor-
mation needs. However, enquiry might establish that the directors of each company have a
completely different attitude to, or perception of, the primary business objective.

For example, it might be established that Retail A I.td is a large company and under
the Fisher/Hirshleifer separation theory the directors seek to maximise profits for the
benefit of the equity investors; Retail B Ltd is a medium-sized company in which the
directors seek to obtain a satisfactory return for the equity shareholders; and Retail C Ltd
is a smaller company in which the directors seek to achieve a satisfactory return for a
wider range of stakeholders, including, perhaps, the employees as well as the equity
shareholders.

The accountant needs to be aware that these differences may have a significant effect on
the information required. Let us consider this diagrammatically in the situation where a
capital investment decision is to be made, referring particularly to user step 2: ‘Establish
with the accountant the information necessary for decision making’.
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Figure 1.2 Impact of different user attitudes on the information needed in relation
to a capital investment proposal

USER A USER B USER C
Directors of Directors of Directors of
Retail A Ltd Retail B Ltd Retail C Ltd
User
attitude PROFIT MAXIMISER PROFIT SATISFICER PROFIT SATISFICER
for SHAREHOLDERS ~ for SHAREHOLDERS  for SHAREHOLDERS/
STAFF
Relevant
data to
measure CASH FLOWS CASH FLOWS CASH FLOWS
Appraisal
method
(decided on
by user) IRR NPV NPV
Appraisal
criterion
(decided on HIGHEST IRR NPV but only if NPV possibly
by user) positive even if negative

We can see from Figure 1.2 that the accountant has identified that:

@ the relevant financial data are the same for each of the users, i.e. cash flows; but

® the appraisal methods selected, i.e. internal rate of return (IRR) and net present value
(NPV), are different; and

@ the appraisal criteria employed by each user, i.e. higher IRR and NPV, are different.

In practice, the user is likely to use more than one appraisal method, as each has advantages
and disadvantages. However, we can see that, even when dealing with a single group of
apparently homogeneous users, the accountant has first to identify the information needs
of the particular user. Only then is the accountant able to identify the relevant financial
data and the appropriate report. It is the user’s needs that are predominant.

If the accountant’s view of the appropriate appraisal method or criterion differs from the
user’s view, the accountant might decide to report from both views. This approach affords
the opportunity to improve the user’s understanding and encourages good practice.

The diagrams can be combined (Figure 1.3) to illustrate the complete process. The user
is assumed to be Retail A I.td, a company that has directors who are profit maximisers.

The accountant is reactive when reporting to an internal user. We observe this charac-
teristic in the Norman example set out in section 1.8. Because the cash flows are identified
as relevant to the user, it is these flows that the accountant will record, measure and
appraise.

The accountant can also be proactive, by giving the user advice and guidance in areas
where the accountant has specific expertise, such as the appraisal method that is most appro-
priate to the circumstances.
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Figure 1.3 User/accountant interface where the user is a profit maximiser

General model

USER

Step |
Decision to

be made

Step 2

Information needed

Step 3
Seek relevant data

Specific
application for
Retail A Ltd
A PROFIT
MAXIMISER

Appraise which
project warrants
USER/
ACCOUNTANT
INTERFACE

capital investment

Project with the

highest IRR

Report of IRR
project

1.7 Agency costs’

General model

ACCOUNTANT

|dentify information

needed by the user

Measure

Prepare report

Provide report

Specific
application for
Retail A Ltd
ACCOUNTANT

User decision

criterion is IRR

Measure the project
cash flows

Prepare report of
highest IRR

Submit report of
project with highest
IRR per £ invested

The information in Figure 1.2 assumes that the directors have made their investment
decision based on the assumed preferences of the shareholders. However, in real life, the
directors might also be influenced by how the decision impinges on their own position.
If, for example, their remuneration is a fixed salary, they might select not the investment
with the highest IRR, but the one that maintains their security of employment. The result
might be suboptimal investment and financing decisions based on risk aversion and over-
retention. To the extent that the potential cash flows have been reduced, there will be
an agency cost to the shareholders. This agency cost is an opportunity cost — the amount
that was forgone because the decision making was suboptimal — and, as such, it will not be
recorded in the books of account and will not appear in the financial statements.

1.8 lllustration of periodic financial statements prepared under the cash
flow concept to disclose realised operating cash flows

In the above example of Retail A, B and C, the investment decision for the acquisition of

a warehouse was based on an appraisal of cash flows. This raises the question: ‘Why not
continue with the cash flow concept and report the financial changes that occur after the
investment has been undertaken using that same concept?’

To do this, the company will record the consequent cash flows through a number of

subsequent accounting periods; report the cash flows that occur in each financial period;
and produce a balance sheet at the end of each of the financial periods. For illustration
we follow this procedure in sections 1.8.1 and 1.8.2 for transactions entered into by
Mr S. Norman.
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1.8.1 Appraisal of the initial investment decision

Mr Norman is considering whether to start up a retail business by acquiring the lease of a
shop for five years at a cost of £80,000.

Our first task has been set out in Figure 1.1 above. It is to establish the information that
Mr Norman needs, so that we can decide what data need to be collected and measured. Let
us assume that, as a result of a discussion with Mr Norman, it has been ascertained that
he is a profit satisficer who is looking to achieve at least a 10% return, which represents
the time value of money. This indicates that, as illustrated in Figure 1.2:

o the relevant data to be measured are cash flows, represented by the outflow of cash
invested in the lease and the inflow of cash represented by the realised operating cash
flows;

@ the appropriate appraisal method is NPV; and

@ the appraisal criterion is a positive NPV using the discount rate of 10%.

Let us further assume that the cash to be invested in the lease is £80,000 and that the
realised operating cash flows over the life of the investment in the shop are as shown in
Figure 1.4. This shows that there is a forecast of £30,000 annually for five years and a final
receipt of £29,000 in 20X6 when he proposes to cease trading.

We already know that Mr Norman’s investment criterion is a positive NPV using a
discount factor of 10%. A calculation (Figure 1.5) shows that the investment easily satisfies
that criterion.

Figure 1.4 Forecast of realised operating cash flows

Annually years 20X [-20X5 Cash in year 20X6 after
shop closure
£ £

Receipts from

Customers 400,000 55,000

Payments to

Suppliers (342,150) (20,000)

Expense creditors (21,600) (3,000)

Rent (6,250) (3,000)

Total payments (370,000) (26,000)

Realised operating cash flows 30,000 29,000

Figure 1.5 NPV calculation using discount tables

£ £
Cost of lease (80,000)
£30,000 annually for 5 years (30,000 x 3.79) |13,700
£29,000 received in year 6 (29,000 x 0.564) 16,356
130,056

Positive net present value 50,056
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1.8.2 Preparation of periodic financial statements under the cash flow
concept

Having predicted the realised operating cash flows for the purpose of making the invest-
ment decision, we can assume that the owner of the business will wish to obtain feedback
to evaluate the correctness of the investment decision. He does this by reviewing the actual
results on a regular timely basis and comparing these with the predicted forecast. Actual
results should be reported quarterly, half-yearly or annually in the same format as used
when making the decision in Figure 1.4. The actual results provide management with the
feedback information required to audit the initial decision; it is a technique for achieving
accountability. However, frequently, companies do not provide a report of actual cash flows
to compare with the forecast cash flows, and fail to carry out an audit review.

In some cases, the transactions relating to the investment cannot be readily separated from
other transactions, and the information necessary for the audit review of the investment
cannot be made available. In other cases, the routine accounting procedures fail to collect
such cash flow information because the reporting systems have not been designed to
provide financial reports on a cash flow basis; rather, they have been designed to produce
reports prepared on an accrual basis.

What would financial reports look like if they were prepared on a
cash flow basis?

To illustrate cash flow period accounts, we will prepare half-yearly accounts for Mr Norman.
To facilitate a comparison with the forecast that underpinned the investment decision, we
will redraft the forecast annual statement on a half-yearly basis. The data for the first year
given in Figure 1.4 have therefore been redrafted to provide a forecast for the half-year to
30 June, as shown in Figure 1.6.

We assume that, having applied the net present value appraisal technique to the cash flows
and ascertained that the NPV was positive, Mr Norman proceeded to set up the business on
1 January 20X1. He introduced capital of £50,000, acquired a five-year lease for £80,000
and paid £6,250 in advance as rent to occupy the property to 31 December 20X 1. He has
decided to prepare financial statements at half-yearly intervals. The information given in
Figure 1.7 concerns his trading for the half-year to 30 June 20X1.

Mr Norman was naturally eager to determine whether the business was achieving its
forecast cash flows for the first six months of trading, so he produced the statement of

Figure 1.6 Forecast of realised operating cash flows

Half-year to 30 June 20X

£

Receipts from

Customers 165,000
Payments to

Suppliers (124,000)
Expense creditors (18,000)
Rent (6,250)
Total payments (148,250)

Realised operating cash flows 16,750
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Figure 1.7 Monthly sales, purchases and expenses for six months ended 30 June 20XI

Sales Cash Purchases Expenses
Month invoiced received invoiced Cash paid invoiced Cash paid
£ £ £ £ £ £
January 15,000 7,500 16,000 3,400 3,100
February 20,000 17,500 19,000 16,000 3,500 3,400
March 35,000 27,500 29,000 19,000 3,800 3,500
April 40,000 37,500 32,000 29,000 3,900 3,800
May 40,000 40,000 33,000 32,000 3,900 3,900
June 45,000 42,500 37,000 33,000 4,000 3,900
TOTAL 195,000 172,500 166,000 129,000 22,500 21,600

Note: The following items were included under the Expenses invoiced heading:
Expense creditors — amount

Wages — £3,100 per month paid in the month

Commission — 2% of sales invoiced payable one month in arrears

Figure 1.8 Monthly realised operating cash flows
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total
£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Receipts
Customers 7,500 17,500 27,500 37,500 40,000 42,500 172,500

Less payments

Suppliers 16,000 19,000 29,000 32,000 33,000 129,000
Expense

creditors 3,100 3,400 3,500 3,800 3,900 3,900 21,600
Rent 6,250 6,250
Realised (1,.850)  (1,900) 5,000 4,700 4,100 5,600 15,650

realised operating cash flows (Figure 1.8) from the information provided in Figure 1.7.
From this statement we can see that the business generated positive cash flows after the end
of February. These are, of course, only the cash flows relating to the trading transactions.

The information in the ‘Total’ row of Figure 1.7 can be extracted to provide the financial
statement for the six months ended 30 June 20X1, as shown in Figure 1.9.

The figure of £15,650 needs to be compared with the forecast cash flows used in the
investment appraisal. This is a form of auditing. It allows the assumptions made on the initial
investment decision to be confirmed. The forecast/actual comparison (based on the informa-
tion in Figures 1.6 and 1.9) is set out in Figure 1.10.

What are the characteristics of these data that make them relevant?

® The data are objective. There is no judgement involved in deciding the values to include
in the financial statement, as each value or amount represents a verifiable cash transaction
with a third party.
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Figure 1.9 Realised operating cash flows for the six months ended 30 June 20XI

£
Receipts from
Customers 172,500
Payments to
Suppliers (129,000)
Expense creditors (21,600)
Rent (6,250)
156,850
Realised operating cash flow 15,650
Figure 1.10 Forecast/actual comparison
Actual Forecast
£ £
Receipts from
Customers 172,500 165,000
Payment to
Suppliers (129,000) (124,000)
Expense creditors (21,600) (18,000)
Rent (6,250) (6,250)
Total payments (156,850) (148,250)
Realised operating cash flow | 5,650 | 6,750

® The data are consistent. The statement incorporates the same cash flows within the
periodic financial report of trading as the cash flows that were incorporated within the
initial capital investment report. This permits a logical comparison and confirmation that
the decision was realistic.

® The results have a confirmatory value by helping users confirm or correct their past
assessments.

® The results have a predictive value, in that they provide a basis for revising the initial
forecasts if necessary.”

® There is no requirement for accounting standards or disclosure of accounting policies
that are necessary to regulate accrual accounting practices, e.g. depreciation methods.

1.9 lllustration of preparation of statement of financial position

Although the information set out in Figure 1.10 permits us to compare and evaluate the
initial decision, it does not provide a sufficiently sound basis for the following:

® assessing the stewardship over the total cash funds that have been employed within the
business;

@ signalling to management whether its working capital policies are appropriate.
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Stewardship
To assess the stewardship over the total cash funds we need to:

(a) evaluate the effectiveness of the accounting system to make certain that all transactions
are recorded;

(b) extend the cash flow statement to take account of the capital cash flows; and

(c) prepare a statement of financial position or balance sheet as at 30 June 20X1.

The additional information for (b) and (c) above is set out in Figures 1.11 and 1.12
respectively.

The cash flow statement and statement of financial position, taken together, are a means
of assessing stewardship. They identify the movement of all cash and derive a net balance
figure. These statements are a normal feature of a sound system of internal control, but they
have not been made available to external users.

Working capital policies

By ‘working capital’ we mean the current assets and current liabilities of the business. In
addition to providing a means of making management accountable, cash flows are the raw
data required by financial managers when making decisions on the management of working
capital. One of the decisions would be to set the appropriate terms for credit policy. For
example, Figure 1.11 shows that the business will have a £14,350 overdraft at 30 June 20X1.

Figure I.11 Cash flow statement to calculate the net cash balance

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total
£ £ £ £ £ £ £
Operating cash ~ (1,850) (1,900) 5,000 4,700 4,100 5,600 15,650
New capital 50,000 50,000
Lease payment  (80,000) (80,000)

Cash balance  (31,850) (33.750) (28750) (24050) (19950) (14,350)  (14350)

Figure 1.12 Statement of financial position

Opening Closing
| Jan 20X 30 Jun 20X
£ £

Capital introduced 50,000 50,000
Net operating cash flow 15,650
50,000 65,650

Lease 80,000
Net cash balance 50,000 —14,350
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If this is not acceptable, management will review its working capital by reconsidering the
credit given to customers, the credit taken from suppliers, stock-holding levels and the timing
of capital cash inflows and outflows.

If, in the example, it were possible to obtain 45 days’ credit from suppliers, then the
creditors at 30 June would rise from £37,000 to a new total of £53,500. This increase in
trade credit of £16,500 means that half of the May purchases (£33,000/2) would not be
paid for until July, which would convert the overdraft of £14,350 into a positive balance of
£2,150. As a new business it might not be possible to obtain credit from all of the suppliers.
In that case, other steps would be considered, such as phasing the payment for the lease of
the warehouse or introducing more capital.

An interesting research report’ identified that for small firms survival and stability
were the main objectives rather than profit maximisation. This, in turn, meant that cash flow
indicators and managing cash flow were seen as crucial to survival. In addition, cash flow
information was perceived as important to external bodies such as banks in evaluating
performance.

1.10 Treatment of non-current assets in the cash flow model

The statement of financial position in Figure 1.12 does not take into account any unrealised
cash flows. Such flows are deemed to occur as a result of any rise or fall in the realisable value
of the lease. This could rise if, for example, the annual rent payable under the lease were to
be substantially lower than the rate payable under a new lease entered into on 30 June 20X1.
It could also fall with the passing of time, with six months having expired by 30 June 20X1.
We need to consider this further and examine the possible treatment of non-current assets
in the cash flow model.

Using the cash flow approach, we require an independent verification of the realisable
value of the lease at 30 June 20X1. If the lease has fallen in value, the difference between
the original outlay and the net realisable figure could be treated as a negative unrealised
operating cash flow.

For example, if the independent estimate was that the realisable value was £74,000, then
the statement of financial position would be prepared as in Figure 1.13. The fall of £6,000
in realisable value is an unrealised cash flow and, while it does not affect the calculation of
the net cash balance, it does affect the statement of financial position.

Figure 1.13 Statement of financial position as at 30 June 20XI
(assuming that there were unrealised operating cash flows)

£
Capital introduced 50,000
Net operating flow: realised 15,650
- unrealised (6,000)
59,650
Lease: net realisable value 74,000
Net cash balance —14,350

59,650
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The additional benefit of the statement of financial position, as revised, is that the owner
is able clearly to identify the following:
® the operating cash inflows of £15,650 that have been realised from the business operations;
o the operating cash outflow of £6,000 that has not been realised, but has arisen as a result
of investing in the lease;
@ the net cash balance of —£14,350;

@ the statement provides a stewardship-orientated report: that is, it is a means of making
the management accountable for the cash within its control.

I.11 What are the characteristics of these data that make them reliable?

1.11.2

1.11.3

1.11.4

We have already discussed some characteristics of cash flow reporting which indicate that
the data in the financial statements are relevant, e.g. their predictive and confirmatory
roles. We now introduce five more characteristics of cash flow statements which indicate
that the information is also reliable, i.e. free from bias.® These are prudence, neutrality,
completeness, faithful representation and substance over form.

Prudence characteristic

Revenue and profits are included in the cash flow statement only when they are realised.
Realisation is deemed to occur when cash is received. In our Norman example, the £172,500
cash received from debtors represents the revenue for the half-year ended 30 June 20X1.
This policy is described as prudent because it does not anticipate cash flows: cash flows
are recorded only when they actually occur and not when they are reasonably certain to
occur. This is one of the factors that distinguishes cash flow from accrual accounting.

Neutrality characteristic

Financial statements are not neutral if, by their selection or presentation of information,
they influence the making of a decision in order to achieve a predetermined result or
outcome. With cash flow accounting, the information is not subject to management
selection criteria.

Cash flow accounting avoids the tension that can arise between prudence and neutrality
because, whilst neutrality involves freedom from deliberate or systematic bias, prudence is
a potentially biased concept that seeks to ensure that, under conditions of uncertainty, gains
and assets are not overstated and losses and liabilities are not understated.’

Completeness characteristic

The cash flows can be verified for completeness provided there are adequate internal control
procedures in operation. In small and medium-sized enterprises there can be a weakness
if one person, typically the owner, has control over the accounting system and is able to
under-record cash receipts.

Faithful representation characteristic

Cash flows can be depended upon by users to represent faithfully what they purport to
represent provided, of course, that the completeness characteristic has been satisfied.
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I.11.5

Substance over form

Cash flow accounting does not necessarily possess this characteristic which requires that
transactions should be accounted for and presented in accordance with their substance and
economic reality and not merely their legal form.®

1.12 Reports to external users

1.12.1

1.12.2

1.12.3

Stewardship orientation

Cash flow accounting provides objective, consistent and prudent financial information about
a business’s transactions. It is stewardship-orientated and offers a means of achieving
accountability over cash resources and investment decisions.

Prediction orientation

External users are also interested in the ability of a company to pay dividends. It might be
thought that the past and current cash flows are the best indicators of future cash flows and
dividends. However, the cash flow might be misleading, in that a declining company might
sell non-current assets and have a better net cash position than a growing company that
buys non-current assets for future use. There is also no matching of cash inflows and out-
flows, in the sense that a benefit is matched with the sacrifice made to achieve it.

Consequently, it has been accepted accounting practice to view the income statement
prepared on the accrual accounting concept as a better predictor of future cash flows to an
investor than the cash flow statements that we have illustrated in this chapter.

However, the operating cash flows arising from trading and the cash flows arising from the
introduction of capital and the acquisition of non-current assets can become significant to
investors, e.g. they may threaten the company’s ability to survive or may indicate growth.

In the next chapter, we revise the preparation of the same three statements using the
accrual accounting model.

Going concern

The Financial Reporting Council suggests in its Consultation Paper Going Concern and
Financial Reporting’ that directors in assessing whether a company is a going concern may
prepare monthly cash flow forecasts and monthly budgets covering, as a minimum, the
period up to the next statement of financial position date. The forecasts would also be
supported by a detailed list of assumptions which underlie them.

Summary

To review our understanding of this chapter, we should ask ourselves the following
questions.

How useful is cash flow accounting for internal decision making?

Forecast cash flows are relevant for the appraisal of proposals for capital investment.
Actual cash flows are relevant for the confirmation of the decision for capital investment.
Cash flows are relevant for the management of working capital. Financial managers

might have a variety of mathematical models for the efficient use of working capital, but

cash flows are the raw data upon which they work.
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How useful is cash flow accounting for making management
accountable?

The cash flow statement is useful for confirming decisions and, together with the state-
ment of financial position, provides a stewardship report. L.ee states that ‘Cash flow
accounting appears to satisfy the need to supply owners and others with stewardship-
orientated information as well as with decision-orientated information.’'’

Lee further states that:

By reducing judgements in this type of financial report, management can report

factually on its stewardship function, whilst at the same time disclosing data of use
in the decision-making process. In other words, cash flow reporting eliminates the
somewhat artificial segregation of stewardship and decision-making information."!

This is exactly what we saw in our Norman example — the same realised operating cash
flow information was used for both the investment decision and financial reporting.
However, for stewardship purposes it was necessary to extend the cash flow to include
all cash movements and to extend the statement of financial position to include the
unrealised cash flows.

How useful is cash flow accounting for reporting to external users?

Cash flow information is relevant:

@ as a basis for making internal management decisions in relation to both non-current
assets and working capital;

o for stewardship and accountability; and

@ for assessing whether a business is a going concern.

Cash flow information is reliable and a fair representation, being:
® objective;

® consistent;

® prudent; and

@ neutral.

However, professional accounting practice requires reports to external users to be on
an accrual accounting basis. This is because the accrual accounting profit figure is a
better predictor for investors of the future cash flows likely to arise from the dividends
paid to them by the business, and of any capital gain on disposal of their investment. It
could also be argued that cash flows may not be a fair representation of the commercial
substance of transactions, e.g. if a business allowed a year’s credit to all its customers
there would be no income recorded.

REVIEW QUESTIONS

Explain why it is the user who should determine the information that the accountant collects,
measures and reports, rather than the accountant who is the expert in financial information.

2 Yuji ljiri rejects decision usefulness as the main purpose of accounting and puts in its place

accountability. ljiri sees the accounting relationship as a tripartite one, involving the accountor, the
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accountee, and the accountant ... the decision useful approach is heavily biased in favour of the

accountee ... with little concern for the accountor ... in the central position ljiri would put fairness.''?

Discuss ljiri's view in the context of cash flow accounting,

3 Discuss the extent to which you consider that accounts for a small businessperson who is carrying
on business as a sole trader should be prepared on a cash flow basis.

4 Explain why your decision in question 3 might be different if the business entity were a medium-
sized limited company.

5 ‘Realised operating cash flows are only of use for internal management purposes and are
irrelevant to investors.” Discuss.

6 ‘While accountants may be free from bias in the measurement of economic information, they
cannot be unbiased in identifying the economic information that they consider to be relevant.’
Discuss.

7 Explain the effect on the statement of financial position in Figure I.13 if the non-current asset
consisted of expenditure on industry-specific machine tools rather than a lease.

8 'ltis essential that the information in financial statements has a prudent characteristic if the financial
statements are to be objective.” Discuss.

EXERCISES

An extract from the solution is provided on the Companion Website (www.pearsoned.co.uk/elliott-
elliott) for exercises marked with an asterisk (*).

Question |

Jane Parker is going to set up a new business on | January 20X1. She estimates that her first six months
in business will be as follows:
(i) She will put £150,000 into a bank account for the firm on | January 20X1.
(i) On | January 20XI| she will buy machinery £30,000, motor vehicles £24,000 and premises
£75,000, paying for them immediately.

(i) All purchases will be effected on credit. She will buy £30,000 goods on | January and will pay
for these in February. Other purchases will be: rest of January £48,000; February, March, April,
May and June £60,000 each month. Other than the £30,000 worth bought in January, all other
purchases will be paid for two months after purchase.

(iv) Sales (all on credit) will be £60,000 for January and £75,000 for each month after. Customers
will pay for the goods in the fourth month after purchase, i.e. £60,000 is received in May.

(v) She will make drawings of £1,200 per month.
(vi) Wages and salaries will be £2,250 per month and will be paid on the last day of each month.
(vii) General expenses will be £750 per month, payable in the month following that in which they

are incurred.

(viii) Rates will be paid as follows: for the three months to 31 March 20X1 by cheque on 28 February
20X1; for the 12 months ended 31 March 20X2 by cheque on 31 July 20X1. Rates are £4,800
per annum.



Accounting and reporting on a cash flow basis * 19

(ix) She will introduce new capital of £82,500 on | April 20X1.

(X) Insurance covering the |2 months of 20X1 of £2,100 will be paid for by cheque on 30 June 20XI1.
(xi) All receipts and payments will be by cheque.

(xii) Inventory on 30 June 20X1 will be £30,000.
(xiii) The net realisable value of the vehicles is £19,200, machinery £27,000 and premises £75,000.
Required: Cash flow accounting

(i) Draft a cash budget (includes bank) month by month for the period January to June, showing

clearly the amount of bank balance or overdraft at the end of each month.
(ii) Draft an operating cash flow statement for the six-month period.

(i) Assuming that Jane Parker sought your advice as to whether she should actually set up in
business, state what further information you would require.

Question 2

Mr Norman set up a new business on | January 20X8. He invested £50,000 in the new business on
that date. The following information is available.

I Gross profit was 20% of sales. Monthly sales were as follows:

Month Sales £ Month Sales £
January 15,000 May 40,000
February 20,000 June 45,000
March 35,000 July 50,000
April 40,000

50% of sales were for cash. Credit customers (50% of sales) pay in month following sale.
The supplier allowed one month's credit.

Monthly payments were made for rent and rates £2,200 and wages £600.

i A W N

On | January 20X8 the following payments were made: £80,000 for a five-year lease of business
premises and £3,500 for insurances on the premises for the year. The realisable value of the lease
was estimated to be £76,000 on 30 June 20X8 and £70,000 on 3| December 20X8.

6 Staff sales commission of 2% of sales was paid in the month following the sale.

Required:

(a) A purchases budget for each of the first six months.

(b) A cash flow statement for the first six months.

(c) A statement of operating cash flows and financial position as at 30 June 20X8.
(d) Write a brief letter to the bank supporting a request for an overdraft.

Question 3

Fred and Sally own a profitable business that deals in windsurfing equipment. They are the only UK
agents to import ‘Dryline’ sails from Germany, and in addition to this they sell a variety of boards and
miscellaneous equipment that they buy from other dealers in the UK.

Two years ago they diversified into custom-made boards built to individual customer requirements,
each of which was supplied with a ‘Dryline’ sail. In order to build the boards, they have had to take
over larger premises, which consist of a shop front with a workshop at the rear, and employ two
members of staff to help.
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Demand is seasonal and Fred and Sally find that there is insufficient work during the winter months
to pay rent for the increased accommodation and also wages to the extra two members of staff. The
four of them could spend October to March in Lanzarote as windsurf instructors and close the UK
operation down in this period. If they did, however, they would lose the ‘Dryline’ agency, as Dryline
insists on a retail outlet in the UK for 12 months of the year. Dryline sails constitute 40% of their
turnover and carry a 50% mark-up.

Trading has been static and the pattern is expected to continue as follows for | April 20X5 to
31 March 20Xé:

Sales of boards and equipment (non-custom-built) with Dryline agency: | April-30 September
£120,000; of this 30% was paid by credit card, which involved one month’s delay in receiving cash
and 4% deduction at source.

Sixty custom-built boards | April-30 September £60,000; of this 15% of the sales price was for
the sail (a ‘Dryline’ 6 m? sail costs Fred and Sally £100; the average price for a sail of the same size
and quality is £150 (cost to them)).

Purchasers of custom-built boards take an average of two months to pay and none pays by credit
card.

Sales | October—31 March of boards and equipment (non-custom-built) £12,000, 30% by credit
card as above.

Six custom-built boards were sold for a total of £6,000 and customers took an unexplainable
average of three months to pay in the winter.

Purchases were made monthly and paid for two months in arrears.

The average mark-up on goods for resale excluding ‘Dryline’ sails was 25%. If they lose the agency,
they expect that they will continue to sell the same number of sails, but at their average mark-up
of 25%. The variable material cost of each custom-made board (excluding the sail) was £500.

Other costs were:
Wages to employees £6,000 p.a. each (gross including insurance).
Rent for premises £6,000 p.a. (six-monthly renewable lease) payable on the first day of
each month.
Other miscellaneous costs:
I April-30 September £3,000
| October—31 March  £900.

Bank balance on | April was £100.

Salary earnable over whole period in Lanzarote:
Fred and Sally £1,500 each + living accommodation
Two employees £1,500 each + living accommodation

All costs and income accruing evenly over time.

Required:

(i) Prepare a cash budget for | April 20X5 to 31 March 20X6 assuming that:
(a) Fred and Sally close the business in the winter months.
(b) They stay open all year.

(if) What additional information would you require before you advised Fred and Sally of the best
course of action to take?



Accounting and reporting on a cash flow basis ¢ 21

References

(SR N

N=JNc BN =)

10

11
12

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, IASC, 1989, para. 10.
Ibid., para. 35.

G. Whittred and 1. Zimmer, Financial Accounting: Incentive Effects and Economic Consequences,
Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1992, p. 27.

TIASC, op. cit., para. 27.

R. Jarvis, J. Kitching, J. Curran and G. Lightfoot, The Financial Management of Small Firms: An
Alternative Perspective, ACCA Research Report No. 49, 1996.

IASC, op. cit., para. 31.

Ibid., para. 36.

Ibid., para. 35.

Going Concern and Financial Reporting — Proposals V. Revise the Guidance for Directors of Listed
Companies. FRC, 2008, para. 29.

T.A. Lee, Income and Value Measurement: Theory and Practice (3rd edition), Van Nostrand Reinhold
(UK), 1985, p. 173.

1bid.

D. Solomons, Making Accounting Policy, Oxford University Press, 1986, p. 79.



CHAPTER 2

Accounting and reporting on an accrual
accounting basis

2.1

Introduction

The main purpose of this chapter is to extend cash flow accounting by adjusting for the
effect of transactions that have not been completed by the end of an accounting period.

Objectives

By the end of this chapter, you should be able to:

@ explain the historical cost convention and accrual concept;

@ adjust cash receipts and payments in accordance with IAS |8 Revenue;

@ account for the amount of non-current assets used during the accounting period;
® prepare a statement of income and a statement of financial position;

@ reconcile cash flow accounting and accrual accounting data.

2.1.1 Objective of financial statements

The International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) has stated that the objective of
financial statements is to provide information about the financial position, performance and
capability of an enterprise that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic decisions.'

Common information needs for decision making

The TASC recognises that all the information needs of all users cannot be met by financial
statements, but it takes the view that some needs are common to all users: in particular, they
have some interest in the financial position, performance and adaptability of the enterprise
as a whole. This leaves open the question of which user is the primary target; the IASC
states that, as investors are providers of risk capital, financial statements that meet their
needs would also meet the needs of other users.?

Stewardship role of financial statements

In addition to assisting in making economic decisions, financial statements also show the
results of the stewardship of management: that is, the accountability of management for the
resources entrusted to it. The IASC view” is that users who assess the stewardship do so in
order to make economic decisions, e.g. whether to hold or sell shares in a particular company
or change the management.
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Decision makers need to assess ability to generate cash

The TASC considers that economic decisions also require an evaluation of an enterprise’s
ability to generate cash, and of the timing and certainty of its generation.” It believes that users
are better able to make the evaluation if they are provided with information that focuses on
the financial position, performance and cash flow of an enterprise.

2.1.2 Financial information to evaluate the ability to generate cash differs
from financial information on actual cash flows

The IASC approach differs from the cash flow model used in Chapter 1, in that, in addition to
the cash flows and statement of financial position, it includes within its definition of perform-
ance a reference to profit. It states that this information is required to assess changes in the
economic resources that the enterprise is likely to control in the future. This is useful in pre-
dicting the capacity of the enterprise to generate cash flows from its existing resource base.’

2.1.3 Statements making up the financial statements published for
external users

The IASB stated in 2005° that the financial statements published by a company for external
users should consist of the following:

@ a statement of financial position;

® a statement of comprehensive income;

@ a statement of changes in equity;

@ a cash flow statement;’

@ notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
In 2007 the IASB stated® that a complete set of financial statements should comprise:

® a statement of financial position as at the end of the period,;
® a statement of comprehensive income for the period;

@ a statement of changes in equity for the period;

@ a statement of cash flows for the period,

@ notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Entities may, however, use other titles in their financial statements. This means that for a
period both the pre-2007 and post-2007 titles will be used.

In this chapter we consider two of the conventions under which the statement of com-
prehensive income and statement of financial position are prepared: the historical cost
convention and the accrual accounting concept.

2.2 Historical cost convention

The historical cost convention results in an appropriate measure of the economic resource
that has been withdrawn or replaced.

Under it, transactions are reported at the £ amount recorded at the date the transaction
occurred. Financial statements produced under this convention provide a basis for determin-
ing the outcome of agency agreements with reasonable certainty and predictability because
the data are relatively objective.’
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By this we mean that various parties who deal with the enterprise, such as lenders, will
know that the figures produced in any financial statements are objective and not manipulated
by subjective judgements made by the directors. A typical example occurs when a lender
attaches a covenant to a loan that the enterprise shall not exceed a specified level of gearing.

At an operational level, revenue and expense in the statement of comprehensive income are
stated at the £ amount that appears on the invoices. This amount is objective and verifiable.
Because of this, the historical cost convention has strengths for stewardship purposes, but
inflation-adjusted figures may well be more appropriate for decision usefulness.

2.3 Accrual basis of accounting

2.3.1

The accrual basis dictates when transactions with third parties should be recognised and, in
particular, determines the accounting periods in which they should be incorporated into the
financial statements. Under this concept the cash receipts from customers and payments to
creditors are replaced by revenue and expenses respectively.

Revenue and expenses are derived by adjusting the realised operating cash flows to take
account of business trading activity that has occurred during the accounting period, but has
not been converted into cash receipts or payments by the end of the period.

Accrual accounting is a better indicator than cash flow accounting of
ability to generate cash

The accounting profession generally supports the view expressed by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in the USA that accrual accounting provides a better
indication of an enterprise’s present and continuing ability to generate favourable cash flows
than information limited to the financial aspects of cash receipts and payments.'’

The TASC supported the FASB view in 1989 when it stated that financial statements pre-
pared on an accrual basis inform users not only of past transactions involving the payment and
receipt of cash, but also of obligations to pay cash in the future and of resources that represent
cash to be received in the future, and that they provide the type of information about past
transactions and other events that is most useful in making economic decisions."!

Having briefly considered why accrual accounting is more useful than cash flow accounting,
we will briefly revise the preparation of financial statements under the accrual accounting
convention.

2.4 Mechanics of accrual accounting — adjusting cash receipts and
payments

We use the cash flows set out in Figure 1.7. The derivation of the revenue and expenses for
this example is set out in Figures 2.1 and 2.2. We assume that the enterprise has incomplete

Figure 2.1 Derivation of revenue

£
Cash received 172,500
Invoices not paid (= Sales invoiced — Cash received) 22,500

Revenue = Total invoiced 195,000
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Figure 2.2 Derivation of expense

Materials Services

£ £
Cash paid 129,000 21,600
Invoices not paid 37,000 900
Expense = Total invoiced 166,000 22,500

records, so that the revenue is arrived at by keeping a record of unpaid invoices and adding
these to the cash receipts. Clearly, if the invoices are not adequately controlled, there will be
no assurance that the £22,500 figure is correct. This is a relatively straightforward process
at a mechanistic level. The uncertainty is not how to adjust the cash flow figures, but when
to adjust them. This decision requires managers to make subjective judgements. We now
look briefly at the nature of such judgements.

2.5 Subjective judgements required in accrual accounting - adjusting cash
receipts in accordance with IAS 18

In Figure 2.1 we assumed that revenue was derived simply by adding unpaid invoices to the
cash receipts. In practice, however, this is influenced by the commercial facts underlying
the transactions. For example, if the company is a milk producer, the point at which it
should report the milk production as revenue will be influenced by the existence of a supply
contract. If there is a contract with a buyer, the revenue might be recognised immediately
on production.

So that financial statements are comparable, the IASC!? has set out revenue recognition
criteria in TAS 18 Revenue in an attempt to identify when performance was sufficient to
warrant inclusion in the revenue for the period. It stated that:

In a transaction involving the sale of goods, performance should be regarded as being
achieved when the following conditions have been fulfilled:

(a) the seller of the goods has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards
of ownership, in that all significant acts have been completed and the seller retains
no continuing managerial involvement in, or effective control of, the goods
transferred to a degree usually associated with ownership; and

(b) no significant uncertainty exists regarding:
(1) the amount to be received for the goods;

(i1) the costs incurred or to be incurred in producing or purchasing the goods.

The criteria are simple in their intention, but difficult in their application. For instance, at
what exact point in the sales cycle is there no significant uncertainty? The enterprise has to
decide on the critical event that can support an assumption that revenue may be recognised.

To assist with these decisions, the standard provided an appendix with a number of
examples. Figure 2.3 gives examples of critical events.

The amount of detail in the accounting policy for turnover will depend on the range
of activities within a business and events occurring during the financial year. For example,
the relevant section of the 2008 Annual Report of the Chloride Group,'® which tests and
assembles electronic products, simply reads:
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Revenue

Revenue represents the amounts, excluding VAT and similar sales-related taxes,
receivable by the Company for goods and services supplied to outside customers in

the ordinary course of business. Revenue is recognised when persuasive evidence of an
arrangement with a customer exists, products have been delivered or services have been
rendered and collectability is reasonably assured.

The revenue recognition policy for Wolseley plc in its 2008 Annual Report!* is more
specific with reference to sales returns as follows:

Revenue
Revenue is the amount receivable for the provision of goods and services falling within
the Group’s ordinary activities, excluding intra-group sales, estimated and actual sales
returns, trade and early settlement discounts, value added tax and similar sales taxes.
Revenue from the provision of goods is recognised when the risks and rewards of
ownership of goods have been transferred to the customer. The risks and rewards of
ownership of goods are deemed to have been transferred when the goods are shipped to,
or are picked up by, the customer.
Revenue from services, other than those that arise from construction service contracts
(see below), are recognised when the service provided to the customer has been completed.
Revenue from the provision of goods and all services is only recognised when the
amounts to be recognised are fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably
assured.

Figure 2.3 Extracts from IAS 18 Revenue illustrating critical events

Transaction Critical event

Services

Servicing fees included in the When the selling price of a product includes an

price of the product' identifiable amount for subsequent servicing for, say, a

warranty period, it will normally be appropriate to defer
the relevant portion of the selling price and to recognise

it as revenue over the appropriate period.

Sales of goods

Shipment made giving the buyer Recognition of revenue in such circumstances will

right of return'® depend on the substance of the agreement. In the case of
normal retail sales (e.g. chain store offering money back if
not satisfied) it may be appropriate to recognise the sale
but to make a suitable provision for returns based on
previous experience. In other cases the substance of the
agreement may amount to a sale on consignment, in
which case the revenue should not be recognised until

the goods are sold to a third party.

2.5.1 Inflating revenue

Total revenue can have an impact on the value of a company’s shares and a number of com-
panies attempted to raise their market capitalisation by artificially inflating total revenue. In
the US the FASB reacted by issuing guidance'” on the treatment of sales incentives such as
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slotting fees (these are payments to a retailer to obtain space on shelves or in catalogues) and
cooperative advertising programmes. The result of the guidance was that the fees must be
deducted from the revenue rather than expensed — the effect is that that revenue is reduced,
gross profit is reduced, expenses are reduced but net profit remains unchanged.

The issue of the FASB guidance clarified the position for many companies of what had
been a grey area and a number of companies restated their turnover.

For example, the Novartis Group disclosed in its 2002 Annual Report that it had changed
its treatment of discounts allowed to customers:

Sales are recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets have been transferred to a third party and are reported net of sales taxes and
rebates. . . . Sales have been restated for all periods presented to treat certain sales
incentives and discounts to retailers as sales deductions instead of marketing and
distribution expenses.

Note that this does not affect the bottom line but does have an impact on the sales and
gross profit figures.

2.6 Subjective judgements required in accrual accounting - adjusting cash
payments in accordance with the matching principle

We have seen that the enterprise needs to decide when to recognise the revenue. It then
needs to decide when to include an item as an expense in the statement of comprehensive
income. This decision is based on an application of the matching principle.

The matching principle means that financial statements must include costs related to the
achievement of the reported revenue. These include the internal transfers required to ensure
that reductions in the assets held by a business are recorded at the same time as the revenues.

The expense might be more or less than the cash paid. For example, in the Norman
example, £37,000 was invoiced but not paid on materials, and £900 on services; £3,125
was prepaid on rent for the six months after June. The cash flow information therefore needs
to be adjusted as in Figure 2.4.

Figure 2.4 Statement of comprehensive income for the six months ended 30 June 20XI

Operating ADJUST Business
cash flow cash flow activity
£ £ £
Revenue from business activity [72,500 22,500 [95,000
Less: Matching expenses
Transactions for materials 129,000 37,000 166,000
Transactions for services 21,600 900 22,500
Transaction with landlord 6,250 (3,125) 3,125
OPERATING CASH FLOW from
business activity 15,650
Transactions NOT converted to cash
or relating to a subsequent period (12,275)

PROFIT from business activity 3,375
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2.7 Mechanics of accrual accounting — the statement of financial position

The statement of financial position or statement of financial position, as set out in Figure 1.12,
needs to be amended following the change from cash flow to accrual accounting. It needs to
include the £ amounts that have arisen from trading but have not been converted to cash,
and the £ amounts of cash that have been received or paid but relate to a subsequent period.
The adjusted statement of financial position is set out in Figure 2.5.

Figure 2.5 Statement of financial position adjusted to an accrual basis

£

Capital 50,000
Net operating cash flow: realised 15,650
Net operating cash flow: to be realised next period (12,275)

53,375
Lease 80,000
Net cash balance (refer to Figure |.11) (14,350)
Net amount of activities not converted to cash or relating to
subsequent periods (12,275)

53,375

2.8 Reformatting the statement of financial position

The item ‘net amount of activities not converted to cash or relating to subsequent periods’
is the net debtor/creditor balance. If we wished, the statement of financial position could
be reframed into the customary statement of financial position format, where items are
classified as assets or liabilities. The TASC defines assets and liabilities in its Framework:'

® An asset is a resource:

— controlled by the enterprise;

— as a result of past events;

— from which future economic benefits are expected to flow.
@ A liability is a present obligation:

— arising from past events;

— the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow of resources.
The reframed statement set out in Figure 2.6 is in accordance with these definitions.
Note that the same amount of £3,375 results from calculating the difference in the opening
and closing net assets in the statements of financial position as from calculating the residual
amount in the statement of comprehensive income. When the amount derived from both
approaches is the same, the statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive
income are said to articulate. The statement of comprehensive income provides the detailed

explanation for the difference in the net assets and the amount is the same because the same
concepts have been applied to both statements.
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Figure 2.6 Reframed statement as at 30 June

Reframed
£ £

CAPITAL 50,000 50,000
Net operating cash flow: realised 15,650
Net operating cash flow: to be realised (12,275)
NET INCOME _ 3375

53,375 53,375
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 80,000 80,000
NET CURRENT ASSETS
Net amount of activities not converted to cash (12,275)
CURRENT ASSETS
Trade receivables 22,500
Other receivables: Prepaid rent 3,125
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables (37,000)
Other payables: service suppliers (900)
Net cash balance (14,350) (14,350)

53,375 53,375

2.9 Accounting for the sacrifice of non-current assets

2.9.1

The statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position have both been
prepared using verifiable data that have arisen from transactions with third parties outside
the business. However, in order to determine the full sacrifice of economic resources that a
business has made to achieve its revenue, it is necessary also to take account of the use made
of the non-current assets during the period in which the revenue arose.

In the Norman example, the non-current asset is the lease. The extent of the sacrifice is
a matter of judgement by the management. This is influenced by the prudence principle,
which regulates the matching principle. The prudence principle determines the extent to
which transactions that have already been included in the accounting system should be
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Treatment of non-current assets in accrual accounting

Applying the matching principle, it is necessary to estimate how much of the initial outlay
should be assumed to have been revenue expenditure, i.e. used in achieving the revenue
of the accounting period. The provisions of IAS 16 on depreciation assist by defining
depreciation and stating the duty of allocation, as follows:

Depreciation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its
useful life."

Depreciable amount is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost in the
financial statements, less its residual value.?’



30 ° Income and asset value measurement systems

2.9.2

293

The depreciation method used should reflect the pattern in which the asset’s economic
benefits are consumed by the enterprise.’!

This sounds a rather complex requirement. It is therefore surprising, when one looks at
the financial statements of a multinational company such as in the 2005 Annual Report of
BP plc, to find that depreciation on tangible assets other than mineral production is simply
provided on a straight-line basis of an equal amount each year, calculated so as to write off
the cost by equal instalments. In the UK, this treatment is recognised in FRS 15 which
states that where the pattern of consumption of an asset’s economic benefits is uncertain,
a straight-line method of depreciation is usually adopted.”” The reason is that, in accrual
accounting, the depreciation charged to the statement of comprehensive income is a measure
of the amount of the economic benefits that have been consumed, rather than a measure of
the fall in realisable value. In estimating the amount of service potential expired, a business
is following the going concern assumption.

Going concern assumption

The going concern assumption is that the business enterprise will continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. This assumption introduces a constraint on the prudence
concept by allowing the account balances to be reported on a depreciated cost basis rather
than on a net realisable value basis.

It is more relevant to use the loss of service potential than the change in realisable value
because there is no intention to cease trading and to sell the fixed assets at the end of the
accounting period.

In our Norman example, the procedure would be to assume that, in the case of the lease,
the economic resource that has been consumed can be measured by the amortisation that
has occurred due to the effluxion of time. The time covered by the accounts is half a year:
this means that one-tenth of the lease has expired during the half-year. As a result, £8,000
is treated as revenue expenditure in the half-year to 30 June.

This additional revenue expenditure reduces the income in the income account and the
asset figure in the statement of financial position. The effects are incorporated into the two
statements in Figures 2.7 and 2.8. The asset amounts and the income figure in the statement
of financial position are also affected by the exhaustion of part of the non-current assets, as
set out in Figure 2.8.

It is current accounting practice to apply the same concepts to determining the entries in
both the statement of comprehensive income and the statement of financial position. The
amortisation charged in the statement of comprehensive income at £8,000 is the same as the
amount deducted from the non-current assets in the statement of financial position. As a
result, the two statements articulate: the statement of comprehensive income explains the
reason for the reduction of £4,625 in the net assets.

How decision-useful to the management is the income figure that has been
derived after deducting a depreciation charge?

The loss of £4,625 indicates that the distribution of any amount would further deplete the
financial capital of £50,000 which was invested in the company by Mr Norman on setting
up the business. This is referred to as capital maintenance; the particular capital main-
tenance concept that has been applied is the financial capital maintenance concept.

Financial capital maintenance concept

The financial capital maintenance concept recognises a profit only after the original
monetary investment has been maintained. This means that, as long as the cost of the assets



Accounting and reporting on an accrual accounting basis * 31

Figure 2.7 Statement of comprehensive income for the six months ending 30 June

Operating cash flow Adjust Business activity
CURRENT cash flow CURRENT
period period
£ £ £

Revenue from business activity 172,500 22,500 195,000
Less
Expenditure to support this activity:
Transactions with suppliers 129,000 37,000 | 66,000
Transactions with service providers 21,600 900 22,500
Transaction with landlord 6,250 (3,125) 3,125
OPERATING CASH FLOW from activity 15,650
TRANSACTIONS NOT CONVERTED
TO CASH (12,275)
INCOME from business activity 3,375
Allocation of non-current asset cost to this period 8,000
INCOME (4,625)

Figure 2.8 Statement of financial position as at 30 June

Transaction cash flows  Notional flows Reported
£ £ £
CAPITAL 50,000 50,000
Net operating cash flow: realised 15,650
Net operating cash flow: to be realised (12,275)
Net income before depreciation 3,375
AMORTISATION (8,000)
Net income after amortisation (4,625)
53,375 45,375

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 80,000 80,000
Less amortisation (8,000)
Net book value 72,000
NET CURRENT ASSETS
Net amount not converted to cash (12,275)
CURRENT ASSETS
Trade receivables 22,500
Other receivables — prepaid rent 3,125
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables (37,000)
Other payables: service suppliers (900)
Net cash balance (14,350) (14,350)

53,375 45,375
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representing the initial monetary investment is recovered against the profit, by way of a
depreciation charge, the initial monetary investment is maintained.

The concept has been described in the IASC Framework for the Presentation and Preparation
of Financial Statements:

a profit is earned only if the financial or money amount of the net assets at the end of
the period exceeds the financial or money amount of the net assets at the beginning
of the period, after excluding any distributions to, and contributions from, owners
during the period. Financial capital maintenance can be measured in either nominal
monetary units [as we are doing in this chapter] or in units of constant purchasing
power [as we will be doing in Chapter 4].%

2.9.4 Summary of views on accrual accounting

Standard setters:

The profit (loss) is considered to be a guide when assessing the amount, timing and
uncertainty of prospective cash flows as represented by future income amounts. The IASC,
FASB in the USA and ASB in the UK clearly state that the accrual accounting concept is
more useful in predicting future cash flows than cash flow accounting.

Academic researchers:

Academic research provides conflicting views. In 1986, research carried out in the USA
indicated that the FASB view was inconsistent with its findings and that cash flow informa-
tion was a better predictor of future operating cash flows;** research carried out in the UK,
however, indicated that accrual accounting using the historical cost convention was ‘a more

relevant basis for decision making than cash flow measures’.?®

2.10 Reconciliation of cash flow and accrual accounting data

2.10.1

The accounting profession attempted to provide users of financial statements with the
benefits of both types of data, by requiring a cash flow statement to be prepared as well as
the statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position prepared on an
accrual basis.

From the statement of comprehensive income prepared on an accrual basis (as in Figure 2.7)
an investor is able to obtain an indication of a business’s present ability to generate
favourable cash flows; from the statement of financial position prepared on an accrual basis
(as in Figure 2.8) an investor is able to obtain an indication of a business’s continuing ability
to generate favourable cash flows; from the cash flow statement (as in Figure 2.9) an investor
is able to reconcile the income figure with the change in net cash balance.

Figure 2.9 reconciles the information produced in Chapter 1 under the cash flow basis with
the information produced under the accrual basis. It could be expanded to provide informa-
tion more clearly, as in Figure 2.10. Here we are using the information from Figures 1.9 and
1.12, but within a third statement rather than the statement of comprehensive income and
statement of financial position.

Published cash flow statement

IAS 7 Statement of cash flows* specifies the standard headings under which cash flows
should be classified. They are:
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Figure 2.9 Reconciliation of income figure with net cash balance

£

Income per income statement (4,625)
Add: unrealisable cash outflow 8,000

3,375
Add: unrealised operating cash flows 12,275
Operating cash flow 15,650
Other sources:
Capital 50,000
Total cash available 65,650
Applications
Lease (80,000)
Net cash balance 14,350

Figure 2.10 Statement of cash flows netting amounts that have not been converted
to cash

£ £

Sales 195,000
Trade receivables (22,500) 172,500
Purchases | 66,000
Trade payables 37,000 (129,000)
Expenses 22,500
Other payables 900 (21,600)
Rent 3,125
Other receivables: Prepaid rent 3,125 (6,250)
Net cash inflow from

operating activities 15,650
Cash flows from investing activities
Lease (80,000)
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of capital 50,000
Decrease in cash (14,350)

@ cash flows from operating activities;

o cash flows from investing activities;

@ cash flows from financing activities;

® net increase in cash and cash equivalents.

To comply with TAS 7, the cash flows from Figure 2.10 would be set out as in Figure 2.11.

TAS 7 is mentioned at this stage only to illustrate that cash flows can be reconciled to the
accrual accounting data. There is further discussion of IAS 7 in Chapter 26.
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Figure 2.11 Cash flow statement in accordance with IAS 7 Statement of cash flows

£

Net cash inflow from operating activities 15,650
Investing activities
Payment to acquire lease (80,000)
Net cash outflow before financing (64,350)
Financing
Issue of capital 50,000
Decrease in cash (14,350)
Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash
inflow from operating activities £
Operating profit/loss (4,625)
Amortisation charges 8,000
Increase in trade receivables (22,500)
Increase in prepayments (3,125)
Increase in trade payables 37,000
Increase in accruals 900

15,650

Summary

Accrual accounting replaces cash receipts and payments with revenue and expenses
by adjusting the cash figures to take account of trading activity which has not been
converted into cash.

Accrual accounting is preferred to cash accounting by the standard setters on the
assumption that accrual-based financial statements give investors a better means of
predicting future cash flows.

The financial statements are transaction based, applying the historical cost accounting
concept which attempts to minimise the need for personal judgements and estimates in
arriving at the figures in the statements.

Under accrual-based accounting the expenses incurred are matched with the revenue
earned. In the case of non-current assets, a further accounting concept has been adopted,
the going concern concept, which allows an entity to allocate the cost of non-current
assets over their estimated useful life.

REVIEW QUESTIONS

The Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements identified seven user
groups: investors, employees, lenders, suppliers and other trade creditors, customers, government
and the public.

Discuss which of the financial statements illustrated in Chapters | and 2 would be most useful to
each of these seven groups if they could only receive one statement.
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‘Accrual accounting is preferable to cash flow accounting because the information is more relevant
to all users of financial statements.” Discuss.

‘Cash flow accounting and accrual accounting information are both required by a potential share-
holder.” Discuss.

‘Information contained in a statement of comprehensive income and a statement of financial
position prepared under accrual accounting concepts is factual and objective.” Discuss.

The asset measurement basis applied in accrual accounting can lead to financial difficulties when
assets are due for replacement.’ Discuss.

‘Accountants preparing financial statements in the UK do not require a standard such as IAS 18
Revenue.’ Discuss.

Explain the revenue recognition principle and discuss the effect of alternative treatments on the
reported results of a company.

The annual financial statements of companies are used by various parties for a wide variety
of purposes. For each of the seven different ‘user groups’, explain their presumed interest with

reference to the performance of the company and its financial position.

EXERCISES

An extract from the solution is provided on the Companion Website (www.pearsoned.co.uk/elliott-

elliott) for exercises marked with an asterisk (*).

Question |

Jane Parker is going to set up a new business in Bruges on | January 20X1. She estimates that her first
six months in business will be as follows:

0
(i)

(ii)

(iv)
W)
(Vi)
(vii)
(vil)

(ix)

She will put €150,000 into the firm on | January 20XI.
On | January 20X1 she will buy machinery €30,000, motor vehicles €24,000 and premises
€75,000, paying for them immediately.

All purchases will be effected on credit. She will buy €30,000 goods on | January and she will
pay for these in February. Other purchases will be: rest of January €48,000; February, March,
April, May and June €60,000 each month. Other than the €30,000 worth bought in January, all
other purchases will be paid for two months after purchase, i.e. €48,000 in March.

Sales (all on credit) will be €60,000 for January and €75,000 for each month after that. Customers
will pay for goods in the third month after purchase, i.e. €60,000 in April.

Inventory on 30 June 20X will be €30,000.
Wages and salaries will be €2,250 per month and will be paid on the last day of each month.

General expenses will be €750 per month, payable in the month following that in which they
are incurred.

She will introduce new capital of €75,000 on | June 20XI. This will be paid into the business
bank account immediately.

Insurance covering the |2 months of 20X of €26,400 will be paid for by cheque on 30 June
20X1.
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(x) Local taxes will be paid as follows: for the three months to 31 March 20X| by cheque on
28 February 20X2, delay due to an oversight by Parker; for the 12 months ended 31 March
20X2 by cheque on 31 July 20X1. Local taxes are €8,000 per annum.

(xi) She will make drawings of €1,500 per month by cheque.
(xii) All receipts and payments are by cheque.

(xiii) Depreciate motor vehicles by 20% per annum and machinery by 10% per annum, using the
straight-line depreciation method.

(xiv) She has been informed by her bank manager that he is prepared to offer an overdraft facility of
€30,000 for the first year.

Required:

() Draft a cash budget (for the firm) month by month for the period January to June, showing
clearly the amount of bank balance at the end of each month.

(b) Draft the projected statement of comprehensive income for the first six months’ trading, and
a statement of financial position as at 30 June 20XI.

(c) Advise Jane on the alternative courses of action that could be taken to cover any cash deficiency
that exceeds the agreed overdraft limit.

Question 2

Mr Norman is going to set up a new business in Singapore on | January 20X8. He will invest $ 150,000
in the business on that date and has made the following estimates and policy decisions:

I Forecast sales (in units) made at a selling price of $50 per unit are:

Month Sales units Month  Sales units
January 1,650 May 4,400
February 2,200 June 4,950
March 3,850 July 5,500
April 4,400

2 50% of sales are for cash. Credit terms are payment in the month following sale.
3 The units cost $40 each and the supplier is allowed one month’s credit.

4 Itis intended to hold inventory at the end of each month sufficient to cover 25% of the following
month's sales.

5 Administration $8,000 and wages $17,000 are paid monthly as they arise.

6 On | January 20X8, the following payments will be made: $80,000 for a five-year lease of the
business premises and $350 for insurance for the year.

7 Staff sales commission of 2% of sales will be paid in the month following sale.

Required:

(@) A purchases budget for each of the first six months.

(b) A cash flow forecast for the first six months.

(c) A budgeted statement of comprehensive income for the first six months’ trading and a budgeted
statement of financial position as at 30 June 20X8.

(d) Advise Mr Norman on the investment of any excess cash.
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Question 3

The Piano Warehouse Company Limited was established in the UK on | January 20X7 for the
purpose of making pianos. Jeremy Holmes, the managing director, had 20 years' experience in the
manufacture of pianos and was an acknowledged technical expert in the field. He had invested his life's
savings of £15,000 in the company, and his decision to launch the company reflected his desire for
complete independence.

Nevertheless, his commitment to the company represented a considerable financial gamble. He
paid close attention to the management of its financial affairs and ensured that a careful record of all
transactions was kept.

The company’s activities during the year ended 3| December 20X7 were as follows:

(i) Four pianos had been built and sold for a total sum of £8,000. Holmes calculated their cost of
manufacture as follows:

Materials £2,000
Labour £2,800
Overhead costs £800

(i) Two pianos were 50% completed at 3| December 20X7. Madrigal Music Limited had agreed to
buy them for a total of £4,500 and had made a down-payment amounting to 20% of the agreed
sale price. Holmes estimated their costs of manufacture to 31 December 20X7 as follows:

Materials £900
Labour £800
Overhead costs £100

(i) Two pianos had been rebuilt and sold for a total of £3,000. Holmes paid £1,800 for them at
an auction and had spent a further £400 on rebuilding them. The sale of these two pianos was
made under a hire purchase agreement under which the Piano Warehouse Company received
£1,000 on delivery and two payments over the next two years plus interest of 15% on the
outstanding balance.

At the end of the company's first financial year, Jeremy Holmes was anxious that the company’s
net profit to 31 December 20X7 should be represented in the most accurate manner. There
appeared to be several alternative bases on which the transactions for the year could be inter-
preted. It was clear to him that, in simple terms, the net profit for the year should be calculated
by deducting expenses from revenues. As far as cash sales were concerned he saw no difficulty.
But how should the pianos that were 50% completed be treated? Should the value of the work
done up to 31 December 20X7 be included in the profit of that year, or should it be carried
forward to the next year, when the work would be completed and the pianos sold? As regards
the pianos sold under the hire purchase agreement, should profit be taken in 20X7 or spread
over the years in which a proportion of the revenue is received?

Required:

(a) Prepare a statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 20X7 on a
basis that would reflect conventional accounting principles.

(b) Examine the problems implied in the timing of the recognition of revenues, illustrating your
answer by the facts in the case of the Piano Warehouse.

(c) Discuss the significant accounting conventions that would be relevant to profit determination
in this case, and discuss their limitations in this context.

(d) Advise the company on alternative accounting treatments that could increase the profit for
the year.
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Question 4

The following is an extract from the Financial Reporting Review Panel website (www.frrp.org.uk)
relating to the Wiggins Group showing the restated financial results.

Year
1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000
Turnover As published 64 6.9 19.9 17.8 26.7 49.8
(£m) Adjustments (1.5) (2.6) (15.6) (6.7) (21.6) (42.5)
Restated 4.9 4.3 4.3 1.1 5.1 7.3
Profit/(loss) As published 0.7 1.0 4.9 5.1 [2.1 25.1
before tax Adjustments (1.3) (1.9) (10.2) (8.5) (17.2) (35.0)
(£m) Restated 0.6) (0.9) (5.3) (34 G.h (99)
Basic EPS As published 0.14 0.20 0.66 0.64 .21 2.87
(pence) Adjustments (0.26) (0.38) (1.67) (1.14) (ron (4.06)
Restated (0.12) (0.18) (r.o1) (0.50) (0.70) (1.19)
Net assets As published 10.2 1.4 17.5 375 522 458
(£m) Adjustments (1.3) (32) (12.0) (19.8) (33.8) (354)
Restated 89 8.2 55 177 18.4 104

Revenue recognition
The 1999 accounts contained an accounting policy for turnover in the following terms:

Commercial property sales are recognised at the date of exchange of contract, providing the
Group is reasonably assured of the receipt of the sale proceeds.

The FRRP accepted that this wording was similar to that used by many other companies and was not
on the face of it objectionable. In reviewing the company's 1999 accounts the FRRP noted that the
turnover and profits recognised under this policy were not reflected in similar inflows of cash; indeed,
operating cash flow was negative and the amount receivable within debtors of £46m represented
more than the previous two years’ turnover of £44m. As a result, the FRRP enquired into the detailed
application of the policy.

Required:
Refer to the website and discuss the significance of the revenue recognition criteria on the published
results.
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CHAPTER 3

Income and asset value measurement:
an economist’s approach

3.1

Introduction

The main purpose of this chapter is to explain the need for income measurement, to
compare the methods of measurement adopted by the accountant with those adopted by
the economist, and to consider how both are being applied within the international financial
reporting framework.

Objectives

By the end of this chapter, you should be able to:

explain the role and objective of income measurement;
explain the accountant’s view of income, capital and value;
critically comment on the accountant’s measure;

explain the economist’s view of income, capital and value;
critically comment on the economist’s measure;

°
°
°
°
°
@ define various capital maintenance systems.

3.2 Role and objective of income measurement

Although accountancy has played a part in business reporting for centuries, it is only since
the Companies Act 1929 that financial reporting has become income orientated. Prior to that
Act, a statement of comprehensive income was of minor importance. It was the statement of
financial position that mattered, providing a list of capital, assets and liabilities that revealed
the financial soundness and solvency of the business.

According to some commentators,' this scenario may be attributed to the sources of
capital funding. Until the late 1920s, as in present-day Germany, external capital finance in
the UK was mainly in the hands of bankers, other lenders and trade creditors. As the main
users of published financial statements, they focused on the company’s ability to pay trade
creditors and the interest on loans, and to meet the scheduled dates of loan repayment: they
were interested in the short-term liquidity and longer-term solvency of the entity.

Thus the statement of financial position was the prime document of interest. Perhaps
in recognition of this, the English statement of financial position, until recent times, tended
to show liabilities on the left-hand side, thus making them the first part of the statement of
financial position read.
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The gradual evolution of a sophisticated investment market, embracing a range of
financial institutions, together with the growth in the number of individual investors, caused
a reorientation of priorities. Investor protection and investor decision-making needs started
to dominate the financial reporting scene, and the revenue statement replaced the statement
of financial position as the sovereign reporting document.

Consequently, attention became fixed on the statement of comprehensive income and on
concepts of accounting for profit. Moreover, investor protection assumed a new meaning.
It changed from simply protecting the capital that had been invested to protecting the
income information used by investors when making an investment decision.

However, the sight of major companies experiencing severe liquidity problems over the past
decade has revived interest in the statement of financial position; while its light is perhaps
not of the same intensity as that of the profit and loss account, it cannot be said to be totally
subordinate to its accompanying statement of income.

The main objectives of income measurement are to provide:

@ a means of control in a micro- and macroeconomic sense;
@ a means of prediction;

@ a basis for taxation.

We consider each of these below.

Income as a means of control

Assessment of stewardship performance

Managers are the stewards appointed by shareholders. Income, in the sense of net income
or net profit, is the crystallisation of their accountability. Maximisation of income is seen
as a major aim of the entrepreneurial entity, but the capacity of the business to pursue this
aim may be subject to political and social constraints in the case of large public monopolies,
and private semi-monopolies such as British Telecommunications plc.

Maximisation of net income is reflected in the earnings per share (EPS) figure, which
is shown on the face of the published profit and loss account. The importance of this figure
to the shareholders is evidenced by contracts that tie directors’ remuneration to growth in
EPS. A rising EPS may result in an increased salary or bonus for directors and upward
movement in the market price of the underlying security. The effect on the market price
is indicated by another extremely important statistic, which is influenced by the statement
of comprehensive income: namely, the price/earnings (PE) ratio. The PE ratio reveals the
numerical relationship between the share’s current market price and the last reported EPS.

Actual performance versus predicted performance

This comparison enables the management and the investing public to use the lessons of
the past to improve future performance. The public, as shareholders, may initiate a change
in the company directorate if circumstances necessitate it. This may be one reason why
management is generally loath to give a clear, quantified estimate of projected results — such
an estimate is a potential measure of efficiency. The comparison of actual with projected
results identifies apparent underachievement.

The macroeconomic concept

Good government is, of necessity, involved in managing the macroeconomic scene and as
such is a user of the income measure. State policies need to be formulated concerning the
allocation of economic resources and the regulation of firms and industries, as illustrated by
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3.2.2

3.23

the measures taken by Oftel and Ofwat to regulate the size of earnings by British Telecom
and the water companies.

Income as a means of prediction

Dividend and retention policy

The payment of a dividend, its scale and that of any residual income after such dividend has
been paid are influenced by the profit generated for the financial year. Other influences are
also active, including the availability of cash resources within the entity, the opportunities
for further internal investment, the dividend policies of capital-competing entities with com-
parable shares, the contemporary cost of capital and the current tempo of the capital market.

However, some question the soundness of using the profit generated for the year when
making a decision to invest in an enterprise. Their view is that such a practice misunder-
stands the nature of income data, and that the appropriate information is the prospective
cash flows. They regard the use of income figures from past periods as defective because,
even if the future accrual accounting income could be forecast accurately, ‘it is no more than
an imperfect surrogate for future cash flows’.2

The counter-argument is that there is considerable resistance by both managers and
accountants to the publication of future operating flows and dividend payments.® This
means that, in the absence of relevant information, an investor needs to rely on a surrogate.
The question then arises: which is the best surrogate?

In the short term, the best surrogate is the information that is currently available, i.e.
income measured according to the accrual concept. In the longer term, management will be
pressed by the shareholders to provide the actual forecast data on operating cash flows and
dividend distribution, or to improve the surrogate information.

Suggestions for improving the surrogate information have included the provision of cash
earnings per share. More fundamentally, Revsine has suggested that ideal information for
investors would indicate the economic value of the business (and its assets) based on expected
future cash flows. However, the Revsine suggestion itself requires information on future
cash flows that it is not possible to obtain at this time.* Instead, he considered the use of
replacement cost as a surrogate for the economic value of the business, and we return to this
later in the chapter.

Future performance

While history is not a faultless indicator of future events and their financial results, it does
have a role to play in assessing the level of future income. In this context, historic income is
of assistance to existing investors, prospective investors and management.

Identifying maintainable profit by the analysis of matched costs

Subject to the requirement of enforced disclosure via the Companies Act 2006, as supple-
mented by various accounting standards, the measurement of income discloses items of
income and expenditure necessarily of interest in assessing stewardship success and future
prospects. In this respect, exceptional items, extraordinary items and other itemised costs
and turnover are essential information.

Basis for taxation

The contemporary taxation philosophy, in spite of criticism from some economists, uses
income measurement to measure the taxable capacity of a business entity.
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However, the determination of income by the Inland Revenue is necessarily influenced
by socioeconomic fiscal factors, among others, and thus accounting profit is subject to adjust-
ment in order to achieve taxable profit. As a tax base, it has been continually eroded as the
difference between accounting income and taxable income has grown.’

The Inland Revenue in the UK has tended to disallow expenses that are particularly sus-
ceptible to management judgement. For example, a uniform capital allowance is substituted
for the subjective depreciation charge that is made by management, and certain provisions
that appear as a charge in the statement of comprehensive income are not accepted as an
expense for tax purposes until the loss crystallises, e.g. a charge to increase the doubtful debts
provision may not be allowed until the debt is recognised as bad.

3.3 Accountant’s view of income, capital and value

3.3.1

Variations between accountants and economists in measuring income, capital and value
are caused by their different views of these measures. In this section, we introduce the
accountant’s view and, in the next, the economist’s, in order to reconcile variations in methods
of measurement.

The accountant’s view

Income is an important part of accounting theory and practice, although until 1970, when
a formal system of propagating standard accounting practice throughout the accountancy
profession began, it received little attention in accountancy literature. The characteristics of
measurement were basic and few, and tended to be of an intuitive, traditional nature, rather
than being spelled out precisely and given mandatory status within the profession.

Accounting tradition of historical cost

The statement of comprehensive income is based on the actual costs of business trans-
actions, i.e. the costs incurred in the currency and at the price levels pertaining at the time
of the transactions.

Accounting income is said to be historical income, i.e. it is an ex post measure because it
takes place after the event. The traditional statement of comprehensive income is historical
in two senses: because it concerns a past period, and because it utilises historical cost, being
the cost of the transactions on which it is based. It follows that the statement of financial
position, being based on the residuals of transactions not yet dealt with in the profit and loss
account, is also based on historical cost.

In practice, certain amendments may be made to historical cost in both the statement
of comprehensive income and statement of financial position, but historical cost still pre-
dominates in both statements. It is justified on a number of counts which, in principle, guard
against the manipulation of data.

The main characteristics of historical cost accounting are as follows:

® Objectivity. It is a predominantly objective system, although it does exhibit aspects
of subjectivity. Its nature is generally understood and it is invariably supported by inde-
pendent documentary evidence, e.g. an invoice, statement, cheque, cheque counterfoil,
receipt or voucher.

® Factual. As a basis of fact (with exceptions such as when amended in furtherance of
revaluation), it is verifiable and to that extent is beyond dispute.
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@ Profit or income concept. Profit as a concept is generally well understood in a capital
market economy, even if its precise measurement may be problematic. It constitutes the
difference between revenue and expenditure or, in the economic sense, between opening
and closing net assets.

Unfortunately, historical cost is not without its weaknesses. It is not always objective, owing
to alternative definitions of revenue and costs and the need for estimates.

We saw in the preceding chapter that revenue could be determined according to a choice of
criteria. There is also a choice of criteria for defining costs. For example, although inventories
are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value, the cost will differ depending upon
the definition adopted, e.g. first-in-first-out, last-in-first-out or standard cost.

Estimation is needed in the case of inventory valuation, assessing possible bad debts,
accruing expenses, providing for depreciation and determining the profit attributable to
long-term contracts. So, although it is transaction based, there are aspects of historical cost
reporting that do not result from an independently verifiable business transaction. This means
that profit is not always a unique figure.

Assets are often subjected to revaluation. In an economy of changing price levels, the
historical cost system has been compromised by a perceived need to restate the carrying
value of those assets that comprise a large proportion of a company’s capital employed; e.g.
land and buildings. This practice is controversial, not least because it is said to imply that a
statement of financial position is a list of assets at market valuation, rather than a statement
of unamortised costs not yet charged against revenue.

However, despite conventional accountancy income being partly the result of subjectivity,
it is largely the product of the historical cost concept. A typical accounting policy specified
in the published accounts of companies now reads as follows:

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost conventions as modified
by the revaluation of certain fixed assets.

Nature of accounting income

Accounting income is defined in terms of the business entity. It is the excess of revenue
from sales over direct and allocated indirect costs incurred in the achievement of such sales.
Its measure results in a net figure. It is the numerical result of the matching and accruals
concepts discussed in the preceding chapter.

We saw in the preceding chapter that accounting income is transaction based and there-
fore can be said to be factual, in as much as the revenue and costs have been realised and will
be reflected in cash inflow and outflow, although not necessarily within the financial year.

We also saw that, under accrual accounting, the sales for a financial period are offset by the
expenses incurred in generating such sales. Objectivity is a prime characteristic of accrual
accounting, but the information cannot be entirely objective because of the need to break up
the ongoing performance of the business entity into calendar periods or financial years for
purposes of accountability reporting. The allocation of expenses between periods requires a
prudent estimate of some costs, e.g. the provision for depreciation and bad debts attributable
to each period.

Accounting income is presented in the form of the conventional profit and loss account
or statement of comprehensive income. This statement of comprehensive income, in being
based on actual transactions, is concerned with a past-defined period of time. Thus account-
ing profit is said to be historic income, i.e. an ex post measure because it is after the event.

Nature of accounting capital

The business enterprise requires the use of non-monetary assets, e.g. buildings, plant and
machinery, office equipment, motor vehicles, stock of raw materials and work-in-progress.
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Such assets are not consumed in any one accounting period, but give service over a number
of periods; therefore, the unconsumed portions of each asset are carried forward from period
to period and appear in the statement of financial position. This document itemises the
unused asset balances at the date of the financial year-end. In addition to listing unexpired
costs of non-monetary assets, the statement of financial position also displays monetary
assets such as debtor and cash balances, together with monetary liabilities, i.e. moneys owing
to trade creditors, other creditors and lenders. Funds supplied by shareholders and retained
income following the distribution of dividend are also shown. Retained profits are usually
added to shareholders’ capital, resulting in what is known as shareholders’ funds. These
represent the company’s equity capital.

The net assets of the firm, i.e. that fund of unconsumed assets which exceeds moneys attri-
butable to creditors and lenders, constitutes the company’s net capital, which is the same
as its equity capital. Thus the profit and loss account of a financial period can be seen as a
linking statement between that period’s opening and closing statement of financial positions:
in other words, income may be linked with opening and closing capital. This linking may be
expressed by formula, as follows:

Y071 = NAl - NAO + D071

where Y|_; = income for the period of time ¢, to #;; NA, = net assets of the entity at point of
time #;; NA; = net assets of the entity at point of time #;; D,_; = dividends or distribution
during period #,_;.

Less formally: Y = income of financial year; NA, = net assets as shown in the statement
of financial position at beginning of financial year; NA; = net assets as shown in the state-
ment of financial position at end of financial year; D,_; = dividends paid and proposed for
the financial year. We can illustrate this as follows:

Income Y|,_; for the financial year #,_; as compiled by the accountant was £1,200
Dividend D,_; for the financial year #,_; was £450

Net assets VA at the beginning of the financial year were £6,000

Net assets NA; at the end of the financial year were £6,750.

The income account can be linked with opening and closing statements of financial
position, namely:

Y0_1 = NAI - NAO + DO—I
= £6,750 — £6,000 + £450
= £1,200 = YO—I

Thus Y has been computed by using the opening and closing capitals for the period where
capital equals net assets.

In practice, however, the accountant would compute income Y by compiling a profit and
loss account. So, of what use is this formula? For reasons to be discussed later, the economist
finds use for the formula when it is amended to take account of what we call present values.
Computed after the end of a financial year, it is the ex post measure of income.

Nature of traditional accounting value

As the values of assets still in service at the end of a financial period have been based on
the unconsumed costs of such assets, they are the by-product of compiling the income
financial statement. These values have been fixed not by direct measurement, but simply
by an assessment of costs consumed in the process of generating period turnover. We can
say, then, that the statement of financial position figure of net assets is a residual valuation
after measuring income.
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However, it is not a value in the sense of worth or market value as a buying price or selling
price; it is merely a value of unconsumed costs of assets. This is an important point that
will be encountered again later.

3.4 Critical comment on the accountant’s measure

3.4.1

3.4.2

Virtues of the accountant’s measure

As with the economist’s, the accountant’s measure is not without its virtues. These are
invariably aspects of the historical cost concept, such as objectivity, being transaction based
and being generally understood.

Faults of the accountant’s measure

Principles of historical cost and profit realisation

The historical cost and profit realisation concepts are firmly entrenched in the transaction
basis of accountancy. However, in practice, the two concepts are not free of adjustments.
Because of such adjustments, some commentators argue that the system produces a hetero-
geneous mix of values and realised income items.*

For example, in the case of asset values, certain assets such as land and buildings may have
a carrying figure in the statement of financial position based on a revaluation to market value,
while other assets such as motor vehicles may still be based on a balance of unallocated
cost. The statement of financial position thus pretends on the one hand to be a list of result-
ant costs pending allocation over future periods, and on the other hand to be a statement of
current values.

Prudence concept

This concept introduces caution into the recognition of assets and income for financial report-
ing purposes. The cardinal rule is that income should not be recorded or recognised within
the system until it is realised, but unrealised losses should be recognised immediately.

However, not all unrealised profits are excluded. For example, practice is that attribut-
able profit on long-term contracts still in progress at the financial year-end may be taken into
account. As with fixed assets, rules are not applied uniformly.

Unrealised capital profits

Capital profits are ignored as income until they are realised, when, in the accounting period
of sale, they are acknowledged by the reporting system. However, all the profit is recognised
in one financial period when, in truth, the surplus was generated over successive periods
by gradual growth, albeit unrealised until disposal of the asset. Thus a portion of what are
now realised profits applies to prior periods. Not all of this profit should be attributed to the
period of sale.

Going concern

The going concern concept is fundamental to accountancy and operates on the assumption
that the business entity has an indefinite life. It is used to justify basing the periodic reports
of asset values on carrying forward figures that represent unallocated costs, i.e. to justify the
non-recognition of the realisable or disposal values of non-monetary assets and, in so doing,
the associated unrealised profits/losses. Although the life of an entity is deemed indefinite,



Income and asset value measurement: an economist’s approach * 47

there is uncertainty, and accountants are reluctant to predict the future. When they are
matching costs with revenue for the current accounting period, they follow the prudence
concept of reasonable certainty.

In the long term, economic income and accountancy income are reconciled. The unrealised
profits of the economic measure are eventually realised and, at that point, they will be recognised
by the accountant’s measure. In the short term, however, they give different results for each
period.

What if we cannot assume that a business will continue as a going concern?

There may be circumstances, as in the case of Gretag Imaging Holdings AG which in its
2001 Annual Report referred to falling sales and losses, which require a judgement to be
made as to the validity of the going concern assumption. The assumption can be supported
by showing that active steps are being taken such as restructuring, cost reduction and
raising additional share capital which will ensure the survival of the business. If survival is
not possible, the business will prepare its accounts using net realisable values, which are
discussed in the next chapter.

The key considerations for shareholders are whether there will be sufficient profits to
support dividend distributions and whether they will be able to continue to dispose of
their shares in the open market. The key consideration for the directors is whether there
will be sufficient cash to allow the business to trade profitably. We can see all these con-
siderations being addressed in the following extract from the 2003 Annual Report of Royal
Numico N.V.

Going concern

The negative shareholders’ equity . . . results from the impairment of intangible fixed
assets . . . Management remains confident that it will be able to sufficiently strengthen
shareholders’ equity and return to positive shareholders’ equity through retained profits
... and that the negative shareholders’ equity will not have an impact on the group’s
operations, access to funding nor its stock exchange listing.

Based on the cash flow generating capacity of the company and its current financing
structure, management is convinced that the company will continue as a going concern.
Therefore the valuation principles for assets and liabilities applied are consistent with
the prior year and are based on going concern.

3.5 Economist’s view of income, capital and value

3.5.1

Let us now consider the economist’s tradition of present value and the nature of economic
income.

Economist’s tradition of present value

Present value is a technique used in valuing a future money flow, or in measuring the money
value of an existing capital stock in terms of a predicted cash flow ad infinitum.

Present value (PV) constitutes the nature of economic capital and, indirectly, economic
income. Given the choice of receiving £100 now or £100 in one year’s time, the rational
person will opt to receive £100 now. This behaviour exhibits an intuitive appreciation of
the fact that £100 today is worth more than £100 one year hence. Thus the mind has dis-
counted the value of the future sum: £100 today is worth £100; but compared with today,
i.e. compared with present value, a similar sum receivable in twelve months’ time is worth
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less than £100. How much less is a matter of subjective evaluation, but compensation for
the time element may be found by reference to interest: a person forgoing the spending of
£1 today and spending it one year later may earn interest of, say, 10% per annum in com-
pensation for the sacrifice undergone by deferring consumption.

So L1 today invested at 10% p.a. will be worth £1.10 one year later, £1.21 two years
later, £1.331 three years later, and so on. This is the concept of compound interest. It may
be calculated by the formula (1 + )", where 1 = the sum invested; » = the rate of interest;
n = the number of periods of investment (in our case years). So for £1 invested at 10% p.a.
for four years:

(147" =(1+0.10)*
=(1.1)*
= £1.4641

and for five years:

=(1.1)°
= £1.6105, and so on.

Notice how the future value increases because of the compound interest element — it
varies over time — whereas the investment of £1 remains constant. So, conversely, the sum
of £1.10 received at the end of year one has a PV of £1, as does £1.21 received at the end
of year two and £1.331 at the end of year three.

It has been found convenient to construct tables to ease the task of calculating present
values. These show the cash flow, i.e. the future values, at a constant figure of £1 and allow
the investment to vary. So:

CF
(I+7)"

where CF = anticipated cash flow; r = the discount (i.e. interest) rate. So the PV of a cash
flow of £1 receivable at the end of one year at 10% p.a. is:

(1€1r)1 = £0.9091

and £1 at the end of two years:

A1 5 = £0.8264

(1+7)
and so on over successive years. The appropriate present values for years three, four and five
would be £0.7513, £0.6830, £0.6209 respectively.

£0.9091 invested today at 10% p.a. will produce £1 at the end of one year. The PV of £1
receivable at the end of two years is £0.8264 and so on.

Tables presenting data in this way are called ‘PV tables’, while the earlier method compiles
tables usually referred to as ‘compound interest tables’. Both types of table are compound
interest tables; only the presentation of the data has changed.

To illustrate the ease of computation using PV tables, we can compute the PV of £6,152
receivable at the end of year five, given a discount rate of 10%, as being £6,152 X £0.6209
= £3,820. Thus £3,820 will total £6,152 in five years given an interest rate of 10% p.a. So
the PV of that cash flow of £6,152 is £3,820, because £3,820 would generate interest of
£2,332 (i.e. 6,152 — 3,820) as compensation for losing use of the principal sum for five years.
Future flows must be discounted to take cognisance of the time element separating cash
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flows. Only then are we able to compare like with like by reducing all future flows to the
comparable loss of present value.

This concept of PV has a variety of applications in accountancy and will be encountered
in many different areas requiring financial measurement, comparison and decision. It ori-
ginated as an economist’s device within the context of economic income and economic capital
models, but in accountancy it assists in the making of valid comparisons and decisions. For
example, two machines may each generate an income of £10,000 over three years. However,
timing of the cash flows may vary between the machines. This is illustrated in Figure 3.1.

Figure 3.1 Dissimilar cash flows

Cash flows
Machine A Machine B Receivable end of year
£ £
1,000 5,000 |
2,000 4,000
7000 1,000 3
10000 10000

If we simply compare the profit-generating capacity of the machines over the three-year
span, each produces a total profit of £10,000. But if we pay regard to the time element of the
money flows, the machines are not so equal.

However, the technique has its faults. Future money flows are invariably the subject of
estimation and thus the actual flow experienced may show variations from forecast. Also,
the element of interest, which is crucial to the calculation of present values, is subjective.
It may, for instance, be taken as the average prevailing rate operating within the economy or
a rate peculiar to the firm and the element of risk involved in the particular decision. In this
chapter we are concerned only with PV as a tool of the economist in evaluating economic
income and economic capital.

Nature of economic income

Economics is concerned with the economy in general, raising questions such as: how does
it function? how is wealth created? how is income generated? why is income generated?
The economy as a whole is activated by income generation. The individual is motivated to
generate income because of a need to satisfy personal wants by consuming goods and services.
Thus the economist becomes concerned with the individual consumer’s psychological state
of personal enjoyment and satisfaction. This creates a need to treat the economy as a
behavioural entity.

The behavioural aspect forms a substantial part of micro- and macroeconomic thought,
emanating particularly from the microeconomic. We can say that the economist’s version of
income measurement is microeconomics orientated in contrast to the accountant’s business
entity orientation.

The origination of the economic measure of income commenced with Irving Fisher in 1930.
He saw income in terms of consumption, and consumption in terms of individual percep-
tion of personal enjoyment and satisfaction. His difficulty in formulating a standard measure
of this personal psychological concept of income was overcome by equating this individual
experience with the consumption of goods and services and assuming that the cost of such
goods and services formed the measure.
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Thus, he reasoned, consumption (C) equals income (Y); so ¥ = C. He excluded savings
from income because savings were not consumed. There was no satisfaction derived from
savings; enjoyment necessitated consumption, he argued. Money was worthless until spent;
so growth of capital was ignored, but reductions in capital became part of income because
such reductions had to be spent.

In Fisher’s model, capital was a stock of wealth existing at a point in time, and as a stock
it generated income. Eventually, he reconciled the value of capital with the value of income
by employing the concept of present value. He assessed the PV of a future flow of income by
discounting future flows using the discounted cash flow (DCF) technique. Fisher’s model
adopted the prevailing average market rate of interest as the discount factor.

Economists since Fisher have introduced savings as part of income. Sir John Hicks played
a major role in this area.® He introduced the idea that income was the maximum consump-
tion enjoyed by the individual without reducing the individual’s capital stock, i.e. the amount
a person could consume during a period of time that still left him or her with the same value of
capital stock at the end of the period as at the beginning. Hicks also used the DCF technique
in the valuation of capital.

If capital increases, the increase constitutes savings and grants the opportunity of consump-
tion. The formula illustrating this was given in section 3.3, i.e. Y,_; = NA; — NAy+ D,_;.

However, in the Hicksian model, NA; — NA,, given as £6,750 and £6,000 respectively in
the aforementioned example, would have been discounted to achieve present values.

The same formula may be expressed in different forms. The economist is likely to show
itas Y — C+ (K, — K;) where C = consumption, having been substituted for dividend, and
K, and K, have been substituted for NA, and NA, respectively.

Hicks’s income model is often spoken of as an ex ante model because it is usually used for
the measurement of expected income in advance of the time period concerned. Of course,
because it specifically introduces the present value concept, present values replace the state-
ment of financial position values of net assets adopted by the accountant. Measuring income
before the event enables the individual to estimate the level of consumption that may
be achieved without depleting capital stock. Before-the-event computations of income
necessitate predictions of future cash flows.

Suppose that an individual proprietor of a business anticipated that his investment in
the enterprise would generate earnings over the next four years as specified in Figure 3.2.
Furthermore, such earnings would be retained by the business for the financing of new
equipment with a view to increasing potential output.

We will assume that the expected rate of interest on capital employed in the business is
8% p.a.

The economic value of the business at K, (i.e. at the beginning of year one) will be
based on the discounted cash flow of the future four years. Figure 3.3 shows that K|, is
£106,853, calculated as the present value of anticipated earnings of £131,000 spread over a
four-year term.

Figure 3.2 Business cash flows for four years

Years Cash inflows
£
| 26,000
2 29,000
3 35,000
4 41,000
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Figure 3.3 Economic value at K,

(@) (b) ©
Y Cash fi bcF= — il
ear asl ow = (/+r)” (a) ” (b)
£ £
|
K 26,000 ——  =09259 24,073
‘ (1.08)!
|
K 29,000 —— =08573 24,862
’ (1.08)?
|
Ks 35,000 = 07938 27783
(1.08)°
|
K 41,000 —— =07350 30,135
) (1.08)¢
131,000 106,853

Figure 3.4 Economic value at K|

(a) (b) (©
Ye Cash fl DCF= —. il
ear ash flow = (1 @ % ®)
£ £
Ki 26,000 1.0000 26,000
|
K> 29,000 —— = 09259 26,851
(1+n)!
Ks 35,000 = 0.8573 30,006
(142
[
Ks 41,000 = 0.7938 32,546
(I+r)?
131,000 | 15403

The economic value of the business at K (i.e. at the end of year one, which is the same
as saying the beginning of year two) is calculated in Figure 3.4. This shows that K is
£115,403 calculated as the present value of anticipated earnings of £131,000 spread over a
four-year term.

From this information we are able to calculate Y for the period Y7, as in Figure 3.5. Note
that C (consumption) is nil because, in this exercise, dividends representing consumption
have not been payable for Y. In other words, income Y] is entirely in the form of projected
capital growth, i.e. savings.

By year-end K, earnings of £26,000 will have been received; in projecting the capital
at K, such earnings will have been reinvested and at the beginning of year K, will have a
PV of £26,000. These earnings will no longer represent a predicted sum because they will
have been realised and therefore will no longer be subjected to discounting.
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Figure 3.5 Calculation of Y for the period Y,

Y = C+ (Ki—Ko)

Y = 0+ (115403 — 106,853)
= 0+ 8550
= £8550

The income of £8,550 represents an anticipated return of 8% p.a. on the economic capital
at K, of £106,853 (8% of £106,853 is £8,548, the difference of £2 between this figure and
the figure calculated above being caused by rounding).

As long as the expectations of future cash flows and the chosen interest rate do not change,
then Y, will equal 8% of £106,853.

What will the anticipated income for the year Y, amount to?

Applying the principle explained above, the anticipated income for the year Y, will equal
8% of the capital at the end of K; amounting to £115403 = £9,233. This is proved in
Figure 3.6, which shows that K, is £124,636 calculated as the present value of anticipated
earnings of £131,000 spread over a four-year term.

From this information we are able to calculate Y for the period Y, as in Figure 3.7. Note
that capital value attributable to the end of the year K, is being assessed at the beginning
of K,. This means that the £26,000 due at the end of year K; will have been received and
reinvested, earning interest of 8% p.a. Thus by the end of year K, it will be worth £28,080.
The sum of £29,000 will be realised at the end of year K, so its present value at that time
will be £29,000.

If the anticipated future cash flows change, the expected capital value at the successive
points in time will also change. Accordingly, the actual value of capital may vary from that
forecast by the ex ante model.

Figure 3.6 Economic value at K,

(@) (b) (©
Year Cash flow DCF = () PV = (a) x (b)
£ £ £
Ki 26,000 1.08 28,080
Ka 29,000 1.0000 29,000
Ks 35,000 0.9259 32,407
Ka 41,000 0.8573 35,149
131,000 124,636

Figure 3.7 Calculation of Y for the period Y,

Y = C+ (KK—=K)
Y = 0+ (124,636 — 115403)
= 0+ 9233

£9,233
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3.6 Critical comment on the economist’s measure

While the income measure enables us to formulate theories regarding the behaviour of the
economy, it has inherent shortcomings not only in the economic field, but particularly in
the accountancy sphere.

® The calculation of economic capital, hence economic income, is subjective in terms of the
present value factor, often referred to as the DCF element. The factor may be based on
any one of a number of factors, such as opportunity cost, the current return on the firm’s
existing capital employed, the contemporary interest payable on a short-term loan such
as a bank overdraft, the average going rate of interest payable in the economy at large, or
a rate considered justified on the basis of the risk attached to a particular investment.

@ Investors are not of one mind or one outlook. For example, they possess different risk and
time preferences and will therefore employ different discount factors.

® The model constitutes a compound of unrealised and realised flows, i.e. profits. Because
of the unrealised element, it has not been used as a base for computing tax or for declaring

a dividend.

® The projected income is dependent upon the success of a planned financial strategy.
Investment plans may change, or fail to attain target.

@ Windfall gains cannot be foreseen, so they cannot be accommodated in the ex ante model.
Our prognostic cash flows may therefore vary from the actual flows generated, e.g. an
unexpected price movement.

o It is difficult to construct a satisfactory, meaningful statement of financial position detailing
the unused stock of net assets by determining the present values of individual assets.
Income is invariably the consequence of deploying a group of assets working in unison.

3.7 Income, capital and changing price levels

A primary concern of income measurement to both economist and accountant is the main-
tenance of the capital stock, i.e. the maintenance of capital values. The assumption is that
income can only arise after the capital stock has been maintained at the same amount as at
the beginning of the accounting period.

However, this raises the question of how we should define the capital that we are attempt-
ing to maintain. There are a number of possible definitions:

® Money capital. Should we concern ourselves with maintaining the fund of capital
resources initially injected by the entrepreneur into the new enterprise? This is indeed
one of the aims of traditional, transaction-based accountancy.

@ Potential consumption capital. Is it this that should be maintained, i.e. the economist’s
present value philosophy expressed via the discounted cash flow technique?

® Operating capacity capital. Should maintenance of productive capacity be the rule,
i.e. capital measured in terms of tangible or physical assets? This measure would utilise
the current cost accounting system.

Revsine attempted to construct an analytical bridge between replacement cost accounting
that maintains the operating capacity, and the economic concepts of income and value, by
demonstrating that the distributable operating flow component of economic income is equal
to the current operating component of replacement cost income, and that the unexpected
income component of economic income is equal to the unrealisable cost savings of replacement
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3.7.1

3.7.2

cost income.’ This will become clearer when the replacement cost model is dealt with in the
next chapter.

e Financial capital. Should capital be maintained in terms of a fund of general purchasing
power (sometimes called ‘real’ capital)? In essence, this is the consumer purchasing power
(or general purchasing power) approach, but not in a strict sense as it can be measured
in a variety of ways. The basic method uses a general price index. This concept is likely
to satisfy the criteria of the proprietor/shareholders of the entity. The money capital and
the financial capital concepts are variations of the same theme, the former being founded
on the historic cost principle and the latter applying an adjustment mechanism to take
account of changing price levels.

The money capital concept has remained the foundation stone of traditional accountancy
reporting, but the operating and financial capital alternatives have played a controversial
secondary role over the past twenty-five years.

Potential consumption capital is peculiar to economics in terms of measurement of the
business entity’s aggregate capital, although, as discussed on pages 49 —52, it has a major role
to play as a decision-making model in financial management.

Why are these varying methods of concern?

The problem tackled by these devices is that plague of the economy known as ‘changing
price levels’, particularly the upward spiralling referred to as inflation. Throughout this
chapter we have assumed that there is a stable monetary unit and that income, capital and
value changes over time have been in response to operational activity and the interaction of
supply and demand or changes in expectations.

Following the historic cost convention, capital maintenance has involved a comparison of
opening and closing capital in each accounting period. It has been assumed that the purchas-
ing power of money has remained constant over time.

If we take into account moving price levels, particularly the fall in the purchasing power
of the monetary unit due to inflation, then our measure of income is affected if we insist
upon maintaining capital in real terms.

Is it necessary to maintain capital in real terms?

Undoubtedly it is necessary if we wish to prevent an erosion of the operating capacity of the
entity and thus its ability to maintain real levels of income. If we do not maintain the capacity
of capital to generate the current level of profit, then the income measure, being the differ-
ence between opening and closing capitals, will be overstated or overvalued. This is because
the capital measure is being understated or undervalued. In other words, there is a danger
of dividends being paid out of real capital rather than out of real income. It follows that, if
the need to retain profits is overlooked, the physical assets will be depleted.

In accountancy there is no theoretical difficulty in measuring the impact of changing price
levels. There are, however, two practical difficulties:

® There are a number of methods, or mixes of methods, available and it has proved impos-
sible to obtain consensus support for one method or compound of methods.
® There is a high element of subjectivity, which detracts from the objectivity of the

information.

In the next chapter we deal with inflation and analyse the methods formulated, together with
the difficulties that they in turn introduce into the financial reporting system.
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Summary

In measuring income, capital and value, the accountant’s approach varies from the sister
discipline of the economist, yet both are trying to achieve similar objectives.

The accountant uses a traditional transaction-based model of computing income,
capital being the residual of this model.

The economist’s viewpoint is anchored in a behavioural philosophy that measures
capital and deduces income to be the difference between the capital at commencement
of a period and that at its end.

The objectives of income measurement are important because of the existence of a
highly sophisticated capital market. These objectives involve the assessment of steward-
ship performance, dividend and retention policies, comparison of actual results with
those predicted, assessment of future prospects, payment of taxation and disclosure of
matched costs against revenue from sales.

The natures of income, capital and value must be appreciated if we are to understand
and achieve measurement. The apparent conflict between the two measures can be seen
as a consequence of the accountant’s need for periodic reporting to shareholders. In the
longer term, both methods tend to agree.

Present value as a concept is the foundation stone of the economist, while historical
cost, adjusted for prudence, is that of the accountant. Present value demands a sub-
jective discount rate and estimates that time may prove incorrect; historical cost ignores
unrealised profits and in application is not always transaction based.

The economist’s measure, of undoubted value in the world of micro- and macro-
economics, presents difficulty in the accountancy world of annual reports. The accountant’s
method, with its long track record of acceptance, ignores any generated profits, which
caution and the concept of the going concern deem not to exist.

The economic trauma of changing price levels is a problem that both measures can
embrace, but consensus support for a particular model of measurement has proved elusive.

REVIEW QUESTIONS

I What is the purpose of measuring income?
2 Explain the nature of economic income.

3 The historical cost concept has withstood the test of time. Specify the reasons for this success,
together with any aspects of historical cost that you consider are detrimental in the sphere of
financial reporting.

4 What is meant by present value? Does it take account of inflation?

5 A company contemplates purchasing a machine that will generate an income of £25,000 per year
over each of the next five years. A scrap value of £2,000 is anticipated on disposal. How much
would you advise the company to pay for the asset?

6 Discuss the arguments for and against revaluing fixed assets and recognising the gain or loss.

7 To an accountant, net income is essentially a historical record of the past. To an economist,
net income is essentially a speculation about the future. Examine the relative merits of these
two approaches for financial reporting purposes.
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8 Examine and contrast the concepts of profit that you consider to be relevant to:

(a) an economist; (b) a speculator;
(c) a business executive; (d) the managing director of a company;
(e) a shareholder in a private company; (f) a shareholder in a large public company.

EXERCISES

An extract from the solution is provided on the Companion Website (www.pearsoned.co.uk/elliott-
elliott) for exercises marked with an asterisk (¥).

* Question |

(a) ‘Measurement in financial statements’, Chapter 6 of the ASB's Statement of Principles, was published
in 1999. Amongst the theoretical valuation systems considered is value in use — more commonly
known as economic value.

Required:
Describe the Hicksian economic model of income and value, and assess its usefulness for
financial reporting.

(b) Jim Bowater purchased a parcel of 30,000 ordinary shares in New Technologies plc for £36,000
on | January 20X5. Jim, an Australian on a four-year contract in the UK, has it in mind to sell the
shares at the end of 20X7, just before he leaves for Australia. Based on the company's forecast
growth and dividend policy, his broker has advised him that his shares are likely to fetch only
£35,000 then.

In its annual report for the year ended 31 December 20X4 the company had forecast annual
dividend pay-outs as follows:

Year ended: 31 December 20X5, 25p per share
3| December 20X6, 20p per share
31 December 20X7, 20p per share

Required:

Using the economic model of income:

(i) Compute Jim’s economic income for each of the three years ending on the dates indicated
above.

(i) Show that Jim’s economic capital will be preserved at | January 20X5 level. Jim’s cost of
capital is 20%.

Question 2

(a) Describe briefly the theory underlying Hicks's economic model of income and capital. What are
its practical limitations?

(b) Spock purchased a space invader entertainment machine at the beginning of year one for £1,000.
He expects to receive at annual intervals the following receipts: at the end of year one £400;
end of year two £500; end of year three £600. At the end of year three he expects to sell the
machine for £400.

Spock could receive a return of 10% in the next best investment.
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The present value of £1 receivable at the end of a period discounted at 10% is as follows:

End of year one £0.909
End of year two £0.826
End of year three £0.751

Required:

Calculate the ideal economic income, ignoring taxation and working to the nearest £.

Your answer should show that Spock’s capital is maintained throughout the period and that his
income is constant.

Question 3

Jason commenced with £135,000 cash. He acquired an established shop on | January 20X1. He agreed
to pay £130,000 for the fixed and current assets and the goodwill. The replacement cost of the shop
premises was £100,000, stock £10,000 and debtors £4,000; the balance of the purchase price was for
the goodwill. He paid legal costs of £5,000. No liabilities were taken over. Jason could have resold the
business immediately for £135,000. Legal costs are to be expensed in 20X1.

Jason expected to draw £25,000 per year from the business for three years and to sell the shop at
the end of 20X3 for £150,000.

At 31 December 20X the books showed the following tangible assets and liabilities:

Cost to the business before any drawings He estimated that the net realisable values
by Jason: were:
£ £

Shop premises 100,000 85,000
Stock 15,500 20,000
Debtors 5,200 5,200
Cash 40,000 40,000
Creditors 5,000 5,000

Based on his experience of the first year's trading, he revised his estimates and expected to draw
£35,000 per year for three years and sell the shop for £175,000 on 3| December 20X3.

Jason’s opportunity cost of capital was 20%.

Required:
(a) Calculate the following income figures for 20X1:
(i) accounting income;
(i) income based on net realisable values;
(iii) economic income ex ante;
(iv) economic income ex post.
State any assumptions made.
(b) Evaluate each of the four income figures as indicators of performance in 20X| and as a guide
to decisions about the future.
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CHAPTER 4

Accounting for price-level changes

4.1

Introduction

The main purpose of this chapter is to explain the impact of inflation on profit and capital
measurement and the concepts that have been proposed to incorporate the effect into
financial reports by adjusting the historical cost data. These concepts are periodically
discussed but there is no general support for any specific concept among practitioners in

the field.

Objectives

By the end of the chapter, you should be able to:

® describe the problems of historical cost accounting (HCA);

@ explain the approach taken in each of the inflation adjusting models;

® prepare financial statements applying each model (HCA, CPP, CCA, NRVA);

o critically comment on each model (HCA, CPP, CCA, NRVA);

@ describe the approach being taken by standard setters and future developments.

4.2 Review of the problems of historical cost accounting (HCA)

The transaction-based historical cost concept was unchallenged in the UK until price levels
started to hedge upwards at an ever-increasing pace during the 1950s and reached an annual
rate of increase of 20% in the mid 1970s. The historical cost base for financial reporting
witnessed growing criticism. The inherent faults of the system were discussed in Chapter 3,
but inflation exacerbates the problem in the following ways:

@ Profit is overstated when inflationary changes in the value of assets are ignored.

o Comparability of business entities, which is so necessary in the assessment of perform-
ance and growth, becomes distorted.

® The decision-making process, the formulation of plans and the setting of targets may be
suboptimal if financial base data are out of date.

e Financial reports become confusing at best, misleading at worst, because revenue is
mismatched with differing historical cost levels as the monetary unit becomes unstable.

® Unrealised profits arising in individual accounting periods are increased as a result of
inflation.
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In order to combat these serious defects, current value accounting became the subject of
research and controversy as to the most appropriate method to use for financial reporting.

4.3 Inflation accounting

A number of versions of current value accounting (CVA) were eventually identified, but the
current value postulate was said to suffer from the following disadvantages:

@ It destroys the factual nature of HCA, which is transaction based: the factual character-
istic is to all intents and purposes lost as transaction-based historic values are replaced by
judgemental values.

@ It is not as objective as HCA because it is less verifiable from auditable documentation.
@ It entails recognition of unrealised profit, a practice that is anathema to the traditionalist.

® The claimed improvement in comparability between commercial entities is a myth
because of the degree of subjectivity in measuring current value by each.

® The lack of a single accepted method of computing current values compounds the sub-
jectivity aspect. One fault-laden system is being usurped by another that is also faulty.

In spite of these criticisms, the search for a system of financial reporting devoid of the defects
of HCA and capable of coping with inflation has produced a number of CVA models.

4.4 The concepts in principle

4.4.1

Several current income and value models have been proposed to replace or operate in tandem
with the historical cost convention. However, in terms of basic characteristics, they may be
reduced to the following three models:

@ current purchasing power (CPP) or general purchasing power (GPP);
® current entry cost or replacement cost (RC);

@ current exit cost or net realisable value (NRV).

We discuss each of these models below.

Current purchasing power accounting (CPPA)

The CPP model measures income and value by adopting a price index system. Movements
in price levels are gauged by reference to price changes in a group of goods and services in
general use within the economy. The aggregate price value of this basket of commodities-
cum-services is determined at a base point in time and indexed as 100. Subsequent changes
in price are compared on a regular basis with this base period price and the change recorded.
For example, the price level of our chosen range of goods and services may amount to £76
on 31 March 20X1, and show changes as follows:

£76 at 31 March 20X1
£79 at 30 April 20X1
£81 at 31 May 20X1
£84 at 30 June 20X1

and so on.
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The change in price may be indexed with 31 March as the base:

20X1 Calculation Index
31 March ire. L76 100
30 April ie. Tk x 100 103.9
76
.81
31 May re. — x 100 106.6
76
30 June ie. % x 100 110.5

In the UK, an index system similar in construction to this is known as the Retail Price
Index (RPI). It is a barometer of fluctuating price levels covering a miscellany of goods and
services as used by the average household. Thus it is a general price index. It is amended
from time to time to take account of new commodities entering the consumer’s range of
choice and needs. As a model, it is unique owing to the introduction of the concept of gains
and losses in purchasing power.

4.4.2 Current entry or replacement cost accounting (RCA)

The replacement cost (RC) model assesses income and value by reference to entry costs or
current replacement costs of materials and other assets utilised within the business entity.
The valuation attempts to replace like with like and thus takes account of the quality and
condition of the existing assets. A motor vehicle, for instance, may have been purchased
brand new for £25,000 with an expected life of five years, an anticipated residual value of nil
and a straight-line depreciation policy. Its HCA carrying value in the statement of financial
position at the end of its first year would be £25,000 less £5,000 = £20,000. However, if a
similar new replacement vehicle cost £30,000 at the end of year one, then its gross RC would
be £30,000; depreciation for one year based on this sum would be £6,000 and the net RC
would be £24,000. The increase of £4,000 is a holding gain and the vehicle with a HCA
carrying value of £20,000 would be revalued at £24,000.

4.4.3 Current exit cost or net realisable value accounting (NRVA)

The net realisable value (NRV) model is based on the economist’s concept of opportunity cost.
It is a model that has had strong academic support, most notably in Australia from Professor
Ray Chambers who referred to this approach as Continuous Contemporary Accounting
(CoCoA). If an asset cost £25,000 at the beginning of year one and at the end of that year it
had a NRV of £21,000 after meeting selling expenses, it would be carried in the NRV state-
ment of financial position at £21,000. This amount represents the cash forgone by holding
the asset, i.e. the opportunity of possessing cash of £21,000 has been sacrificed in favour of

the asset. Depreciation for the year would be £25,000 less £21,000 = £4,000.

4.5 The four models illustrated for a company with cash purchases
and sales

We will illustrate the effect on the profit and net assets of Entrepreneur Ltd.

Entrepreneur I.td commenced business on 1 January 20X 1 with a capital of £3,000 to buy
and sell second-hand computers. The company purchased six computers on 1 January 20X1
for £500 each and sold three of the computers on 15 January for £900 each.
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The following data are available for January 20X1:

Retail Replacement Net realisable
Price Index cost per computer value
£ £
1 January 100
15 January 112 610
31 January 130 700 900

The statement of comprehensive incomes and statements of financial position are set out in
Figure 4.1 with the detailed workings in Figure 4.2.

4.5.1 Financial capital maintenance concept

HCA and CPP are both transaction-based models that apply the financial capital maintenance
concept. This means that profit is the difference between the opening and closing net assets

Figure 4.1 Trading account for the month ended 31 January 20XI

Statements of comprehensive income for the month ended 3| January 20X

HCA CPP RCA NRVA

£ CPP£ £ £
Sales 2,700 WI 3,134 W5 2,700 WI 2,700 WI
Opening inventory — — — —
Purchases 3,000 W2 3900 Wé 3000 W2 3000 W2
Closing inventory (1,500) W3 (1,950) W7 (1,500) W3 (1,500) W3
COSA na na 330 WIO na
Cost of sales 1,500 1,950 1,830 1,500
Holding gain na na na 1,200 WI5
Profit 1,200 1,184 870 2,400

Statement of financial position as at 3| January 20X

£ CPP£ £ £
Current assets
Inventory 1,500 W3 1,950 W7 2,100 WII 2,700 W4
Cash 2,700 W4 2,700 2,700 2,700
Capital employed 4,200 4,650 4,800 5,400
Capital 3,000 3900 W8 3,000 3,000
Holding gains
On inventory consumed  na na 330 WI2
On inventory in hand na na 600 WI3
Profit 1,200 [,184 870 2,400
Loss on monetary items  na (434) W9 na na
4,200 4,650 4,800 5,400

na = not applicable
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Figure 4.2 Workings (W)

HCA
WI Sales: 3 x £900 = £2,700
W2 Purchases: 6 x £500 = £3,000
W3 Closing inventory: 3 x £500 = £1,500
W4 Cash: | January 20X Capital 3,000
| January 20X Purchases (3,000)
| January 20X Balance nil
I'5 January 20X Sales
3% £900 = £2,700
31 January 20X Balance £2,700
CPP CPP£
W5 Sales £2,700 x 130/112 = 3,134
W6 Purchases £3,000 x 130/100 = 3,900
W7 Closing inventory £1,500 x 130/100 = 1,950
W8 Capital £3,000 x 130/100 = 3,900

W9 Balance of cash was nil until 15 January when sales
generated £2,700. This sum was held until 31 January
during which period cash, a monetary item, lost
purchasing power: The loss of purchasing power is
measured by applying the general index to the cash
held.
£2,700 x 130/112 — £2,700 = CPP £434.

RCA

W10 Additional replacement cost of inventory consumed as
at the date of sale is measured as a cost of sales
adjustment (COSA). COSA is calculated as follows:

3IX £610 = 1,830
Less: 3 x £500 = 1,500
COSA £330

W1 Closing inventory: 3 X £700 = £2,100
W12 Holding gains on inventory consumed: as forW 10 = £330

W13 Inventory at replacement cost = 3 x £700 = 2,100
Less: inventory at cost = 3 x £500 = 1,500
Holding gains on closing inventory ﬂ

NRVA

W14 Closing inventory at net realisable value = 900 x 3 = £2,700

WI5 3% £900 = 2,700
3 x £500 = 1,500

Holding gain £1,200



64 - Income and asset value measurement systems

4.5.2

4.5.3

(expressed in HC £) or the opening and closing net assets (expressed in HC £ indexed for
RPI changes) adjusted for any capital introduced or withdrawn during the month.

CPP adjustments

o All historical cost values are adjusted to a common index level for the month. In theory
this can be the index applicable to any day of the financial period concerned. However, in
practice it has been deemed preferable to use the last day of the period; thus the financial
statements show the latest price level appertaining to the period.

® The application of a general price index as an adjusting factor results in the creation of an
alien currency of purchasing power, which is used in place of sterling. Note, particularly,
the impact on the entity’s sales and capital compared with the other models. Actual sales
shown on invoices will still read £2,700.

® Note the application of the concept of gain or loss on holding monetary items. In this
example there is a monetary loss of CPP £434 as shown in Working 9 in Figure 4.2.

Operating capital maintenance concept

Under this concept capital is only maintained if sufficient income is retained to maintain the
business entity’s physical operating capacity, i.e. its ability to produce the existing level of
goods or services. Profit is, therefore, the residual after increasing the cost of sales to the cost
applicable at the date of sale.

@ Basically, only two adjustments are involved: the additional replacement cost of inventory
consumed and holding gains on closing inventories. However, in a comprehensive exer-
cise an adjustment will be necessary regarding fixed assets and you will also encounter a
gearing adjustment.

@ Notice the concept of holding gains. This model introduces, in effect, unrealised profits
in respect of closing inventories. The holding gain concerning inventory consumed at the
time of sale has been realised and deducted from what would have been a profit of £1,200.
The statement discloses profits of £870.

Capacity to adapt concept

The HCA, CPP and RCA models have assumed that the business will continue as a going
concern and only distribute realised profits after retaining sufficient profits to maintain either
the financial or operating capital.

The NRVA concept is that a business has the capacity to realise its net assets at the
end of each financial period and reinvest the proceeds and that the NRV accounts provide
management with this information.

@ This produces the same initial profit as HCA, namely £1,200, but a peculiarity of this
system is that this realised profit is supplemented by unrealised profit generated by holding
stocks. Under RCA accounting, such gains are shown in a separate account and are not
treated as part of real income.

® This simple exercise has ignored the possibility of investment in fixed assets, thus
depreciation is not involved. A reduction in the NRV of fixed assets at the end of a period
compared with the beginning would be treated in a similar fashion to depreciation by being
charged to the revenue account, and consequently profits would be reduced. An increase
in the NRV of such assets would be included as part of the profit.
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4.5.4 The four models compared

Dividend distribution

We can see from Figure 4.1 that if the business were to distribute the profit reported under
HCA, CPP or NRVA the physical operating capacity of the business would be reduced and
it would be paying dividends out of capital:

HCA CPP RCA NRVA
Realised profit: 1,200 1,184 870 1,200
Unrealised profit — — — 1,200
Profit for month 1,200 1,184 870 2,400

Shareholder orientation

The CPP model is shareholder orientated in that it shows whether shareholders’ funds are
keeping pace with inflation by maintaining their purchasing power. Only CPP changes the
value of the share capital.

Management orientation

The RCA model is management orientated in that it identifies holding gains which represent
the amounts required to be retained in order to simply maintain the operating capital.

RCA measures the impact of inflation on the individual firm, in terms of the change in
price levels of its raw materials and assets, i.e. inflation peculiar to the company, whereas
CPP measures general inflation in the economy as a whole. CPP may be meaningless in the
case of an individual company. Consider a firm that carries a constant volume of stock valued
at £100 in HCA terms. Now suppose that price levels double when measured by a general
price index (GPI), so that its inventory is restated to £200 in a CPP system. If, however,
the cost of that particular inventory has sustained a price change consisting of a five-fold
increase, then under the RCA model the value of the stock should be £500.

In the mid 1970s, when the accountancy profession was debating the problem of changing
price level measurement, the general price level had climbed by some 23% over a period
during which petroleum-based products had risen by 500%.

4.6 Critique of each model

A critique of the various models may be formulated in terms of their characteristics and
peculiarities as virtues and defects in application.

4.6.1 HCA

This model’s virtues and defects have been discussed in Chapter 3 and earlier in this chapter.

4.6.2 CPP

Virtues

e It is an objective measure since it is still transaction based, as with HCA, and the
possibility of subjectivity is constrained if a GPI is used that has been constructed by
a central agency such as a government department. This applies in the UK, where the
Retail Price Index is constructed by the Department for Employment and Learning.
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4.6.3

@ It is a measure of shareholders’ capital and that capital’s maintenance in terms of
purchasing power units. Profit is the residual value after maintaining the money value of
capital funds, taking account of changing price levels. Thus it is a measure readily under-
stood by the shareholder/user of the accounts. It can prevent payment of a dividend out
of real capital as measured by GPPA.

o Itintroduces the concept of monetary items as distinct from non-monetary items and
the attendant concepts of gains and losses in holding net monetary liabilities compared
with holding net monetary assets. Such gains and losses are experienced on a disturbing
scale in times of inflation. They are real gains and losses. The basic RCA and NRV
models do not recognise such ‘surpluses’ and ‘deficits’.

Defects

o It is HCA based but adjusted to reflect general price movements. Thus it possesses
the characteristics of HCA, good and bad, but with its values updated in the light of an
arithmetic measure of general price changes. The major defect of becoming out of date
is mitigated to a degree, but the impact of inflation on the entity’s income and capital may
be at variance with the rate of inflation affecting the economy in general.

o It may be wrongly assumed that the CPP statement of financial position is a current
value statement. It is not a current value document because of the defects discussed
above; in particular, asset values may be subject to a different rate of inflation than that

reflected by the GPI.

® It creates an alien unit of measurement still labelled by the £ sign. Thus we have the
HCA £ and the CPP [. They are different pounds: one is the bona fide pound, the other
is a synthetic unit. This may not be fully appreciated or understood by the user when
faced with the financial accounts for the recent accounting period.

@ Its concept of profit is dangerous. It pretends to cater for changing prices, but at the
same time it fails to provide for the additional costs of replacing stocks sold or additional
depreciation due to the escalating replacement cost of assets. The inflation encountered
by the business entity will not be the same as that encountered by the whole economy.
Thus the maintenance of the CPP of shareholders’ capital via this concept of profit is
not the maintenance of the entity’s operating capital in physical terms, i.e. its capacity
to produce the same volume of goods and services. The use of CPP profit as a basis for
decision making without regard to RCA profit can have disastrous consequences.

RCA

Virtues

@ Its unit of measurement is the monetary unit and consequently it is understood and
accepted by the user of accountancy reports. In contrast, the CPP system employs an
artificial unit based on arithmetic relationships, which is different and thus unfamiliar.

o Itidentifies and isolates holding gains from operating income. Thus it can prevent the
inadvertent distribution of dividends in excess of operating profit. It satisfies the prudence
criterion of the traditional accountant and maintains the physical operating capacity
of the entity.

o It introduces realistic current values of assets in the statement of financial position,
thus making the statement of financial position a ‘value’ statement and consequently more
meaningful to the user. This contrasts sharply with the statement of financial position as
a list of unallocated carrying costs in the HCA system.
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Defects

e It is a subjective measure, in that replacement costs are often necessarily based on
estimates or assessments. It does not possess the factual characteristics of HCA. It is open
to manipulation within constraints. Often it is based on index numbers which themselves
may be based on a compound of prices of a mixture of similar commodities used as raw
material or operating assets. This subjectivity is exacerbated in circumstances where rapid
technological advance and innovation are involved in the potential new replacement asset,
e.g. computers, printers.

o It assumes replacement of assets by being based on their replacement cost. Difficulties
arise if such assets are not to be replaced by similar assets. Presumably, it will then be
assumed that a replacement of equivalent value to the original will be deployed, however
differently, as capital within the firm.

NRVA
Virtues

@ It is a concept readily understood by the user. The value of any item invariably has
two measures — a buying price and a selling price — and the twain do not usually meet.
However, when considering the value of an existing possession, the owner instinctively
considers its ‘value’ to be that in potential sale, i.e. NRV.

o It avoids the need to estimate depreciation and, in consequence, the attendant
problems of assessing life-span and residual values. Depreciation is treated as the
arithmetic difference between the NRV at the end of a financial period and the NRV at
its beginning.

e It is based on opportunity cost and so can be said to be more meaningful. It is the
sacrificial cost of possessing an asset, which, it can be argued, is more authentic in terms
of being a true or real cost. If the asset were not possessed, its cash equivalent would exist
instead and that cash would be deployed in other opportunities. Therefore, NRV = cash
= opportunity = cost.

Defects

@ It is a subjective measure and in this respect it possesses the same major fault as RCA.
It can be said to be less prudent than RCA because NRV will tend to be higher in some
cases than RCA. For example, when valuing finished inventories, a profit content will be
involved.

e It is not a realistic measure as most assets, except finished goods, are possessed in
order to be utilised, not sold. Therefore, NRV is irrelevant.

e It is not always determinable. The assets concerned may be highly specialist and
there may be no ready market by which a value can be easily assessed. Consequently, any
particular value may be fictitious or erroneous, containing too high a holding gain or,
indeed, too low a holding loss.

o It violates the concept of the going concern, which demands that the accounts are
drafted on the basis that there is no intention to liquidate the entity. Admittedly, this
concept was formulated with HCA in view, but the acceptance of NRV implies the
possibility of a cessation of trading.
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@ It is less reliable and verifiable than HC.

® The statement of comprehensive income will report a more volatile profit if changes in
NRYV are taken to the statement of comprehensive income each year.

® The profit arising from the changes in NRV may not have been realised.

4.7 Operating capital maintenance - a comprehensive example

In Figure 4.1 we considered the effect of inflation on a cash business without fixed assets,
credit customers or credit suppliers. In the following example, Economica plc, we now con-
sider the effect where there are non-current assets and credit transactions.

The HCA statements of financial position as at 31 December 20X4 and 20X35 are set out
in Figure 4.3 and index numbers required to restate the non-current assets, inventory and
monetary items in Figure 4.4.

Figure 4.3 Economica plc HCA statement of financial position

Statements of financial position as at 3| December on the basis of HCA

20X5 20X4
£000 £000 £000 £000
Non-current assets:
Cost 85,000 85,000
Depreciation 34,000 25,500
51,000 59,500
Current assets:
Inventory 25,500 17,000
Trade receivables 34,000 23,375
Cash and bank |7,000 1,875
76,500 42,250
Current liabilities:
Trade payables 25,500 17,000
Income tax 8,500 4,250
Dividend proposed 5,000 4,000
39,000 25,250
Net current assets 37,500 |7,000
Less: 8% debentures [ 1,000 [ 1,000
26,500 6,000
77,500 65,500
Share capital and reserves:
Authorised and issued £ ordinary shares 50,000 50,000
Share premium 1,500 1,500
Retained earnings 26,000 |4,000



Figure 4.4 Index data relating to Economica plc
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Index numbers as prepared by the Central Statistical Office for non-current assets:

| January 20X2
| January 20X5
| January 20X6
Average for 20X4
Average for 20X5

All non-current assets were acquired on | January 20X2. There were no further
acquisitions or disposals during the four years ended 31 December 20X5.

100
|65
185
|47
167

Indices as prepared by the Central Statistical Office for inventories and monetary working

capital adjustments were:
| October 20X4

31 December 20X4

|5 November 20X4
| October 20X5

31 December 20X5

|5 November 20X5
Average for 20X5

['15
125
120
|40
150
|45
137.5

Three months’ inventory is carried.

Depreciation: historical cost based on 10% pa straight-line with residual value of nil:

£HCA
20X4 8,500,000
20X5 8,500,000

4.7.1 Restating the opening statement of financial position to current cost

The non-current assets and inventory are restated to their current cost as at the date of the
opening statement as shown in W1 and W2 below. The increase from HC to CC represents
an unrealised holding gain which is debited to the asset account and credited to a reserve
account called a current cost reserve, as in W3 below.

The calculations are as follows. First we shall convert the HCA statement of financial
position in Figure 4.3, as at 31 December 20X4, to the CCA basis, using the index data in
Figure 4.4.

The non-monetary items, comprising the non-current assets and inventory, are con-
verted and the converted amounts are taken to the CC statement and the increases taken to
the current cost reserve, as follows.

(WI) Property, plant and equipment

HCA
£000
Cost 85,000
Depreciation 25,500

59,500

Index

165
X —
100
165
X —_—
100

ccA
£000

= 140,250

= 42,075

98,175

Increase

£000
55,250

16,575

38,675
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4.7.2

The CCA valuation at 31 December 20X4 shows a net increase in terms of numbers of
pounds sterling of £38,675,000. The £59,500,000 in the HCA statement of financial position
will be replaced in the CCA statement by £98,175,000.

(W2) Inventories

HCA Index CCA Increase

£000 £000 £000

17,000 X 125 = 17,708 = 708
120

Note that Figure 4.4 specifies that three months’ inventories are held. Thus on average
they will have been purchased on 15 November 20X4, on the assumption that they have
been acquired and consumed evenly throughout the calendar period. Hence, the index at the
time of purchase would have been 120. The £17,000,000 in the HCA statement of financial
position will be replaced in the CCA statement of financial position by £17,708,000.

(W3) Current cost reserve

The total increase in CCA carrying values for non-monetary items is £39,383,000, which
will be credited to CC reserves in the CC statement. It comprises £38,675,000 on the non-
current assets and £708,000 on the inventory.

Note that monetary items do not change by virtue of inflation. Purchasing power will be
lost or gained, but the carrying values in the CCA statement will be identical to those in its
HCA counterpart. We can now compile the CCA statement as at 31 December 20X4 — this
will show net assets of £104,883,000.

Adjustments that affect the profit for the year

The statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 20X5 set out in

Figure 4.5 discloses a profit before interest and tax of £26,350,000. We need to deduct realised

holding gains from this profit to avoid the distribution of dividends that would reduce the

operating capital. These deductions are a cost of sales adjustment (COSA), a depreciation

adjustment (DA) and a monetary working capital adjustment (MWCA). The accounting treat-

ment is to debit the statement of comprehensive income and credit the current cost reserve.
The adjustments are calculated as follows.

(W4) Cost of sales adjustment (COSA) using the average method

We will compute the cost of sales adjustment by using the average method. The average
purchase price index for 20X5 is 137.5. If price increases have moved at an even pace
throughout the period, this implies that consumption occurred, on average, at 30 June, the
mid-point of the financial year.

HCA Adjustment ccA Dufference
£000 £000 £000
137.

Opening inventory 17,000 X %05 = 19479 = 2,479

Purchases — — ——— -
17,000 19,479

. 137.5
Closing inventory (25,500) x Y R 24,181 = 1,319

(8,500) (4,702) 3,798
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Figure 4.5 Economica plc HCA statement of comprehensive income

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 20X5, on the basis of HCA

20X5 20X4
£000 £000
Turnover 42,500 38,250
Less: Cost of sales (12,070) (23025)
Gross profit 30,430 15,225
Less: Distribution costs 2,460 2,210
Less: Administrative expenses 1,620 1.540
_(4080) 6750
Profit before interest and tax 26,350 ['1,475
Interest _ (880) _ (880)
Profit before tax 25470 10,595
Income tax expense _(8470) _(4.250)
Profit after tax 17,000 6,345
Dividend _(5,000) _(4,000)
Retentions 12,000 2,345
Balance b/f _ 14,000 _ 11,655
Balance c/f 26,000 _ 14,000
EPS 34p [3p

The impact of price changes on the cost of sales would be an increase of £3,798,000, causing
a profit decrease of like amount and a current cost reserve increase of like amount.

(WS5) Depreciation adjustment: average method

As assets are consumed throughout the year, the CCA depreciation charge should be based
on average current costs.

HCA Adjustment CCA Difference
£000 £000 £000
Depreciation 8,500 X % = 14,195 = 5,695

(W6) Monetary working capital adjustment (MWCA)

The objective is to transfer from the statement of comprehensive income to CC reserve
the amount by which the need for monetary working capital (MWC) has increased due
to rising price levels. The change in MWC from one statement of financial position to the
next will be the consequence of a combination of changes in volume and escalating price
movements. Volume change may be segregated from the price change by using an average
index.
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4.7.3

20X5 20X4 Change
£000 £000 £000
Trade receivables 34,000 23,375
Trade payables 25,500 17,000
MWC = 8,500 6,375 Overall change = 2,125

The MWC is now adjusted by the average index for the year.
This adjustment will reveal the change in volume.

(8,500 x ﬂ) - (6,373 X ﬂ)
150 125

= 7,792 7,012 = Volume change 780
So price change = 1,345

The profit before interest and tax will be reduced as follows:

£000 £000
Profit before interest and tax 26,350
Less:
COSA (3,798)
DA (5,695)
MWCA (1,345)
Current cost operating adjustments (10,838)
Current cost operating profit 15,512

The adjustments will be credited to the current cost reserve.

Unrealised holding gains on non-monetary assets as at
31 December 20X5

The holding gains as at 31 December 20X4 were calculated in section 4.7.1 above for
non-current assets and inventory. A similar calculation is required to restate these at 20X5

current costs for the closing statement of financial position. The calculations are as in
Working 7 below.

(W7) Non-monetary assets

(i) Holding gain on non-current assets £000
Revaluation at year-end
Non-current assets at 1 January 20X5 (as W1) at CCA revaluation 140,250
CCA value at 31 December 20X5 = 140,250 X % = 157,250
Revaluation holding gain for 20X5 to CC reserve in W8 17,000

This holding gain of £17,000,000 is transferred to CC reserves.
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Backlog depreciation on non-current assets

CCA aggregate depreciation at 31 December 20X5 for
CC statement of financial position £000

= LHCA 34,000,000 x % in CC statement of financial position 62,900

Less: CCA aggregate depreciation at 1 January 20X5
(as per W1 and statement of financial position at 1 January 20X5) 42,075

Being CCA depreciation as revealed between opening

and closing statements of financial position 20,825
But CCA depreciation charged in revenue accounts

(i.e. £8,500,000 in LHCA plus additional depreciation of

£5,695,000 per W5) = 14,195
So total backlog depreciation to CC reserve in W8 6,630
The CCA value of non-current assets at 31 December 20X5: £000
Gross CCA value (above) 157,250
Depreciation (above) 62,900
Net CCA carrying value in the CC statement of

financial position in W8 94,350

This £6,630,000 is backlog depreciation for 20X5. Total backlog depreciation is not
expensed (i.e. charged to revenue account) as an adjustment of HCA profit, but is charged
against CCA reserves. The net effect is that the CC reserve will increase by £10,370,000,
i.e. £17,000,000 — £6,630,000.

(iif)

Inventory valuation at year-end
CCA valuation at 31 December 20X5

LHCA000 LCCA000 LCCA000
= 25,500 x 150/145= 26,379 = increase of 879
CCA valuation at 1 January 20X5 (per W2)
= 17,000 x 125/120 = 17,708 = increase of 708
Inventory holding gain occurring during 20X5 to W8 171

Current cost statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X5

The current cost statement as at 31 December 20X 5 now discloses non-current assets and
inventory adjusted by index to their current cost and the retained profits reduced by the
current cost operating adjustments. It appears as in Working 8 below.
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(W8) Economica plc: CCA statement of financial position as at

31 December 20X5

Non-current assets

Cost
Depreciation

Current assets
Inventory

Trade receivables
Cash

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Income tax
Dividend proposed

Net current assets
Less: 8% debentures

Financed by

Share capital: authorised
and issued £1 shares
Share premium

* CC reserve

** Retained profit

Shareholders’ funds

* CC reserve
Opening balance

Holding gains
Non-current assets
Inventory

COSA
MWCA

Less: backlog depreciation

55,067

20X5
£000 £000 £000
157,250 (W7(i)) 140,250 (W1)
62,900 (W7(ii)) 42,075 (W1)
94,350 (W7(ii))
26,379 (W7(iii)) 17,708 (W2)
34,000 23,375
17,000 1,875
77,379 42,958
25,500 17,000
8,500 4,250
5,000 4,000
39,000 25,250
38,379 17,708
11,000 11,000
27,379
121,729
50,000
1,500
55,067
15,162
121,729
£000 £000
39,383 (W3)
17,000 (W7(i))
171 (W7(iii))
17,171
3,798 (W4)
1,345 (W6)
(6,630) (W7(i)))  (1,487)

20X4
L£000

98,175
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** Retained profit

Opening balance 14,000 (Figure 4.5)
HCA profit for 20X5 12,000
COSA (3,798)(W4)
Extra depreciation (5,695)(W5)
MWCA (1,345)(W6)
1,162
CCA profit for 20X5 15,162

How to take the level of borrowings into account

We have assumed that the company will need to retain £10,838,000 from the current year’s
earnings in order to maintain the physical operating capacity of the company. However, if
the business is part financed by borrowings then part of the amount required may be
assumed to come from the lenders. One of the methods advocated is to make a gearing
adjustment. The gearing adjustment that we illustrate here has the effect of reducing the
impact of the adjustments on the profit after interest, i.e. it is based on the realised holding
gains only.

The gearing adjustment will change the carrying figures of CC reserves and retained
profit, but not the shareholders’ funds, as the adjustment is compensating. The gearing
adjustment cannot be computed before the determination of the shareholders’ interest
because that figure is necessary in order to complete the gearing calculation.

Gearing adjustment

The CC operating profit of the business is quantified after making such retentions from the
historical profit as are required in order to maintain the physical operating capacity of the
entity. However, from a shareholder standpoint, there is no need to maintain in real terms
the portion of the entity financed by loans that are fixed in monetary values. Thus, in calcu-
lating profit attributable to shareholders, that part of the CC adjustments relating to the
proportion of the business financed by loans can be deducted:

(W9) Gearing adjustment =

Average net borrowings for year Aggregate
(Average net borrowings ) + (Average shareholders’ funds ) adjustments
for year for year

X A

This formula is usually expressed as
(L+S)

where L = loans (i.e. net borrowings); .5 = shareholders’ interest or funds; 4 = adjustments

(i.e. extra depreciation + COSA + MWCA). Note that L/(L + .S) is often expressed as a

percentage of A (see example below where it is 6.31%).
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Net borrowings

This is the sum of all liabilities less current assets, excluding items included in MWC or
utilised in computing COSA. In this instance it is as follows:

Note: in some circumstances (e.g. new issue of debentures occurring during the year) a
weighted average will be used.

Closing balance  Opening balance

£000 £000
Debentures 11,000 11,000
Income tax 8,500 4,250
Cash (17,000) (1,875)
Total net borrowings, the average of which equals 2,500 13,375
+
Average net borrowings = 2,500,000 2 13,375,000 _ £7,937,500
Net borrowings plus shareholders’ funds
Shareholders’ funds in CC £ (inclusive of
proposed dividends) 126,729 108,883
Add: net borrowings 2,500 13,375
129,229 122,258
Or, alternatively:
£000 £000
Non-current assets 94,350 98,175
Inventory 26,379 17,708
MWC 8,500 6,375
129,229 122,258

129,229,000 + 122,258,000
2

= 125,743,500

Average L + S5 =

L
So gearing=——— X A
g & L+S

£7,937,500 y (COSA + MWCA + Extra depreciation)
125,743,500 (3,798,000 + 1,345,000 + 5,695,000)

=6.31% of £10,838,000 = £683,877, say £684,000
Thus the CC adjustment of £10,838,000 charged against historical profit may be reduced by

£684,000 due to a gain being derived from net borrowings during a period of inflation as
shown in Figure 4.6. The £684,000 is shown as a deduction from interest payable.
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Figure 4.6 Economica plc CCA statement of income
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Economica plc CCA statement of comprehensive income for year ended 3| December 20X5

(i.e. under the operating capital maintenance concept)

£000

Turnover 42,500
Cost of sales (12,070)
Gross profit 30,430
Distribution costs (2,460)
Administrative expenses (1,620)
Historical cost operating profit 26,350
Current cost operating adjustments (10,838)
Current cost operating profit 15512
Interest payable (880)

Gearing adjustment 684 _(19¢)
Current profit on ordinary activities before taxation 15316
Tax on profit on ordinary activities (8470)
Current cost profit for the financial year 6,846
Proposed dividends _(5,000)
Current cost profit retained 1,846
EPS 13.7p

The closing current cost statement of financial position

The closing statement with the non-current assets and inventory restated at current cost
and the retained profit adjusted for current cost operating adjustments as reduced by the
gearing adjustment is set out in Figure 4.7.

Real Terms System

The Real Terms System combines both CPP and current cost concepts. This requires a
calculation of total unrealised holding gains and an inflation adjustment as calculated in
Workings 10 and 11 below.

(W10) Total unrealised holding gains to be used in Figure 4.8

[Closing statement of financial position at CC — Closing statement of financial position at HC]
— [Opening statement of financial position at CC — Opening statement of financial position
at HC]
= (£121,729,000 — £77,500,000) — (£104,883,000 — £65,500,000) = £4,846,000

(W8) (Figure 4.3) (Working 8)  (Figure 4.3)
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Figure 4.7 Economica plc CCA statement of financial position

20X4

£000
140,250

42,075

17,708
23,375
1,875

42,958

17,000

4,250
4,000

25250

Economica plc CCA statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X5

£000

98,175

104,883

£000

£000
14,000
39,383

53,383

Non-current assets

Property, Plant and Equipment

Depreciation

Current assets
Inventory

Trade receivables
Cash

Current liabilities

Trade payables
Other payables
— income tax
— proposed dividend

Net current assets
Non-current liabilities

Capital and reserves

Called-up share capital
Share premium account

Total of other reserves

Analysis of ‘Total of other reserves’

Statement of income
Current cost reserve

20X5

£000
157,250

62,900

26,379
34,000
17,000

77,379

25,500

8,500
5,000

39,000

£000

94,350

38,379

(11,000)
27,379
121729

£000

£000
15,846
54,383

70,229

continued
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Figure 4.7 (continued)

Movements on reserves

(a) Statement of income: £000
Balance at | January 20X5 14,000 (from Figure 4.5)
Current cost retained profit 1,846 (from Figure 4.6)
Balance at 3| December 20X5 15,846

(b) Current cost reserve:

Non-current

Total assets Inventory ~ MWCA  Gearing
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance as at | January 20X5 39,383 38,675 708

Movements during the year:

Unrealised holding gains in the

year 10,541 10,370 171

Gearing adjustment (684) (684)

MWCA 1,345 1,345

COSA 3,798 3,798

Balance as at 31 December 20X5 54,383 49,045 4,677 1,345 (684)

(W11) General price index numbers to be used to calculate the inflation
adjustment in Figure 4.8

General price index at 1 January 20X5 =317.2

General price index at 31 December 20X5 = 333.2

Opening shareholders’ funds at CC X Percentage change in GPI during the year =
333.2-317.2

104,883,000 x =222 = £5,290,435, say £5,290,000

The GPP (or CPP) real terms financial capital

The real terms financial capital maintenance concept may be incorporated within the CCA
system as in Figure 4.8 by calculating an inflation adjustment.

4.8 Critique of CCA statements

Considerable effort and expense are involved in compiling and publishing CCA statements.
Does their usefulness justify the cost? CCA statements have the following uses:

1 The operating capital maintenance statement reveals CCA profit. Such profit has removed
inflationary price increases in raw materials and other inventories, and thus is more realistic
than the alternative HCA profit.

2 Significant increases in a company’s buying and selling prices will give the HCA profit a
holding gains content. That is, the reported HCA profit will include gains consequent upon
holding inventories during a period when the cost of buying such inventories increases.
Conversely, if specific inventory prices fall, HCA profit will be reduced as it takes account
of losses sustained by holding inventory while its price drops. Holding gains and losses
are quite different from operating gains and losses. HCA profit does not distinguish
between the two, whereas CCA profit does.
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Figure 4.8 Economica plc real terms statement of comprehensive income

Economica plc CCA statement of income under the real terms system
for the year ended 3| December 20X5

£000 £000
Historical cost profit after tax for the financial year 17,000
Add: Total unrealised holding gains arising during the year (see
W10) 4,846
Less: Realised holding gains previously recognised as unrealised none
4,846
Less: Inflation adjustment to CCA shareholders’ funds (W1 I') (5,290)
Real holding gains (444)
Total real gains 16,556
Deduct: proposed dividends 5,000
Amount retained | 1,556
Real terms system: analysis of reserves
20X4 20X5
£000 £000
53,383 Statement of income 64,939
— Financial capital maintenance reserve 5,290
53,383 70,229
Movements on reserves
Income statement Financial capital
maintenance reserve
£000 £000
Balances at | January 20X5 53,383 —
Amount retained ['1,556 —
Inflation adjustment for year 5,290
Balances as at 3| December 20X5 64,939 5,290

3 HCA profit might be adjusted to reflect the moving price level syndrome:

(a) by use of the operating capital maintenance approach, which regards only the CCA
operating profit as the authentic result for the period and which treats any holding
gain or loss as a movement on reserves;

(b) by adoption of the real terms financial capital maintenance approach, which applies
a general inflation measure via the RPI, combined with CCA information regarding
holding gains.

Thus the statement can reveal information to satisfy the demands of the management
of the entity itself — as distinct from the shareholder/proprietor, whose awareness of
inflation may centre on the RPI. In this way the concern of operating management can
be accommodated with the different interest of the shareholder. The HCA profit would
fail on both these counts.
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4 CC profit is important because:

(a) it quantifies cost of sales and depreciation after allowing for changing price levels;

(b)

(©)

hence trading results, free of inflationary elements, grant a clear picture of entity
activities and management performance;

resources are maintained, having eliminated the possibility of paying dividend out of
real capital;

yardsticks for management performance are more comparable as a time series within
the one entity and between entities, the distortion caused by moving prices having
been alleviated.

4.9 The ASB approach

The ASB has been wary of this topic. It is only too aware that standard setters in the past
have been unsuccessful in obtaining a consensus on the price level adjusting model to be
used in financial statements. The chronology in Figure 4.9 illustrates the previous attempts
to deal with the topic. Consequently, the ASB has clearly decided to follow a gradualist
approach and to require uniformity in the treatment of specific assets and liabilities where it
is current practice to move away from historical costs.

The ASB view was set out in a Discussion Paper, The Role of Valuation in Financial
Reporting, issued in 1993." The ASB had three options when considering the existing system
of modified historic costs:

@ to remove the right to modify cost in the statement of financial position;

@ to introduce a coherent current value system immediately;

o to make ad hoc improvements to the present modified historic cost system.

Figure 4.9 Standard setters’ unsuccessful attempts to replace HCA

1974

1975

1984

1985

Statement of Accounting Practice SSAP 7 Accounting for Changes in the Purchasing Power
of Money advocating the CPP model.

Inflation Accounting, Report of the Inflation Accounting Committee (The Sandilands
Report) advocating current cost accounting (CCA) rather than the CPP RCA or NRVA
model. The CCA system recommended by Sandilands was based on the deprival value
of an asset, i.e. the value based on the loss, direct or indirect, sustainable by an entity if it
were to be deprived of the asset concerned.

SSAP 16 Current Cost Accounting was issued by the ASC requiring listed companies to
produce CCA accounts as their primary financial report. There was widespread non-
compliance and a new exposure draft ED 35 was issued effectively retaining HCA
accounts as the primary financial report with supplementary current cost information.
SSAP |6 was withdrawn and the ASC issued Accounting for the Effects of Changing Prices:
A Handbook. The Handbook was interesting in that it set out four valuation bases if the
financial capital maintenance concept was applied and four valuation bases if the
operating capital maintenance concept was applied. Its preferred options were CCA
under the financial capital maintenance concept which it referred to as real terms
accounting (RTA) and CCA under the operating capital maintenance concept.



82 -« Income and asset value measurement systems

4.9.1

4.9.2

Remove the right to modify cost in the statement of financial
position

This would mean pruning the system back to one rigorously based on the principles of
historical costs, with current values shown by way of note.

This option has strong support from the profession not only in the UK e.g. ‘in our view
.. . the most significant advantage of historical cost over current value accounting . . . is that
it is based on the actual transactions which the company has undertaken and the cash flows
that it has generated . . . this is an advantage not just in terms of reliability, but also in terms
of relevance’,? but also in the USA, e.g. ‘a study showed that users were opposed to replacing
the current historic cost based accounting model . . . because it provides them with a stable
and consistent benchmark that they can rely on to establish historical trends’.*

Although this would have brought UK practice into line with that of the USA and some
of the EU countries, it has been rejected by the ASB. This is no doubt on the basis that the
ASB wishes to see current values established in the UK in the longer term.

Introduce a coherent current value system immediately

This would mean developing the system into one more clearly founded on principles embrac-
ing current values. One such system, advocated by the ASB in Chapter 6 of its Statement of
Accounting Principles, is based on value to the business. The value to the business measure-
ment model is eclectic in that it draws on various current value systems. The approach to
establishing the value to the business of a specific asset is quite logical:

@ If an asset is worth replacing, then use replacement cost (RC).
e If it is not worth replacing, then use:
value in use (economic value) if it is worth keeping; or
net realisable value (NRV) if it is not worth keeping.
The reasoning is that the value to the business is represented by the action that would be
taken by a business if it were to be deprived of an asset — this is also referred to as the

deprival value.
For example, assume the following:

£
Historical cost 200,000
Accumulated depreciation (6 years straight line) 120,000
Net book value 80,000
Replacement cost (gross) 300,000
Aggregate depreciation 180,000
Depreciated replacement cost 120,000
Net realisable value (NRV) 50,000
Value in use (discounted future income) 70,565

If the asset were destroyed then it would be irrational to replace it at its depreciated replace-
ment cost of £120,000 considering that the asset only has a value in use of £70,565.

However, the ASB did not see it as feasible to implement this system at that time because
‘there is much work to be done to determine whether or not it is possible to devise a system
that would be of economic relevance and acceptable to users and preparers of financial state-
ments in terms of sufficient reliability without prohibitive cost’.*
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Make ad hoc improvements to the present modified historical cost system

The ASB favoured this option for removing anomalies, on the basis that practice should
be evolutionary and should follow various ASB pronouncements (e.g. on the revaluation of
properties and quoted investments) on an ad hoc basis. The Statement of Accounting Principles
continues to envisage that a mixed measurement system will be used and it focuses on the
mix of historical cost and current value to be adopted.’

It is influenced in choosing this option by the recognition that there are anxieties about
the costs and benefits of moving to a full current value system, and by the belief that a con-
siderable period of experimentation and learning would be needed before such a major
change could be successfully introduced.®

Given the inability of the standard setters to implement a uniform current value system
in the past, it seems a sensible, pragmatic approach for the ASB to recognise that it would
fail if it made a similar attempt now.

This approach has been applied in FRS 3 with the requirement for a new primary
financial statement, the statement of total recognised gains and losses (see Chapter 8§ for
further discussion) to report unrealised gains and losses arising from revaluation.

The historical cost based system and the current value based system have far more to com-
mend them than the ad hoc option chosen by the ASB. However, as a short-term measure,
it leaves the way open for the implementation in the longer term of its preferred value to the
business model.

4.10 The IASC/IASB approach

4.10.1

The IASB has struggled in the same way as the ASB in the UK in deciding how to respond
to inflation rates that have varied so widely over time. Theoretically there is a case for inflation-
adjusting financial statements whatever the rate of inflation but standard setters need to carry
the preparers and users of accounts with them — this means that there has to be a consensus
that the traditional HCA financial statements are failing to give a true and fair view. Such a
consensus is influenced by the current rate of inflation.

When the rates around the world were in double figures, there was pressure for a
mandatory standard so that financial statements were comparable. This led to the issue
in 1983 of TAS 15 Information Reflecting the Effects of Changing Prices which required com-
panies to restate the HCA accounts using either a general price index or replacement costs
with adjustments for depreciation, cost of sales and monetary items.

As the inflation rates fell below double figures, there was less willingness by companies to
prepare inflation-adjusted accounts and so, in 1989, the mandatory requirement was relaxed
and the application of IAS 15 became optional.

In recent years the inflation rates in developed countries have ranged between 1% and
4% and so in 2003, twenty years after it was first issued, IAS 15 was withdrawn as part of
the ASB Improvement Project.

These low rates have not been universal outside the developed world and there has remained
a need to prepare inflation-adjusted financial statements where there is hyperinflation and
the rates are so high that HCA would be misleading.

The IASB position where there is hyperinflation

What do we mean by hyperinflation?

IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies states that hyperinflation occurs
when money loses purchasing power at such a rate that comparison of amounts from
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transactions that have occurred at different times, even within the same accounting period,
is misleading.

What rate indicates that hyperinflation exists?

TAS 29 does not specify an absolute rate — this is a matter of qualitative judgement — but it
sets out certain pointers, such as people preferring to keep their wealth in non-monetary
assets, people preferring prices to be stated in terms of an alternative stable currency rather
than the domestic currency, wages and prices being linked to a price index, or the cumulative
inflation rate over three years approaching 100%.

Countries where hyperinflation has occurred recently include Angola, Burma and Turkey.

How are financial statements adjusted?

The current year financial statements, whether HCA or CCA, must to be restated using the
domestic measuring unit current at the statement of financial position date; if the current
year should be the first year that restatement takes place then the opening statement of
financial position also has to be restated.

lllustration of disclosures in IAS 29 adjusted accounts

The following is an extract from the 2002 accounts of Turkiye Petrol Rafinerileri.

TAS 29 requires that financial statements prepared in the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy be stated in terms of the measuring unit current at the statement of financial
position date and the corresponding figures for previous periods be restated in the
same terms. One characteristic that leads to the classification of an economy as
hyperinflationary is a cumulative three-year inflation rate approaching 100%. Such
cumulative rate in Turkey was 227% for the three years ended 31 December 2002 based
on the wholesale price index announced by the Turkish State Institute of Statistics.
The restatement has been calculated by means of conversion factors based on the
Turkish countrywide wholesale price index (WPI).

The index and corresponding conversion factors for year-ends are as follows
(1994 average = 100)

Index Conversion factor
Year ended 31 December 1999 1,979.5 3.2729
Year ended 31 December 2000 2,626.0 2.4672
Year ended 31 December 2001 4,951.7 1.3083
Year ended 31 December 2002 6,478.8 1.0000

® Monetary assets and liabilities are not restated.

® Non-monetary assets and liabilities are restated by applying to the initial acquisition
cost and any accumulated depreciation for fixed assets the relevant conversion factors
reflecting the increase in WPI from date of acquisition.

@ All items in the statements of income are restated.

4.11 Future developments

A mixed picture emerges when we try to foresee the future of changing price levels and
financial reporting. The accounting profession has been reluctant to abandon the HC
concept in favour of a ‘valuation accounting’ approach. In the UK and Australia many
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companies have stopped revaluing their non-current assets, with a large proportion opting
instead to revert to the historical cost basis with the two main factors influencing manage-
ment’s decision being cost effectiveness and future reporting flexibility.’

The pragmatic approach is prevailing with each class of asset and liability being con-
sidered on an individual basis. For example, non-current assets are reported at depreciated
replacement cost unless this is higher than the economic value we discussed in Chapter 3;
financial assets are reported at market value (exit value in the NRV model); current assets
reported at lower of HC and NRV. In each case the resulting changes, both realised and
unrealised, in value will find their way into the financial performance statement(s).

Fair values

A number of IFRSs now require or allow the use of fair values e.g. IFRS 3 Business Combinations
in which fair value is defined as ‘the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability
settled between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction’. This is equivalent
to the NRVA model discussed above. It is defined as an exit value rather than a cost value but
like NRVA it does not imply a forced sale, i.e. it is the best value that could be obtained.

It is interesting to note that in the US there is a view that financial statements should be
primarily decision-useful. This is a move away from the position adopted by the IASB in its
conceptual framework in which it states that financial statements have two functions — one
to provide investors with the means to assess stewardship and the other the means to make
sound economic decisions.

How will financial statements be affected if fair values are adopted?

The financial statements will have the same virtues and defects as the NRVA model
(section 4.6.4 above). Some concerns have been raised that reported annual income will become
more volatile and the profit that is reported may contain a mix of realised and unrealised
profits. Supporters of the use of fair values see the income and statement of financial position
as more relevant for decision making whilst accepting that the figures might be less reliable
and not as effective as a means of assessing the stewardship by the directors.

Stewardship

Before the growth of capital markets, stewardship was the primary objective of financial
reporting. This is reflected in company law, which viewed management as agents of the
shareholders who should periodically provide an account of their performance to explain
the use they have made of the resources that the owners put under their control, i.e. it is a
means of governance by providing retrospective accountability.

With the growth of capital markets, the ability to generate cash flows became important
when making decisions as to whether to buy, sell or hold shares, i.e. it is concerned with
prospective performance.

This has given rise to an ongoing debate over the relative importance of stewardship
reporting and there is a fundamental difference between the US and Europe. In the US,
stewardship is seen as secondary to decision-usefulness, whereas in Europe reporting the
past use of resources is seen as just as important as reporting the future wealth-generating
potential of those resources.

In their efforts to agree on a common approach, the IASB and FASB issued a Discussion
Paper Preliminary Views on an Improved Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting which
proposed that the converged framework should specify only one objective of financial reporting,
namely the provision of information useful in making future resource allocation decisions.
However, there is a strong argument to support the explicit recognition of two equal objectives.
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The first is retrospective and stewardship based, and helps investors to assess the manage-
ment: Have their strategies been effective? Have the assets been protected? Have the resources
produced an adequate return? The second is prospective, helping investors to make a
judgement as to future performance — a judgement that might well be influenced by their
assessment of the past.

It is interesting to note that the IASB Framework® currently supports the importance of
financial statements as a means of assessing stewardship stating:

Financial statements also show the results of the stewardship of management, or the
accountability of management for the resources entrusted to it. Those users who wish to
assess the stewardship or accountability of management do so in order that they make
economic decisions; these decisions may include, for example, whether to hold or sell
their investment in the enterprise or whether to reappoint or replace the management.

Any revision to the conceptual framework should hold firm to equal weight being given to
retrospective and prospective objectives.

The gradualist approach

It is very possible that the number of international standards requiring or allowing fair
values will increase over time and reflect the adoption on a piecemeal basis. In the meantime,
efforts’ are in hand for the FASB and IASB to arrive at a common definition of fair value
which can be applied to value assets and liabilities where there is no market value available.
Agreeing a definition, however, is only a part of the exercise. If analysts are to be able to
compare corporate performance across borders, then it is essential that both the FASB and
the IASB agree that all companies should adopt fair value accounting — it has been proving
difficult to gain acceptance for this in the US.

This means that in the future historical cost and realisation will be regarded as less
relevant'’ and investors, analysts and management will need to come to terms with increased
volatility in reported annual performance.

Summary

The traditional HCA system reveals disturbing inadequacies in times of changing price
levels, calling into question the value of financial reports using this system. Consider-
able resources and energy have been expended in searching for a substitute model able
to counter the distortion and confusion caused by an unstable monetary unit.

Three basic models have been developed: RCA, NRVA and CPP. Each has its merits
and defects; each produces a different income value and a different capital value.
However, it is important that inflation-adjusted values be computed in order to avoid a
possible loss of entity resources and the collapse of the going concern.

The contemporary financial reporting scene is beset by problems such as the emergence
of brand accounting, the debate on accounting for goodwill, the need for more informative
revenue accounts and a sudden spate of financial scandals involving major industrial
conglomerations. These have combined to raise questions regarding the adequacy of the
annual accounts and the intrinsic validity of the auditors’ report.

In assessing future prospects, it would seem that more useful financial information is
needed. This need will be met by changes in the reporting system, which are beginning
to include some form of ‘value accounting’ as distinct from HC accounting. Such value
accounting will probably embrace inflationary adjustments to enable comparability to
be maintained, as far as possible, in an economic environment of changing prices.
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REVIEW QUESTIONS

I (a) Explain the limitations of HCA when prices are rising.

(b) Why has the HCA model survived in spite of its shortcomings in times of inflation?
2 Explain the features of the CPP model in contrast with those of the CCA model.
3 What factors should be taken into account when designing a system of accounting for inflation?
4 To what extent are CCA statements useful to an investor?
5 Compare the operating and financial capital maintenance concepts.

6 ‘Historical cost accounting is the worst possible accounting convention, until one considers the
alternatives.” Discuss this statement in relation to CPP, CCA and NRVA.

7 ‘To be relevant to investors, the profit for the year should include both realised and unrealised
gains/losses.’ Discuss.

8 Discuss the effect on setting performance bonuses for staff if financial performance for a period
contains both realised and unrealised gains/losses.

9 ‘The relevant financial performance figure for an investor is the amount available for distribution
at the statement of financial position date.” Discuss.

10 ‘Financial statements should reflect realistically the performance and position of an organisation,
but most of the accountant’s rules conflict directly with the concept of realism.” Discuss.

Explain why financial reports prepared under the historical cost convention are subject to the
following major limitations:

@ inventory is undervalued;

@ the depreciation charge to the statement of comprehensive income is understated;

@ gains and losses on net monetary assets are undisclosed;

@ statement of financial position values are understated;

@ periodic comparisons are invalidated.
12 Explain how each of the limitations in question | | could be overcome.

13 In April 2000 the G4 + | Group acknowledged that market exit value is generally regarded as the
basis for fair value measurement of financial instruments and was discussing the use of the deprival
value model for the measurement of non-financial assets or liabilities, especially in cases in which
the item is highly specialised and not easily transferable in the market in its current condition. The
deprival value model would require that an asset or liability be measured at its replacement cost,
net realisable value, or value in use, depending on the particular circumstances.

(a) Discuss reasons why financial and non-financial assets should be measured using different
bases.

(b) Explain what is meant by ‘depending on the particular circumstances’.
14 Explain the criteria for determining whether hyperinflation exists.

I5 '...the IASB’s failure to decide on a capital maintenance concept is regrettable as users have no
idea as to whether total gains represent income or capital and are therefore unable to identify a
meaningful "bottom line”"."" Discuss.
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EXERCISES

An extract from the solution is provided on the Companion Website (www.pearsoned.co.uk/elliott-
elliott) for exercises marked with an asterisk (*).

Question |

Shower Ltd was incorporated towards the end of 20X2, but it did not start trading until 20X3. Its
historical cost statement of financial position at | January 20X3 was as follows:

£
Share capital, £1 shares 2,000
Loan (interest free) 8,000
£10,000
Non-current assets, at cost 6,000
Inventory, at cost (4,000 units) 4,000
£10,000

A summary of Shower Limited's bank account for 20X3 is given below:

£ £
I Jan 20X3 Opening balance nil
30 Jun 20X3 Sales (8,000 units) 20,000
Less
29 Jun 20X3 Purchase (6,000 units) 9,000
Sundry expenses 5,000 14,000
31 Dec 20X3 Closing balance £6,000

All the company’s transactions are on a cash basis.

The non-current assets are expected to last for five years and the company intends to depreciate
its non-current assets on a straight-line basis. The non-current assets had a resale value of £2,000 at
31 December 20X<3.

Notes

I The closing inventory is 2,000 units and the inventory is sold on a first-in-first-out basis.

2 All prices remained constant from the date of incorporation to | January 20X3, but thereafter,
various relevant price indices moved as follows:

Specific indices

General price level Inventory Non-current assets
| January 20X3 100 100 100
30 June 20X3 120 150 140

31 December 20X3 240 255 200
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Required:
Produce statements of financial position as at December 20X3 and statements of comprehensive
incomes for the year ended on that date on the basis of:
(i) historical cost;
(i) current purchasing power (general price level);
(iii) replacement cost;
(iv) continuous contemporary accounting (NRVA).

Question 2

The finance director of Toy plc has been asked by a shareholder to explain items that appear in the
current cost statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31.8.20X9 and the statement of
financial position as at that date:

£ £
Historical cost profit 143,000
Cost of sales adjustment (h 10,000
Additional depreciation 2) 6,000
Monetary working capital adjustment (3) 2,500 18,500
Current cost operating profit before tax 124,500
Gearing adjustment %) 2,600
CCA operating profit 127,100
Non-current assets at gross replacement cost 428,250
Accumulated current cost depreciation (5) (95,650) 332,600
Net current assets 121,400
[2% debentures (58,000)
396,000
Issued share capital 250,000
Current cost reserve (6) 75,000
Retained earnings 71,000
396,000

Required:
(a) Explain what each of the items numbered |—6 represents and the purpose of each.
(b) What do you consider to be the benefits to users of providing current cost information?
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Question 3

The statements of financial position of Parkway plc for 20X7 and 20X8 are given below, together
with the income statement for the year ended 30 June 20X8.

Statement of financial position

20X8 20X7
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Non-current assets Cost Depn NBV Cost Depn NBV
Freehold land 60,000 — 60,000 60,000 — 60,000
Buildings 40,000 8,000 32,000 40,000 7,200 32,800
Plant and machinery 30,000 16,000 14,000 30,000 10,000 20,000
Vehicles 40,000 20,000 20,000 40,000 12,000 28,000

70,000 44,000 126,000 170,000 29,200 140,800

Current assets

Inventory 80,000 70,000
Trade receivables 60,000 40,000
Short-term investments 50,000 —
Cash at bank and in hand 5,000 5,000
195,000 15,000
Current liabilities
Trade payables 90,000 60,000
Bank overdraft 50,000 45,000
Taxation 28,000 15,000
Dividends 15,000 10,000
183,000 130,000
Net current assets 12,000 (15,000)
138,000 125,800
Financed by
Ordinary share capital 80,000 80,000
Share premium 10,000 10,000
Retained profits 28,000 15,800
118,000 105,800
Long-term loans 20,000 20,000
138,000 125,800

Statement of comprehensive income of Parkway plc
for the year ended 30 June 20X8

£000
Sales 738,000
Cost of sales 620,000

Gross profit 118,000




Accounting for price-level changes * 91

Notes

| The freehold land and buildings were purchased on | July 20X0. The company policy is to depreciate
buildings over 50 years and to provide no depreciation on land.

2 Depreciation on plant and machinery and motor vehicles is provided at the rate of 20% per
annum on a straight-line basis.

3 Depreciation on buildings and plant and equipment has been included in administration expenses,
while that on motor vehicles is included in distribution expenses.

4 The directors of Parkway plc have provided you with the following information relating to price rises:

RPI Inventory  Land  Buildings ~ Plant ~ Vehicles

| July 20X0 100 60 70 50 90 120

| July 20X7 170 140 290 145 135 180

30 June 20X8 190 180 310 175 165 175

Average for year ending 30 June 20X8 180 160 300 163 145 |77
Required:

(a) Making and stating any assumptions that are necessary, and giving reasons for those assump-
tions, calculate the monetary working capital adjustment for Parkway plc.
(b) Critically evaluate the usefulness of the monetary working capital adjustment.

Question 4

Raiders plc prepares accounts annually to 31 March. The following figures, prepared on a conventional
historical cost basis, are included in the company's accounts to 31 March 20X5.

| In the income statement:

£000 £000
(i) Cost of goods sold:
Inventory at | April 20X4 9,600
Purchases 39,200
48,800
Inventory at 31 March 20X5 ['1,300 37,500
(i) Depreciation of equipment 8,640
2 In the statement of financial position:
£000 £000
(i) Equipment at cost 57,600
Less: Accumulated depreciation 16,440 41,160
(iv) Inventory I'1,300

The inventory held on 31 March 20X4 and 31 March 20X5 was in each case purchased evenly during
the last six months of the company's accounting year.

Equipment is depreciated at a rate of 15% per annum, using the straight-line method. Equipment owned
on 31 March 20X5 was purchased as follows: on | April 20X2 at a cost of £16 million; on | April 20X3
at a cost of £20 million; and on | April 20X4 at a cost of £21.6 million.
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Current cost of inventory — Current cost of equipment — Retail Price Index

I April 20X2 109 145 313

I April 20X3 120 162 328
30 September 20X3 128 |70 339
31 December 20X3 133 |75 343
31 March/I April 20X4 138 180 345
30 September 20X4 150 191 355
31 December 20X4 156 196 360
31 March 20X5 162 200 364
Required:

(a) Calculate the following current cost accounting figures:
(i) The cost of goods sold of Raiders plc for the year ended 31 March 20XS5.
(if) The statement of financial position value of inventory at 31 March 20X5.
(iii) The equipment depreciation charge for the year ended 31 March 20X5.
(iv) The net statement of financial position value of equipment at 31 March 20X5.

(b) Discuss the extent to which the figures you have calculated in (a) above (together with figures
calculated on a similar basis for earlier years) provide information over and above that provided
by the conventional historical cost statement of comprehensive income and balance sheet figures.

(c) Outline the main reasons why the standard setters have experienced so much difficulty in their
attempts to develop an accounting standard on accounting for changing prices.

Question 5

The historical cost accounts of Smith plc are as follows:

Smith plc Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 20X8

£000 £000
Sales 2,000
Cost of sales:

Opening inventory | January 20X8 320
Purchases 1,680
2,000
Closing inventory at 31 December 20X8 280

1.720

Gross profit 280
Depreciation 20
Administration expenses _1oo

120

Net profit 160
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Statement of financial position of Smith plc as at 31 December 20X8

20X7 20X8
Non-current assets £000 £000
Land and buildings at cost |,360 |,360
Less aggregate depreciation (160) (180)
1,200 1,180
Current assets
Inventory 320 280
Trade receivables 80 |60
Cash at bank 40 120
440 560
Trade payables 200 140
240 420
1,440 [,600
Ordinary share capital 800 800
Retained profit 640 800
1,440 1,600

Notes

I Land and buildings were acquired in 20X0 with the buildings component costing £800,000 and
depreciated over 40 years.

2 Share capital was issued in 20X0.

3 Closing inventories were acquired in the last quarter of the year.
4 RPI numbers were:

Average for 20X0 120

20X7 last quarter 216

At 3| December 20X7 220

20X8 last quarter 232

Average for 20X8 228

At 31 December 20X8 236
Required:

(i) Explain the basic concept of the CPP accounting system.
(i) Prepare CPP accounts for Smith plc for the year ended 20X8.

The following steps will assist in preparing the CPP accounts:

(2) Restate the statement of comprehensive income for the current year in terms of £CPP at
the year-end.

(b) Restate the closing statement of financial position in £CPP at year-end, but excluding
monetary items, i.e. trade receivables, trade payables, cash at bank.

(c) Restate the opening statement of financial position in £CPP at year-end, but including
monetary items, i.e. trade receivables, trade payables and cash at bank, and showing equity
as the balancing figure.

(d) Compare the opening and closing equity figures derived in (b) and (c) above to arrive
at the total profit/loss for the year in CPP terms. Compare this figure with the CPP profit
calculated in (a) above to determine the monetary gain or monetary loss.

(e) Reconcile monetary gains/loss in (d) with the increase/decrease in net monetary items during
the year expressed in £CPP compared with the increase/decrease expressed in £HC.



94 - Income and asset value measurement systems

* Question 6

Aspirations Ltd commenced trading as wholesale suppliers of office equipment on | January 20XI,
issuing ordinary shares of £1 each at par in exchange for cash. The shares were fully paid on issue, the
number issued being 1,500,000.

The following financial statements, based on the historical cost concept, were compiled for 20X1.

Aspirations Ltd
Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 20X

£ £

Sales 868,425
Purchases 520,125
Less: Inventory 31 December 20X 24250
Cost of sales 495,875
Gross profit 372,550
Expenses 95,750
Depreciation 25,250

121,000
Net profit 251,550

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X

Cost Depreciation
Non-current assets £ £ £
Freehold property 650,000 6,500 643,500
Office equipment 375,000 18,750 356,250
1,025,000 25,250 999,750
Current assets
Inventories 24250
Trade receivables 253,500
Cash 1,090,300
1,368,050
Current liabilities 116,250
1,251,800
Non-current liabilities 500,000 751,800
1,751,550
Issued share capital
1,500,000 £1 ordinary shares 1,500,000
Retained earnings 251,550

1,751,550
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The year 20X witnessed a surge of inflation and in consequence the directors became concerned
about the validity of the revenue account and statement of financial position as income and capital
statements. Index numbers reflecting price changes were:

Specific index numbers reflecting replacement costs

| January 20X 31 December 20X Average for 20X

Inventory 15 150 130
Freehold property 10 165 127
Office equipment 125 I55 145
General price index numbers 135 170 I55

Regarding current exit costs
Inventory is anticipated to sell at a profit of 75% of cost.

The value of assets at 31 December 20X was

£
Freehold property 640,000
Office equipment 350,000

Initial purchases of inventory were effected on | January 20X| amounting to £34,375; the balance of
purchases was evenly spread over the |2-month period. The non-current assets were acquired on
| January 20X1 and, together with the initial inventory, were paid for in cash on that day.

Required:

Prepare the accounts adjusted for current values using each of the three proposed models of current
value accounting: namely, the accounting methods known as replacement cost, general (or current)
purchasing power and net realisable value.

Question 7

Antonio Rossi set up a part-time business on | November 2004 buying and selling second-hand sports
cars. On | November 2004 he commenced business with $66,000 which he immediately used to
purchase ten identical sports cars costing $6,600 each, paying in cash. On | May 2005 he sold seven
of the sports cars for $8,800 each receiving the cash immediately. Antonio estimates that the net
realisable value of each sports car remaining unsold was $8,640 as at 31 October 2005.

The replacement cost of similar sports cars was $6,800 as at | May 2005 and $7,000 as at 31 October
2005, and the value of a relevant general price index was 150 as at | November 2004, 155 as at
I May 2005 and 159 as at 31 October 2005.

Antonio paid the proceeds from the sales on | May 2005 into a special bank account for the business
and made no drawings and incurred no expenses over the year ending 31 October 2005.

Antonio’s accountant has told him that there are different ways of calculating profit and financial
position and has produced the following figures:
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Current purchasing power accounting Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 October 2005

$
Sales 63,190
less Cost of sales 48,972
14218
Loss on monetary item (1,590)
CPP net income 12,628

Balance sheet as at 31 October 2005

Assets $

Inventory 20,988

Cash 61,600
82,588

Financed by:

Opening capital 69,960

Profit for the year 12,628
82,588

Current cost accounting Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 October 2005

Historical cost profit 15,400
less Cost of sales adjustment [,400
Current cost income 14,000

Balance sheet as at 31 October 2005

Asset $
Inventory 21,000
Cash 61,600
82,600
Financed by:
Opening capital 66,000
Current cost reserve 2,600
Profit for the year 14,000
82,600
Required:

(a) Prepare Antonio’s historical cost profit and loss account for the year ended 3| October 2005
and his balance sheet as at 31 October 2005.
(b) (i) Explain how the figures for Sales and Cost of sales were calculated for the current purchas-
ing power profit and loss account. You need not provide detailed calculations.
(ii) Explain what the ‘loss on monetary item’ means. In what circumstances would there be a
profit on monetary items?
(c) (i) Explain how the ‘cost of sales adjustment’ was calculated and what it means. You need not
provide detailed calculations.
(i) Identify and explain the purpose of any three other adjustments which you might expect
to see in a current cost profit and loss account prepared in this way.
(d) State, giving your reasons, which of the three bases gives the best measure of Antonio’s
financial performance and financial position.
(The Association of International Accountants)
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PART 2

Regulatory framework -
an attempt to achieve
uniformity



CHAPTER 5

Financial reporting — evolution of
global standards

5.1 Introduction

The main purpose of this chapter is to describe the movement towards global standards.

Objectives

By the end of the chapter, you should be able to:

@ describe the UK, US and IASB standard setting bodies;

o critically discuss the arguments for and against standards;

@ describe the reasons for differences in financial reporting;

@ describe the work of international bodies in harmonising and standardising
financial reporting;

® explain the impact on financial reporting of changing to IFRS;

@ describe the progress being made towards a single set of global international
standards;

® describe and comment on the ASB approach to financial reporting by smaller
entities;

® describe and comment on the IASB approach to financial reporting by small and
medium-sized entities.

5.2 Why do we need financial reporting standards?

Standards are needed because accounting numbers are important when defining contractual
entitlements. Contracting parties frequently define the rights between themselves in terms
of accounting numbers.! For example, the remuneration of directors and managers might
be expressed in terms of a salary plus a bonus based on an agreed performance measure,
e.g. Johnson Matthey’s 2009 Annual Report states:

Annual Bonus — which is paid as a percentage of basic salary under the terms of the
company’s Executive Compensation Plan (which also applies to the group’s 170 or so
most senior executives). The executive directors’ bonus award is based on consolidated
underlying profit before tax (PBT) compared with the annual budget. The board of
directors rigorously reviews the annual budget to ensure that the budgeted PBT is
sufficiently stretching.

An annual bonus payment of 50% of basic salary (prevailing at 31st March) is paid if
the group meets the annual budget. This bonus may rise on a straight line basis to 75%
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of basic salary if the group achieves PBT of 105% of budget and a maximum 100% of
basic salary may be paid if 110% of budgeted PBT is achieved. PBT must reach 95%
of budget for a minimum bonus of 15% to be payable. The Committee has discretion to
vary the awards made.

However, there is a risk of irresponsible behaviour by directors and managers if it appears
that earnings will not meet performance targets. They might be tempted to adopt measures
that increase the PBT but which are not in the best interest of the shareholders.

This risk is specifically addressed in the Johnson Matthey Annual Report as shown in the
following extract:

The Committee has discretion in awarding annual bonuses and is able to consider
corporate performance on environmental, social and governance issues when awards

are made to executive directors. The Committee ensures that the incentive structure for
senior management does not raise environmental, social and governance risks by
inadvertently motivating irresponsible behaviour.

This would not preclude companies from taking typical steps such as deferring discretionary
expenditure, e.g. research, advertising, training expenditure; deferring amortisation,
e.g. making optimistic sales projections in order to classify research as development
expenditure which can be capitalised; and reclassifying deteriorating current assets as
non-current assets to avoid the need to recognise a loss under the lower of cost and net
realisable value rule applicable to current assets.

The introduction of a mandatory standard that changes management’s ability to adopt such
measures affects wealth distribution within the firm. For example, if managers are unable
to delay the amortisation of development expenditure, then bonuses related to profit will be
lower and there will effectively have been a transfer of wealth from managers to shareholders.

5.3 Why do we need standards to be mandatory?

5.3.1

Mandatory standards are needed, therefore, to define the way in which accounting numbers
are presented in financial statements, so that their measurement and presentation are less
subjective. It had been thought that the accountancy profession could obtain uniformity
of disclosure by persuasion but, in reality, the profession found it difficult to resist
management pressures.

During the 1960s the financial sector of the UK economy lost confidence in the accoun-
tancy profession when internationally known UK-based companies were seen to have
published financial data that were materially incorrect. Shareholders are normally unaware
that this occurs and it tends only to become public knowledge in restricted circumstances,
e.g. when a third party has a vested interest in revealing adverse facts following a takeover,
or when a company falls into the hands of an administrator, inspector or liquidator, whose
duty it is to enquire and report on shortcomings in the management of a company.

Two scandals which disturbed the public at the time, GEC/AFEI and Pergamon Press,?
were both made public in the restricted circumstances referred to above, when financial
reports prepared from the same basic information disclosed a materially different picture.

GEC takeover of AEl in 1967

The first calamity for the profession involved GEC Ltd in its takeover bid for AEI L.td when
the pre-takeover accounts prepared by the old AEI directors differed materially from the
post-takeover accounts prepared by the new AEI directors.
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AEI profit forecast for 1967 as determined by the old AEI directors

AEI Ltd produced a profit forecast of £10 million in November 1967 and recommended
its shareholders to reject the GEC bid. The forecast had the blessing of the auditors, in as
much as they said that it had been prepared on a fair and reasonable basis and in a manner
consistent with the principles followed in preparing the annual accounts. The investing
public would normally have been quite satisfied with the forecast figure and the process
by which it was produced. Clearly, AEI would not subsequently have produced other
information to show that the picture was materially different from that forecast.

However, GEC was successful with its bid and as a result it was GEC’s directors who had
control over the preparation of the AEI accounts for 1967.

AEI profit for 1967 as determined by the new AEI directors

Under the control of the directors of GEC the accounts of AEI were produced for 1967
showing a loss of £4.5 million. Unfortunately, this was from basic information that was
largely the same as that used by AEI when producing its profit forecast.

There can be two reasons for the difference between the figures produced. Either the facts
have changed or the judgements made by the directors have changed. In this case, it seems
there was a change in the facts to the extent of a post-acquisition closure of an AEI factory;
this explained £5 million of the £14.5 million difference between the forecast profit and the
actual loss. The remaining £9.5 million arose because of differences in judgement. For
example, the new directors took a different view of the value of stock and work-in-progress.

Pergamon Press

Audited accounts were produced by Pergamon Press Litd for 1968 showing a profit of
approximately £2 million.

An independent investigation by Price Waterhouse suggested that this profit should
be reduced by 75% because of a number of unacceptable valuations, e.g. there had been
a failure to reduce certain stock to the lower of cost and net realisable value, and there
had been a change in policy on the capitalisation of printing costs of back issues of scientific
journals — they were treated as a cost of closing stock in 1968, but not as a cost of opening

stock in 1968.

Public view of the accounting profession following these cases

It had long been recognised that accountancy is not an exact science, but it had not been
appreciated just how much latitude there was for companies to produce vastly different
results based on the same transactions. Given that the auditors were perfectly happy to sign
that accounts showing either a £10 million profit or a £4.5 million loss were true and fair,
the public felt the need for action if investors were to have any trust in the figures that were
being published.

The difficulty was that each firm of accountants tended to rely on precedents within its
own firm in deciding what was true and fair. This is fine until the public becomes aware that
profits depend on the particular firm or partner who happens to be responsible for the audit.
The auditors were also under pressure to agree to practices that the directors wanted
because there were no professional mandatory standards.

This was the scenario that galvanised the City press and the investing public. An
embarrassed, disturbed profession announced in 1969, via the ICAEW, that there was a
majority view supporting the introduction of Statements of Standard Accounting Practice
to supplement the legislation.
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5.4 Arguments in support of standards

The setting of standards has both supporters and opponents. In this section we discuss
credibility, discipline and comparability.

Credibility

The accountancy profession would lose all credibility if it permitted companies experiencing
similar events to produce financial reports that disclosed markedly different results simply
because they could select different accounting policies. Uniformity was seen as essential if
financial reports were to disclose a true and fair view. However, it has been a continuing
view in the UK that standards should not be a comprehensive code of rigid rules — they were
not to supersede the exercise of informed judgement in determining what constituted a true
and fair view in each circumstance.

Discipline

It could be argued that if companies were left to their own devices without the need to
observe standards, they would eventually be disciplined by the financial market, for
example, an incorrect capitalisation of research expenditure as development would eventually
become apparent when sales growth was not as expected by the market. However, this could
take a long time. Better to have mandatory standards in place to protect those who rely on
the annual accounts when making credit, loan and investment decisions.

Directors are under pressure to maintain and improve the market valuation of their
company’s securities. There is a temptation, therefore, to influence any financial statistic
that has an impact on the market valuation, such as the trend in the earnings per share (EPS)
figure, the net asset backing for the shares or the gearing ratios which show the level of
borrowing.

This is an ever-present risk and the Financial Reporting Council showed awareness of the
need to impose discipline when it stated in its annual review, November 1991, para. 2.4, that
the high level of company failures in the then recession, some of which were associated with
obscure financial reporting, damaged confidence in the high standard of reporting by the
majority of companies.

Comparability

In addition to financial statements allowing investors to evaluate the management’s perform-
ance 1i.e. their stewardship, they should also allow investors to make predictions of future
cash flows and comparisons with other companies.

In order to be able to make valid inter-company comparisons of performance and trends,
investors need relevant and reliable data that have been standardised. If companies were to
continue to apply different accounting policies to identical commercial activities, innocently
or with the deliberate intention of disguising bad news, then investors could be misled in
making their investment decisions.

5.5 Arguments against standards

We have so far discussed the arguments in support of standard setting. However, there are
also arguments against. These are consensus-seeking and overload.
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Consensus-seeking

Consensus-seeking can lead to the issuing of standards that are over-influenced by those
with easiest access to the standard setters — particularly as the subject matter becomes more
complex, as with e.g. capital instruments.

Overload

Standard overload is not a new charge. However, it takes a number of conflicting forms, e.g.:

® There are too many/too few standards.
® Standards are too detailed/not sufficiently detailed.

@ Standards are general-purpose and fail to recognise the differences between large and
small entities and interim and final accounts.

® There are too many standard setters with differing requirements, e.g. FASB, IASB, ASB,
and national Stock Exchange listing requirements.

5.6 Standard setting and enforcement in the UK under the Financial
Reporting Council (FRC)

The FRC was set up in 1990 as an independent regulator to set and enforce accounting
standards. It operated through the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) and the Financial
Reporting Review Panel (FRRP) to encourage high-quality financial reporting. Due to its
success in doing this, the government decided, following corporate disasters such as Enron
in the USA, to give it a more proactive role from 2004 onwards in the areas of corporate
governance, compliance with statutes and accounting and auditing standards.

The FRC structure has evolved to meet changing needs. This is illustrated by two recent
changes. For example, its implementation of the recommendation of the Morris Review® in
2005 that the FRC should oversee the regulation of the actuarial profession by creating the
Board for Actuarial Standards and then by its restructuring of its own Council and Main Board
by merging the two into a single body to make the FRC more effective with regard to strategy.

The FRC’s structure in 2009 is shown in Figure 5.1.

Figure 5.1 The Financial Reporting Council organisation chart
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5.7 The Accounting Standards Board (ASB)

5.7.1

5.7.2

The ASB issues mandatory standards (SSAPs and FRSs), confirms that SORPs are not in
conflict with its mandatory standards and issues statements of best practice (such as those
on OFR and Interim Reports).

SSAPs and FRSs

There are a number of extant standards relating to each of the financial statements. For
example, there are standards relating to the measurement and disclosure of assets in the
statement of financial position covering goodwill, research and development, tangible non-
current assets and inventories and of liabilities covering deferred tax, current tax and
pension liabilities.

A full list of current standards is available on the FRC website http:/www.frc.org.uk/
asb/technical/standards.cfm

Statements of Recommended Practice (SORPs)

SORPs are produced for specialised industries or sectors to supplement accounting stand-
ards and are checked by the Financial Sector and Other Special Industries Committee and
the Committee on Accounting for Public-benefit Entities to ensure that they are not in
conflict with current or future FRSs.

There are SORPs issued by specialised industry bodies such as the Oil Industry
Accounting Committee and the Association of British Insurers and by not-for-profit bodies
such as the Charity Commission and Universities UK.

5.8 The Financial Reporting Review Panel (FRRP)

The FRRP has a policing role with responsibility for overseeing some 2,500 companies. It
is completely independent of the ASB. It has a solicitor as chairman and the other members
include accountants, bankers and lawyers. Its role is to review material departures from
accounting standards and, where financial statements are defective, to require the company
to take appropriate remedial action. Where it makes such a requirement, it issues a public
statement of its findings. It has the right to apply to the court to make companies comply
but it prefers to deal with defects by agreement.

The FRRP cannot create standards. If a company has used an inappropriate accounting
policy that contravenes a standard, the FRRP can act. If there is no standard and a company
chooses the most favourable from two or more accounting policies, the FRRP cannot act.

A research study into companies that have been the subject of a public statement
suggests that when a firm’s performance comes under severe strain, even apparently well-
governed firms can succumb to the pressure for creative accounting, and that good
governance alone is not a sufficient condition for ensuring high-quality financial reporting.
The researchers compared these companies with a control group and a further interesting
finding was that there were fewer Big Five auditors in the FRRP population — the
researchers commented that this could be interpreted in different ways, e.g. it could be an
indication that the Panel prefers to avoid confrontation with the large audit firms because of
an increased risk of losing the case or a reflection of the fact that these audit firms are better
at managing the politics of the investigation process and negotiating a resolution that does
not lead to a public censure.
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Criticism of the FRRP for being reactive

The FRRP has, since its establishment in 1988, been a reactive body responding to issues
appearing in individual sets of accounts to which it is alerted by public or specific complaint.
This led to the criticism that the FRRP was not addressing significant financial reporting
issues and was simply dealing with disclosure matters that had readily been detected. The
Panel consequently commissioned a pilot study in 2000 which reviewed selected companies
for non-compliance. The pilot study revealed no major incidents of non-compliance and in
November 2001 the FRRP decided that a proactive approach was unnecessary.

Investor pressure for a more proactive stance

However, regulatory bodies have to be responsive to a material change in investor attitudes
and act if there is likely to be a loss of confidence in financial reports which could damage
the capital markets. Such a loss of confidence arose following the US accounting scandals
such as Enron. Regulators could no longer be simply reactive even though there had been
no evidence in the UK of material non-compliance.

Proactive stance — European initiative

The Committee of European Securities Regulators (CESR), at the request of the Furopean
Commission, has developed proposals which would require enforcement bodies to take a
proactive approach. In its Proposed Statement of Principles of Enforcement of Accounting
Standards in Europe issued in 2002, it proposed that there should be a selection of companies
and documents to be examined using a risk-based approach or a mixed model where a risk-
based approach is combined with a rotation and/or a sampling approach — a pure rotation
approach or a pure reactive approach would not be acceptable.’

Proactive stance — UK initiative

The Coordinating Group on Accounting and Auditing Issues recommended in its Final
Report in 2003 that the FRRP should press ahead urgently with developing a proactive
element to its work.®

The FRRP response to the new requirement for a proactive approach

The Panel proposed that there should be:

@ a stepped implementation with a minimum of 300 accounts being reviewed from 2004,

o the development of a risk-based approach to the selection of published accounts taking
account of the risk that a particular set of accounts will not give a true and fair view of
market stability and investor confidence.

Reviews should comprise an initial desk-check of selected risk areas or whole sets of
accounts followed, where appropriate, with correspondence to chairpersons.

Whilst adopting a proactive approach, the FRRP has raised concerns that stakeholders
might have a false expectation that the Panel is providing a guarantee that financial state-
ments are true and fair, stressing that no system of enforcement can or should guarantee the
integrity of a financial reporting regime.

The Financial Reporting Review Panel Activity Report

The Panel reported in its 2008 Report that it had reviewed 300 sets of accounts, been
approached by 138 companies for further information or explanation and 88 companies had
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undertaken to reflect the Panel’s comments in their future reporting. Most of this occurred
pre-June 2007, before the dislocation in the markets.

Since June 2007, there have been major uncertainties that affect management’s estimates
of assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position and the amount of revenue
to recognise in the Statement of Comprehensive Income where measurement may be
unreliable.

The Panel continues to take a consensual approach but it is important that directors, if
they are to reduce the risk of Panel questioning, are transparent about specific risks and
uncertainties that their companies are likely to experience.

The FRRP has announced (FRRP PN 123) the sectors on which it will be focusing in
2010/11. These are Commercial property, Advertising, Recruitment, Media and Information
technology. These sectors have been selected because, as companies come out of recession
and experience possible cash flow difficulties, discretionary spending might be reduced
or delayed. The FRRP is planning to pay particular attention to the accounts of those
companies which appear to apply aggressive policies compared with their peers.

5.9 Standard setting and enforcement in the US

5.9.1

5.9.2

Reporting standards are set by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FFASB) and
enforced by the Securities Exchange Commission.

Standard setting by the FASB and other bodies

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) is responsible for setting accounting
standards in the USA. The FASB is financed by a compulsory levy on public companies,
which should ensure its independence. (The previous system of voluntary contributions ran
the risk of major donors trying to exert undue influence on the Board.) FASB issues the
following documents:

® Statements of Financial Accounting Standards, which deal with specific issues;
e Statements of Concepts, which give general information;

@ Interpretations, which clarify existing standards.

There are other mandatory pronouncements from the Emerging Issues Task Force, the
Accounting Principles Board (APB) which publishes Opinions and the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) which publishes Accounting Practice Bulletins
and Opinions.

Enforcement by the SEC

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) is responsible for requiring the pub-
lication of financial information for the benefit of shareholders. It has the power to dictate
the form and content of these reports. The largest companies whose shares are listed must
register with the SEC and comply with its regulations. The SEC monitors financial reports
filed in great detail and makes useful information available to the public via its website
(www.sec.gov). However, it is important to note that the majority of companies fall outside
of the SEC’s jurisdiction.
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5.10 Why have there been differences in financial reporting?

5.10.1

Although there have been national standard-setting bodies, this has not resulted in uniform
standards. A number of attempts have been made to identify reasons for differences in
financial reporting.” The issue is far from clear but most writers agree that the following are
among the main factors influencing the development of financial reporting:

the character of the national legal system;

the way in which industry is financed;

the relationship of the tax and reporting systems;

the influence and status of the accounting profession;

the extent to which accounting theory is developed,;

accidents of history;

language.

We will consider the effect of each of these.

The character of the national legal system

There are two major legal systems, that based on common law and that based on Roman
law. It is important to recognise this because the legal systems influence the way in which
behaviour in a country, including accounting and financial reporting, is regulated.

Countries with a legal system based on common law include England and Wales, Ireland,
the USA, Australia, Canada and New Zealand. These countries rely on the application of
equity to specific cases rather than a set of detailed rules to be applied in all cases. The effect
in the UK as far as financial reporting was concerned, was that there was limited legislation
regulating the form and content of financial statements until the government was required
to implement the EC Fourth Directive. The directive was implemented in the UK by the
passing of the Companies Act 1981 and this can be seen as a watershed because it was the
first time that the layout of company accounts had been prescribed by statute in England
and Wales.

English common law heritage was accommodated within the legislation by the provision
that the detailed regulations of the Act should not be applied if, in the judgement of the
directors, strict adherence to the Act would result in financial statements that did not
present a true and fair view.

Countries with a legal system based on Roman law include France, Germany and
Japan. These countries rely on the codification of detailed rules, which are often included
within their companies legislation. The result is that there is less flexibility in the pre-
paration of financial reports in those countries. They are less inclined to look to fine
distinctions to justify different reporting treatments, which is inherent in the common law
approach.

However, it is not just that common law countries have fewer codified laws than Roman
law countries. There is a fundamental difference in the way in which the reporting of com-
mercial transactions is approached. In the common law countries there is an established
practice of creative compliance. By this we mean that the spirit of the law is elusive® and
management is more inclined to act with creative compliance in order to escape effective
legal control. By creative compliance we mean that management complies with the form of
the regulation but in a way that might be against its spirit, e.g. structuring leasing agree-
ments in the most acceptable way for financial reporting purposes.
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5.10.2 The way in which industry is financed

Accountancy is the art of communicating relevant financial information about a business
entity to users. One of the considerations to take into account when deciding what is relevant
is the way in which the business has been financed, e.g. the information needs of equity
investors will be different from those of loan creditors. This is one factor responsible for
international financial reporting differences because the predominant provider of capital is
different in different countries.’” Figure 5.2 makes a simple comparison between domestic
equity market capitalisation and Gross Domestic Product (GDP).'” The higher the ratio,
the greater the importance of the equity market compared with loan finance.

We see that in the USA companies rely more heavily on individual investors to provide
finance than in Europe or Japan. An active stock exchange has developed to allow share-
holders to liquidate their investments. A system of financial reporting has evolved to satisfy
a stewardship need where prudence and conservatism predominate, and to meet the capital
market need for fair information'' which allows interested parties to deal on an equal footing
where the accruals concept and the doctrine of substance over form predominate. It is
important to note that whilst equity has gained importance in all areas over the past ten years
European statistics are averages that do not fully reflect the variation in sources of finance
used between, say, the UK (equity investment is very important) and Germany (lending is
more important). These could be important factors in the development of accounting.

In France and Germany, as well as equity investment having a lower profile historically,
there is also a significant difference in the way in which shares are registered and transferred.
In the UK, individual shareholders are entered onto the company’s Register of Members.
In France and Germany, many shares are bearer shares, which means that they are not
registered in the individual investor’s name but are deposited with a bank that has the
authority to exercise a proxy. It could perhaps appear at first glance that the banks have

Figure 5.2 Domestic equity market capitalisation/gross domestic product
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undue influence, but they state that, in the case of proxy votes, shareholders are at liberty
to cast their votes as they see fit and not to follow the recommendations of the bank.'? In
addition to their control over proxy votes, the Big Three German banks, the Deutsche Bank,
the Dresdner Bank and the Commerzbank, also have significant direct equity holdings, e.g.
in 1992 the Deutsche Bank had a direct holding of 28% in Daimler Benz.'

There was an investigation carried out in the 1970s by the Gessler Commission into
the ties between the Big Three and large West German manufacturing companies. The
Commission established that the banks’ power lay in the combination of the proxy votes, the
tradition of the house bank which kept a company linked to one principal lender, the size of
the banks’ direct equity holdings and their representation on company supervisory boards.'*

In practice, therefore, the banks are effectively both principal lenders and shareholders in
Germany. As principal lenders they receive internal information such as cash flow forecasts
which, as a result, is also available to them in their role as nominee shareholders. We are not
concerned here with questions such as conflict of interest and criticisms that the banks are
able to exert undue influence. Our interest is purely in the financial reporting implications,
which are that the banks have sufficient power to obtain all of the information they require
without reliance on the annual accounts. Published disclosures are far less relevant than in,
say, the UK.

During the 1990s there was a growth in the UK and the USA of institutional investors,
such as pension funds, which form an ever-increasing proportion of registered shareholders.
In theory, the information needs of these institutional investors should be the same as those
of individual investors. However, in practice, they might be in a position to obtain infor-
mation by direct access to management and the directors. One effect of this might be that
they will become less interested in seeking disclosures in the financial statements — they will
have already picked up the significant information at an informal level.

The relationship of the tax and reporting systems

In the UK separate rules have evolved for computing profit for tax and computing profit for
financial reporting purposes in a number of areas. The legislation for tax purposes tends to
be more prescriptive, e.g. there is a defined rate for capital allowances on fixed assets, which
means that the reduction in value of fixed assets for tax purposes is decided by the govern-
ment. The financial reporting environment is less prescriptive but this is compensated for
by requiring greater disclosure. For example, there is no defined rate for depreciating fixed
assets but there is a requirement for companies to state their depreciation accounting policy.
Similar systems have evolved in the USA and the Netherlands.

However, certain countries give primacy to taxation rules and will only allow expenditure
for tax purposes if it is given the same treatment in the financial accounts. In France and
Germany, the tax rules effectively become the accounting rules for the accounts of indi-
vidual companies, although the tax influence might be less apparent in consolidated financial
statements.

This can lead to difficulties of interpretation, particularly when capital allowances, i.e.
depreciation for tax purposes, are changed to secure public policy objectives such as encourag-
ing investment in fixed assets by permitting accelerated write-off when assessing taxable
profits. In fact, the depreciation charge against profit would be said by a UK accountant not
to be fair, even though it could certainly be legal or correct."

Depreciation has been discussed to illustrate the possibility of misinterpretation because
of the different status and effect of tax rules on annual accounts. Other items that require
careful consideration include inventory valuations, bad debt provisions, development expendi-
ture and revaluation of non-current assets. There might also be public policy arrangements
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5.10.4

5.10.5

5.10.6

that are unique to a single country, e.g. the existence of special reserves to reduce taxable
profits was common in Scandinavia. It has recently been suggested that level of connection
between tax and financial reporting follows a predictable pattern.!®

The influence and status of the accounting profession

The development of a capital market for dealing in shares created a need for reliable,
relevant and timely financial information. Legislation was introduced in many countries
requiring companies to prepare annual accounts and have them audited. This resulted in the
growth of an established and respected accounting profession able to produce relevant
reports and attest to their reliability by performing an audit.

In turn, the existence of a strong profession had an impact on the development of
accounting regulations. It is the profession that has been responsible for the promulgation
of accounting standards and recommendations in a number of countries, such as the UK,
the USA, Australia, Canada and the Netherlands.

In countries where there has not been the same need to provide market-sensitive
information, e.g. in Eastern Europe in the 1980s, accountants have been seen purely as
bookkeepers and have been accorded a low status. This explains the lack of expertise among
financial accountants. There was also a lack of demand for financial management skills
because production targets were set centrally without the emphasis for maximising the use
of scarce resources at the business entity level. The attributes that are valued in a market
economy such as the exercise of judgement and the determination of relevant information
were not required. This position has changed rapidly and there has been a growth in the
training, professionalism and contribution for both financial and management accountants
as these economies become market economies.

The extent to which accounting theory is developed

Accounting theory can influence accounting practice. Theory can be developed at both an
academic and professional level, but for it to take root it must be accepted by the profession.
For example, in the UK, theories such as current purchasing power and current cost
accounting first surfaced in the academic world and there were many practising accountants
who regarded them then and still regard them now, as academic.

In the Netherlands, professional accountants receive academic accountancy training as
well as the vocational accountancy training that is typical in the UK. Perhaps as a result of
that, there is less reluctance on the part of the profession to view academics as isolated from
the real world. This might go some way to explaining why it was in the Netherlands that we
saw general acceptance by the profession for the idea that for information to be relevant it
needed to be based on current value accounting. Largely as a result of pressure from the
Netherlands, the Fourth Directive contained provisions that allowed member states to
introduce inflation accounting systems.'”

Attempts have been made to formulate a conceptual framework for financial reporting
in countries such as the UK, the USA, Canada and Australia,'® and the International
Standards Committee has also contributed to this field. One of the results has been the
closer collaboration between the regulatory bodies, which might assist in reducing differ-
ences in underlying principles in the longer term.

Accidents of history

The development of accounting systems is often allied to the political history of a country.
Scandals surrounding company failures, notably in the USA in the 1920s and 1930s and in
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the UK in the 1960s and 1980s, had a marked impact on financial reporting in those countries.
In the USA the Securities and Exchange Commission was established to control listed com-
panies, with responsibility to ensure adequate disclosure in annual accounts. Ever-increasing
control over the form and content of financial statements through improvements in the
accounting standard-setting process has evolved from the difficulties that arose in the UK.

International boundaries have also been crossed in the evolution of accounting. In some
instances it has been a question of pooling of resources to avoid repeating work already
carried out elsewhere, e.g. the Norwegians studied the report of the Dearing Committee
in the UK before setting up their new accounting standard-setting system in the 1980s."
Other changes in nations’ accounting practices have been a result of external pressure, e.g.
Spain’s membership of the European Community led to radical changes in accounting,?
while the Germans influenced accounting in the countries they occupied during the Second
World War.?! Such accidents of history have changed the course of accounting and reduced
the clarity of distinctions between countries.

Language

Language has often played an important role in the development of different methods
of accounting for similar items. Certain nationalities are notorious for speaking only their
own language, which has prevented them from benefiting from the wisdom of other nations.
There is also the difficulty of translating concepts as well as phrases, where one country has
influenced another.

5.11 Efforts to standardise financial reports

5.11.1

Both the European Union (EU) and the International Accounting Standards Board have
been active in seeking to standardise financial reports.

The European Union?

The European Economic Community was established by the Treaty of Rome in 1957 to
promote the free movement of goods, services, people and capital. It was renamed in 1993
the European Union (the EU).

A major aim has been to create a single financial market that requires access by investors
to financial reports which have been prepared using common financial reporting standards.
The initial steps were the issue of accounting directives — these were the Fourth Directive,
the Seventh Directive and the Eighth Directive.

The Fourth Directive — this prescribed the information to be published by individual
companies:

@ annual accounts comprising a profit and loss account and statement of financial position
with supporting notes to the accounts;

a choice of formats, e.g. vertical or horizontal presentation;

the assets and liabilities to be disclosed;

the valuation rules to be followed, e.g. historical cost accounting;

the general principles underlying the valuations, e.g. prudence to avoid overstating asset
values and understating liabilities, and consistency to allow for inter-period comparisons;

@ various additional information such as research and development activity and any material
events that have occurred after the end of the financial year.
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5.11.2

The directive needs to be routinely updated to reflect changing commercial conditions, e.g.
additional provisions relating to the reporting of off-balance sheet commitments.
The Seventh Directive requires:

@ the consolidation of subsidiary undertakings across national borders, i.e. world-wide;
@ uniform accounting policies to be followed by all members of the group;

@ the elimination of the effect of inter-group transactions, e.g. eliminating inter-company
profit and cancelling inter-company debt;

@ the use of the formats prescribed in the Fourth Directive adjusted for the treatment of
minority interests.

The Eighth Directive issued in 1984 defined the qualifications of persons responsible
for carrying out the statutory audits of the accounting documents required by the Fourth
and Seventh Directives.

Just as the Fourth and Seventh Directives have been updated to reflect changing com-
mercial practices, so the Eighth Directive has required updating. In the case of the Eighth
Directive the need has been to restore investor confidence in the financial reporting system
following the financial scandals in the US with Enron and in the EU with Parmalat.

The amended directive requires:

@ independent audit committees to have one financial expert as a member;
@ audit committees to recommend an auditor for shareholder approval;

@ audit partners to be rotated every seven years;

® public oversight to ensure quality audits;

o the group auditor bears full responsibility for the audit report even where other audit
firms may have audited subsidiaries around the world.

It clarifies the duties and ethics of statutory auditors but has not prohibited auditors from
carrying out consultancy work which some strongly criticise on the grounds that it com-
promises the independence of auditors.

The International Accounting Standards Board

The International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) was established in 1973 by the
professional accounting bodies of Australia, Canada, France, Germany, Japan, Mexico, the
Netherlands, the UK, Ireland and the USA.

The TASC was restructured, following a review between 1998 and 2000, to give an
improved balance between geographical representation, technical competence and inde-
pendence.”® The nineteen trustees of the IASC represent a range of geographical and
professional interests and are responsible for raising the organisation’s funds and appointing
the members of the Board and the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC). The
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has responsibility for all technical
matters including the preparation and implementation of standards. The IASB website
(www.iasb.org.uk) explains that:

The TASB is committed to developing, in the public interest, a single set of high
quality, understandable and enforceable global accounting standards that require
transparent and comparable information in general purpose financial statements.
In addition, the TASB co-operates with national accounting standard-setters to
achieve convergence in accounting standards around the world.
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The TASB adopted all current IASs and began issuing its own standards, International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The body of IASs, IFRSs and associated inter-
pretations are referred to collectively as ‘IFRS’.

The process of producing a new IFRS is similar to the processes of some national
accounting standard setters. Once a need for a new (or revised) standard has been identified,
a steering committee is set up to identify the relevant issues and draft the standard. Drafts
are produced at varying stages and are exposed to public scrutiny. Subsequent drafts take
account of comments obtained during the exposure period. The final standard is approved
by the Board and an effective date agreed. IFRS currently in effect are referred to
throughout the rest of this book. The IASC also issued a Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements.** This continues to assist in the development of
accounting standards and improve harmonisation by providing a basis for reducing the
number of accounting treatments permitted by IFRS. Translations of IFRS have been
prepared and published, making the standards available to a wide audience, and the TASB
has a mechanism to issue interpretations of the standards.

It is interesting to see how by 2009 more than 100 jurisdictions have permitted or man-
dated the use of IFRS and the process is continuing throughout the world.

Position in the EU

The EU recognised that the Accounting Directives which provided accounting rules for
limited liability companies were not, in themselves, sufficient to meet the needs of
companies raising capital on the international securities markets. There was a need for more
detailed standards so that investors could have adequate and transparent disclosures that
would allow them to assess risks and opportunities and make inter-company comparisons —
standards that would result in annual reports giving a fair view.

The IASB is the body that produces such standards and from 2005 the EU required” the
consolidated accounts of all listed companies to comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards. However, to give the IFRS legal force within the EU, each IFRS has
to be endorsed by the EU.

Position in non-EU countries

The role of IFRSs in the following non-EU countries is:

® Australia — issues IFRSs as national equivalents.

o Canada — plans to adopt IFRSs as Canadian Financial Reporting Standards, effective 2011.
o China — all listed companies in China must comply with IFRS from 1 January 2007.

@ India — plans to adopt IFRSs as Indian Financial Reporting Standards, effective 2011.

® Japan —in 2005 the Accounting Standards Board of Japan (ASB]J) and the IASB launched
a joint project to establish convergence between Japanese GAAP and IFRS with full con-
vergence to be achieved by 2011. It is important to recognise that existing Japanese GAAP
financial statements are of a high standard with many issuers listed on international
exchanges. The effect of convergence will give an additional advantage of being more
comparable to other listed companies using global standards.

® Malaysia — plans to bring Malaysian GAAP into full convergence with IFRSs, effective
1 January 2012.

® New Zealand — issues IFRSs as national equivalents.

® Singapore — the Accounting Standards Council is empowered to prescribe accounting
standards and the broad policy intention is to adopt IFRS after considering whether any
modifications are required.
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It is important to note that if a company wishes to describe its financial statements
as complying with IFRS, TAS 1 requires the financial statements to comply with all the
requirements of each applicable standard and each applicable interpretation. This clearly
outlaws the practice of ‘IAS-lite’ reporting, observed in the 1990s, where companies claimed
compliance with IASs while neglecting some of their more onerous requirements.

Extant IFRS are as follows:

TAS 1 Presentation of financial statements

IAS 2 Inventories

TAS 7 Statement of cash flows

TAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors
IAS 10 Events after the reporting period

IAS 11  Construction contracts

TAS 12 Income taxes

IAS 16  Property, plant and equipment

TAS 17 Leases

TAS 18 Revenue

IAS 19 Employee benefits

TAS 20 Accounting for government grants and disclosure of government assistance
IAS 21 The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates

IAS 23 Borrowing costs

IAS 24  Related party disclosures

TAS 26  Accounting and reporting by retirement benefit plans

TAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial statements

IAS 28 Investments in associates

TAS 29  Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies

IAS 31 Interests in joint ventures

TAS 32 Financial instruments: Presentation

IAS 33 Earnings per share

TAS 34 Interim financial reporting

TAS 36  Impairment of assets

IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

TAS 38 Intangible assets

IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement

TIAS 40 Investment properties

TAS 41  Agriculture

IFRS 1 (Revised) First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
IFRS 2 Share-based payment

IFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations

IFRS 4 Insurance contracts

IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

IFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
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IFRS 7 Financial instruments disclosures
IFRS 8 Operating segments
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Phase 1)

5.12 What is the impact of changing to IFRS?

15.12.1

15.12.2

15.12.3

Making the transition to IFRS is no trivial task for companies, as comparative figures must
also be restated. As the date of transition approaches many companies have published
restatements reconciling previously published figures with figures computed and presented
in accordance with IFRS. These reconciliations have proved a fertile ground for surveys by
firms of accountants and academics.

Net income change

In some instances the changes have a dramatic effect on headline figures, e.g. the Dutch
company, Wessanen, reported an increase of over 400% in its net income figure when the
Dutch GAAP accounts were restated under IFRS. In other cases, there may be some large
adjustments to individual balances, but the net effect may be less obvious.

Asset and liability changes

In certain countries there will be major changes in specific components of equity in the year
of transition as particular assets or liabilities fall to be recognised (differently) from in the
past. For example, the European hotel group, Accor, reported a reduction in total assets of
only 1% when its 2004 statement of financial position was restated from French GAAP to
IFRS, but within this, ‘other receivables and accruals’ had fallen by €294 million, a reduc-
tion of over 30% of the previously reported balance. In the UK many companies have made
increased provisions for deferred tax liabilities on revalued properties and Australian
companies have made large adjustments to their statements of financial position through the
de-recognition of intangible assets.

In the short term, these changes in reported figures can have important consequences
for companies’ contractual obligations (e.g. they may not be able to maintain the level of
liquidity required by their loan agreements) and their ability to pay dividends. There may
be motivational issues to consider where staff bonuses have traditionally been based on
reported accounting profit. As a result, companies may find that they need to adjust their
management accounting system to align it more closely with IFRS.

Volatility in the accounts

In most countries the use of IFRS will mean that earnings and statement of financial position
values will be more volatile than in the past. This could be quite a culture shock for analysts
and others used to examining trends that follow a fairly predictable straight line.

While the change to IFRS has been covered in the professional and the more general press,
it is not clear whether users of financial statements fully appreciate the effect of the change
in accounting regulations, although surveys by KPMG (www.kpmg.co.uk/pubs/215748.pdf)
and PricewaterhouseCoopers (www.pwchk.com/home/eng/ifrs_euro_investors_view_
feb2006.html) indicated that most analysts and investors were confident that they under-
stood the implications of the change.
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5.13 Progress towards adoption by the USA of international standards

5.13.1

5.13.2

5.13.3

Global standards will only be achieved when the US fully adopts IFRSs to replace existing
US GAAP. This process started in October 2002 when the IASB and the SEC jointly pub-
lished details of what is known as the Norwalk Agreement. This included an undertaking
to make their financial reporting standards fully compatible as soon as possible and to
coordinate future work programmes to maintain that compatibility and to eventually
mandate the use of IFRS by US listed companies. The process started with the Norwalk
Agreement, followed by the IASB carrying out a Convergence Programme and finally joint
standards being issued. The detailed progress was as follows.

The Norwalk Agreement

At their joint meeting in Norwalk in 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) and the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) committed to the
development of high-quality, compatible accounting standards that could be used for
both domestic and cross-border financial reporting aiming to:

e make their existing financial reporting standards fully compatible by undertaking a short-
term project aimed at removing a variety of individual differences between US GAAP
and International Financial Reporting Standards; and

@ remove other differences between IFRSs and US GAAP remaining at 1 January 2005
(when IFRS became compulsory for consolidated accounts in Europe) through coordi-
nation of their future work programmes by undertaking discrete, substantial projects on
which both Boards would work concurrently.

The Short-term Project

The aim was for the TASB and FASB to remove minor differences by changing their
standard. For example, the IASB was to change IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 12
Income Taxes, IAS 14 Segment Reporting and 1AS 28 Joint Ventures, and the FASB was to
change Inventory costs, Earnings per share and Research and Development costs.

By 2008 a number of projects were completed. For example, the FASB issued new or
amended standards to bring standards in line with IFRS, e.g. it adopted the IFRS approach
to accounting for research and development assets acquired in a business combination
(SFAS 141R); in others the IASB converged IFRS with US GAAP, e.g. the new standard
on borrowing costs (IAS 23 revised) and segment reporting (IFRS 8), and proposed changes
to IAS 12 Income taxes.

The SEC was sufficiently persuaded by the progress made by the Boards that in 2007 it
removed the reconciliation requirement for non-US companies that are registered in the
USA and accepts the use IFRSs as issued by the IASB.

Plans for 2009-16

The intention is for the development of agreed standards to continue with a view to US
publicly traded companies being permitted on a phased basis to use IFRS for their financial
reports by 2015.

However, there is uncertainty at this time whether the target dates can be achieved
because:
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@ attention might be diverted towards reacting to the credit crunch with an emphasis on
going concern considerations and a review of fair value accounting; and

o there might be a political pressure on the SEC by members in Congress to delay mandat-
ing the use of IFRS for US companies; they might perhaps consider the lead time to
be over-ambitious and also question the quality and universal enforceability of IFRS
standards. It has to be recognised that it is a major step for the US to move from its rule

based US GAAP to the IASB principle based IFRSs.

The SEC is considering (and perhaps have to be satisfied on?) progress in a number of areas
such as improvements in IFRSs, IASB funding and accountability, the interface between
XBRL and IFRS and improvements in IFRS education and training. There is a risk in
setting out these requirements that the process is delayed or changes/improvements are
rushed through. However, it is clear that, in principle, the SEC is fully committed to all US
companies being eventually mandated to start using IFRS in their SEC filings.

5.14 Advantages and disadvantages of global standards for publicly
accountable entities

Publicly accountable entities are those whose debt or equity is publicly traded. Many are
multinational and listed on a stock exchange in more than one country. The main advantages
arising from the development of international standards are that it reduces the cost of
reporting under different standards, makes it easier to raise cross-border finance, leads to a
decrease in firms’ costs of capital with a corresponding increase in share prices and means
that it is possible for investors to compare performance.

However, one survey”® carried out in the UK indicated that finance directors and auditors
surveyed felt that IFRSs undermined UK reporting integrity. In particular, there was little
support for the further use of fair values as a basis for financial reporting which was regarded
as making the accounts less reliable with comments such as, ‘I think the use of fair values
increases the subjective nature of the accounts and confuses unqualified users.’

There was further reference to this problem of understanding with a further comment:
‘IFRS/US GAAP have generally gone too far — now nobody other than the Big 4 technical
departments and the SEC know what they mean. The analyst community doesn’t even
bother trying to understand them — so who exactly do the IASB think they are satisfying?’

5.15 How do reporting requirements differ for non-publicly
accountable entities?

5.15.1

Governments and standard setters have realised that there are numerous small and medium-
sized businesses that do not raise funds on the stock exchange and do not prepare general
purpose financial statements for external users.

Role of small firms in the UK economy

Small firms play a major role in the UK economy and are seen to be the main job creators.
Interesting statistics on SMEs from a report”’ carried out by Warwick Business School
showed:
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5.15.2

5.15.3

By size:

2,200,000 businesses have no employees (about 61% of SMEs).

1,450,000 businesses have an annual turnover of less than £50,000 (about 40% of SMEs).
350,000 businesses have less than £10,000 worth of assets.

By legal form:

Almost two in three businesses are sole traders (2,400,000 businesses).

Less than one in four businesses are limited liability companies (870,000 businesses).
About one in ten businesses are partnerships (including limited liability partnerships).

By age:

The majority of businesses (519) are aged more than fifteen years (1,900,000 businesses).
About 7% of SMEs are start-ups (aged less than two years) (250,000 businesses).

By growth rate:

About 11% of businesses (320,000 businesses) are high growth businesses, having an

average turnover growth of 30%, or more, per annum over a period going back up to three
years.

Certain companies are relieved of statutory and mandatory requirements on account of
their size.

Statutory requirements

Every year the directors are required to submit accounts to the shareholders and file a
copy with the Registrar of Companies. In recognition of the cost implications and need for
different levels of privacy, there is provision for small and medium-sized companies to file
abbreviated accounts.
A small company satisfies two or more of the following conditions:
® Turnover does not exceed £6.5 million.
@ Assets do not exceed £3.26 million.
® Average number of employees does not exceed 50.
The company is excused from filing a profit and loss account, and the directors’ report and
statement of financial position need only be an abbreviated version disclosing major asset and
liability headings. Its privacy is protected by excusing disclosure of directors’ emoluments.
A medium-sized company satisfies two or more of the following conditions:
® Turnover does not exceed £25.9 million.
® Assets do not exceed £12.9 million.
® Average number of employees does not exceed 250.
It is excused far less than a small company: the major concession is that it need not disclose

sales turnover and cost of sales, and the profit and loss account starts with the gross profit
figure. This is to protect its competitive position.

National standards

Countries are permitted to adopt IFRS for publicly accountable entities and adopt their own
national standards for non-publicly accountable entities. In the UK it is proposed to allow
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smaller entities to adopt the national standard Financial Reporting Standard for Smaller
Entities (FRSSE) or the IFRS for SMEs issued by the IASB in July 2009.

First FRSSE issued®®

In 1997 the ASB issued the first FRSSE. There was a concern as to the legality of setting
different measurement and disclosure requirements, the ASB took legal advice which con-
firmed that smaller entities can properly be allowed exemptions or differing treatments in
standards and UI'TFs provided such differences were justified on rational grounds.

How can rational grounds be established?

The test as to whether a decision is rational is based on obtaining answers to nine questions.
If there are more negative responses than positive, there are rational grounds for a different
treatment. The nine questions can be classified as follows:

Generic relevance
1 Is the standard essential practice for all entities?

2 Is the standard likely to be widely relevant to small entities?

Proprietary relevance

3 Would the treatment required by the standard be readily recognised by the proprietor or
manager as corresponding to their understanding of the transaction?

Relevant measurement requirements
4 TIs the treatment compatible with that used by the Inland Revenue in computing tax?
5 Are the measurement methods in a standard reasonably practical for small entities?

6 Is the accounting treatment the least cumbersome?

User relevance
7 Is the standard likely to meet information needs and legitimate expectations of the users?

8 Is the disclosure likely to be meaningful and comprehensible to users?

Expanding statutory provision

9 Do the requirements of the standard significantly augment the treatment required by
statute?

How are individual standards dealt with in the FRSSE?

Standards have been dealt with in seven ways as explained in (a) to (g) below:

(a) Adopted without change
FRSSE adopted certain standards and UITFs without change.

(b) Not addressed
Certain standards were not addressed in the FRSSE, e.g. FRS 22 Earnings per share.

(c) Statements relating to groups are cross-referenced

If group accounts are to be prepared the FRSSE contains the cross-references required,
e.g. to FRS 2 Accounting for Subsidiary Undertakings.
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(d) Disclosure requirements removed

Certain standards apply but the disclosure requirement is removed, e.g. FRS 10
Goodwill and Intangible Assets.

(e) Disclosure requirements reduced

Certain standards apply but there is a reduced disclosure requirement, e.g. SSAP 9
Stocks and Long-Term Contracts applies but there is no requirement to sub-classify stock
nor to disclose the accounting policy.

(f) Increased requirements

Certain standards are included with certain of the requirements reduced and other
requirements increased, e.g. under FRS 8 Related Party Disclosures a new paragraph has
been added, clarifying that the standard requires the disclosure of directors’ personal
guarantees for their company’s borrowings.

(g) Main requirements included

Certain standards have their main requirements included, e.g. FRS 5 Reporting the
substance of transactions, FRS 16 Current Tax, FRS 18 Accounting Policies, FRS 19
Deferred Tax.

The revised FRSSE

A revised FRSSE was issued in 2008 to incorporate changes in company law arising from
the Companies Act 2006, which defines small companies as having an annual turnover of up
to £6.5 million. No changes were made to the requirements that are based upon Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice. Entities adopting the FRSSE continue to be exempt from
applying all other accounting standards which reduces the volume of standards that a small
entity needs to apply. They may of course still choose not to adopt the FRSSE and to
comply with the other UK accounting standards and UITF Abstracts instead or, if they are
companies, international accounting standards.

IFRS for SMEs

The TASB issued IFRS for SMEs in July 2009. The approach follows that adopted by the
ASB with (a) some topics omitted e.g. earnings per share and segment reports, (b) simpler
options allowed e.g. expensing rather than capitalising borrowing costs, (c) simpler recog-
nition e.g. following an amortisation rather than an annual impairment review for goodwill
and (d) simpler measurement e.g. using the cost method for associates rather than the equity
method. SMEs are not prevented from adopting other options available under full IFRS and
may elect to do this if they so decide.

However, in defining an SME it has moved away from the size tests towards a definition
based on qualitative factors such as public accountability whereby an SME would be a
business that does not have public accountability. Public accountability is implied if outside
stakeholders have a high degree of either investment, commercial or social interest and if
the majority of stakeholders have no alternative to the external financial report for financial
information. The decision whether a business should be permitted to adopt IASB SME
standards will be left to national jurisdictions subject to the right of any of the owners to
require compliance with the full IFRSs.

Taking account of user needs and cost/benefit can be a complex task?” and requires
judgements to be made. For example:
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User needs

Non-publicly accountable companies have a narrower range of users of their financial state-
ments than publicly accountable companies which frequently have a detailed knowledge of
the company with the facility to obtain information beyond the financial statements. This
means that they may have less need to rely on the published financial statements.

However, whereas with publicly accountable companies there is a clear understanding
that the primary user is the equity investor, the question remains for SMEs as to (a) the
primary user, e.g. is it the non-managing owner, the long-term lender, the trade creditor or
the tax authorities, and (b) what are the primary user’s needs, e.g. maximising long-term
growth, medium-term viability or short-term liquidity. Questions remain such as whether
the financial statements need to be a stewardship report or decision-useful and, then, how
are the characteristics such as relevance, reliability and comparability to be ranked and
prioritised.

The approach to SME reporting has varied around the world. For example, in the USA
there has not been an SME reporting regime in the sense of compliance with FRSs and
IFRSs but SMEs have been permitted to prepare financial statements that are tax com-
pliant; the IASB has only recently addressed the topic of SME reporting; in the UK the
ASB has produced FRSSE, in drafting which it has taken a pragmatic approach when
deciding which FRS provisions need not be applied by SMEs.

There is now a general awareness that the users of non-publicly-accountable companies
are extremely diverse and steps are being taken to involve them in the standard-setting
process, e.g. in Canada the Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) established a Differential
Reporting Advisory Committee (DRAC) in 2000 as a standing committee to provide input
to the standard-setting process by acting as a communication conduit for users, preparers
and auditors of SMEs. In its response to the IASB Discussion Paper, Preliminary Views on
Accounting Standards for Small and Medium-sized Entities (SMEs), the AcSB restated that
the approach taken by DRAC was to make a decision based on a cost/benefit approach
making the interesting point that, as there were often fewer users of the financial statements,
the cost per user could be excessive.

However, it appears that the research necessary to provide a rationale and conceptual
approach to user needs is still some way off and the pragmatic approach taken by the ASB
will inform financial reporting standards for SMEs for some time to come.

5.16 Evaluation of effectiveness of mandatory regulations

The events in the Sketchley plc takeover in 1990 suggest that mandatory regulations will not
be effective.*’

@ In November 1989 Sketchley reported a fall in pre-tax profits for the half-year ended 30
December 1989 from £7.2 million to £5.4 million.
o In February 1990 Godfrey Davis Holdings made a bid to take over Sketchley.

@ In March 1990 Sketchley issued a defence document forecasting pre-tax profits for the
year ended 31 March 1990 of £6 million. Godfrey Davis Holdings withdrew in the light
of these poor results.

® In March 1990, one week later, the Compass Group made a bid. Sketchley appointed a
new management team and this second bid was defeated.

The new management team decided that the company had not made a profit of £6 million
for the year ended 31 March 1990 after all — it had made a loss of £2 million.
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Figure 5.3 Sketchley plc 1990 preliminary results

Sketchley plc 1990 preliminary results

(a) Effect of more prudent accounting judgement £000
(exercised by the new management team)
Reassessment of bad and doubtful debts 3,358
Reassessment of stock provisions 2,770
Write-off of fixed assets 773
6,901
(b) Provision for redundancy costs 554
(c) Other items, including the effect of accounting policy changes _ 557
8012
Profit before taxation, as forecast 6,000
Loss before taxation, as reported 2012

This has a familiar ring. It is very like the AEI situation of 1967, almost twenty-five years
before. The adjustments made are shown in Figure 5.3.

Of course, it is not too difficult to visualise the motivation of the old and new manage-
ment teams. The old team would take as favourable a view as possible of the asset values in
order to resist a bid. The new team would take as unfavourable a view as possible, so that
their performance would appear that much better in the future. It is clear, however, that the
adjustments only arose on the change of management control, and without such a change we
would have been basing investment decisions on a set of accounts that showed a £6 million
profit rather than a £2 million loss.

There is often mention of the expectation gap, whereby shareholders appear to have lost
faith in financial statements. The situation just discussed does little to persuade them that
they are wrong. After all, what is the point of a regulatory system that ensures that the
accounts present a fair view until the very moment when such a requirement is really
necessary?

The area of provisioning and the exercise of judgement have finally been addressed by the
regulators with the issue of national and international standards dealing with provisions.

Has the need for standards and effective enforcement fallen
since 1990?

We only need to look at the unfortunate events with Enron and Ahold to arrive at an answer.

Enron

This is a company that was formed in the mid 1980s and became by the end of the 1990s the
seventh-largest company in revenue terms in the USA. However, this concealed the fact
that it had off balance sheet debts and that it had overstated its profits by more than
$500 million — falling into bankruptcy (the largest in US corporate history) in 2001.

Ahold

In 2003 Ahold, the world’s third-largest grocer, reported that its earnings for the past two
years were overstated by more than $500 million as a result of local managers recording
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promotional allowances provided by suppliers to promote their goods at a figure greater than
the cash received. This may reflect on the pressure to inflate profits when there are option
schemes for managers.

5.17 Move towards a conceptual framework

The process of formulating standards has encouraged a constructive appraisal of the policies
being proposed for individual reporting problems and has stimulated the development of
a conceptual framework. For example, the standard on leasing introduced the idea in UK
standards of considering the commercial substance of a transaction rather than simply the
legal position.

When the ASC was set up in the 1970s there was no clear statement of accounting prin-
ciples other than that accounts should be prudent, be consistent, follow accrual accounting
procedures and be based on the initial assumption that the business would remain a going
concern.

The immediate task was to bring some order into accounting practice. The challenge of
this task is illustrated by the ASC report A Conceptual Framework for Financial Accounting
and Reporting: The Possibilities for an Agreed Structure by R. Macve, published in 1981,
which considered that the possibility of an agreed body of accounting principles was remote
at that time.

However, the process of setting standards has stimulated accounting thought and liter-
ature to the point where, by 1989, the IASB had issued the Framework for the Presentation
and Preparation of Financial Statements, IASC. In 1994, the ASB produced its exposure
drafts of Statement of Accounting Principles, which appeared in final form in December 1999.

The development of conceptual frameworks is discussed further in Chapter 6.

Summary

It is evident from cases such as AEI/GEC and the Wiggins Group (see Question 4 in
Chapter 2) that management cannot be permitted to have total discretion in the way in
which it presents financial information in its accounts and rules are needed to ensure
uniformity in the reporting of similar commercial transactions. Decisions must then be
made as to the nature of the rules and how they are to be enforced.

In the UK the standard-setting bodies have tended to lean towards rules being
framed as general principles and accepting the culture of voluntary compliance with
explanation for any non-compliance.

Although there is a preference on the part of the standard setters to concentrate on
general principles, there is a growing pressure from the preparers of the accounts for
more detailed illustrations and explanations as to how the standards are to be applied.

Standard setters have recognised that small and medium-sized businesses are not
publicly accountable to external users and are given the opportunity to prepare financial
statements under standards specifically designed to be useful and cost effective.

The expansion in the number of multinational enterprises and transnational invest-
ments has led to a demand for a greater understanding of financial statements prepared
in a range of countries. This has led to pressure for a single set of high quality inter-
national accounting standards. IFRS are being used increasingly for reporting to capital
markets. At the same time, national standards are evolving to come into line with IFRS.
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REVIEW QUESTIONS

I Why is it necessary for financial reporting to be subject to (a) mandatory control and (b) statu-
tory control?

2 How is it possible to make shareholders aware of the significance of the exercise of judgement by
directors which can turn profits of £6 million into losses of £2 million?

3 The effective working of the financial aspects of a market economy rests on the validity of the
underlying premises of integrity in the conduct of business and reliability in the provision of
information. Even though in the great majority of cases that presumption is wholly justified,
there needs to be strong institutional underpinning.

‘That institutional framework has been shown to be inadequate. The last two to three years
have accordingly seen a series of measures by the financial and business community to
strengthen it. Amongst these has been the creation of the Financial Reporting Council and the
bodies which it in turn established.”'

Discuss the above statement with particular reference to one of the following institutions:
Accounting Standards Board, Financial Reporting Review Panel, and Urgent Issues Task Force.
llustrate with reference to publications or decisions from the institution you have chosen to
discuss.

4 The increasing perception is that IFRS is overly complex and is complicating the search for appro-
priate forms of financial reporting for entities not covered by the EU Regulation.*? Discuss
whether (a) the current criteria for defining small and medium companies are appropriate; and
(b) having a three-tiered approach with FRSSE for small, IFRS SME for medium-sized, and IFRS for
large private companies might alleviate the problem.

5 ‘The most favoured way to reduce information overload was to have the company filter the
available information set based on users’ specifications of their needs.** Discuss how this can be
achieved given that users have differing needs.

6 ‘Every medium-sized European company should be required to prepare their financial reports in
accordance with an IFRSSE which is similar in content to the UK's FRSSE." Discuss.

7 Research® has indicated that narrative reporting in annual reports is not neutral, with good news
being highlighted more than is supported by the statutory accounts and more than bad news.
Discuss whether mandatory or statutory regulation could enforce objectivity in narrative disclosures
and who should be responsible for such enforcement.

8 How does the regulatory framework for financial reporting in the UK differ from that in the USA?
Which is better for particular interest groups and why?

9 Is it appropriate that scandal should have a role in the development of accounting regulation.
Compare the reaction to the Enron financial statements in the early part of the twenty-first
century with the reaction to the financial statements of AEl and Pergamon Press in the 1960s.

10 ‘The current differences between IASs and US GAAP are extensive and the recent pairing of the
US Financial Accounting Standards Board and IASB to align IAS and US GAAP will probably result
in IAS moving further from current UK GAAP.*

Discuss the implication of this on any choice that non-listed UK companies might make regarding
complying with IFRS rather than UK GAAP after 2005.
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EXERCISES

Question |
Constructive review of the regulators.

Required:

(a) Obtain a copy of the Financial Reporting Council’s Annual Review.

(b) Prepare a profile of the members of the ASB.

(c) Comment on the strengths and weaknesses revealed by the profile.

(d) Advise (with reasons) on changes that you consider would strengthen the ASB.

Question 2

Obtain the financial statements of two companies based in different countries. Review the accounting
policies notes. Analyse what the policies tell you about the regulatory environment in which the two
companies are operating.

Question 3

Consider the interest of the tax authorities in financial reporting regulations. Explain why national tax
authorities might be concerned about the transition from domestic accounting standards to IFRS in
companies’ annual reports.
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CHAPTER 6

Concepts - evolution of a global
conceptual framework

6.1

Introduction

6.1.1

The main purpose of this chapter is to discuss the rationale underlying financial reporting
standards.

Objectives

By the end of the chapter, you should be able to:

@ discuss how financial accounting theory has evolved;
o discuss the accounting principles set out in:
O the International Framework;
o the UK Statement of Principles;
O FASB Statements of Financial Accounting Concepts;
® comment critically on rule-based and principles-based approaches.

Different countries meant different financial statements

In the previous chapter we discussed the evolution of national and international accounting
standards. The need for standards arose initially as a means of the accounting profession
protecting itself against litigation for negligence by relying on the fact that financial state-
ments complied with the published professional standards. The standards were based on
existing best practice and little thought was given to a theoretical basis.

Standards were developed by individual countries and it was a reactive process. For
example, in the US the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) was set up in 1933
to restore investor confidence in financial reporting following the Great Depression. The
SEC is an enforcement agency that enforces compliance with US GAAP, which comprises
rule-based standards issued by the FASB.

There has been a similar reactive response in other countries often reacting to major
financial crises and fraud, which has undermined investor confidence in financial statements.
As a result, there has been a variety of national standards with national enforcement, e.g. in
the UK principles-based standards are issued by the ASB and enforced by the Financial
Reporting Review Panel.

With the growth of the global economy there has been a corresponding growth in the
need for global standards so that investors around the world receive the same fair view of a
company’s results regardless of the legal jurisdiction in which the company is registered.
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National standards varied in their quality and in the level of enforcement. This is illustrated
by the following comment' by the International Forum on Accountancy Development (IFAD):

Lessons from the crisis

.. . the Asian crisis showed that under the forces of financial globalisation it is essential
for countries to improve . . . the supervision, regulation and transparency of financial
systems . . . Efficiency of markets requires reliable financial information from issuers.
With hindsight, it was clear that local accounting standards used to prepare financial
statements did not meet international standards. Investors, both domestic and foreign,
did not fully understand the weak financial position of the companies in which they
were investing.

We will see in this chapter that, in addition to the realisation that global accounting
standards were required, there was also growing interest in basing the standards on a con-
ceptual framework rather than fire-fighting with pragmatic standards often dealing with an
immediate problem. However, just as there have been different national standards, so there
have been different conceptual frameworks.

Rationale for accounting standards

It is interesting to take a historical overview of the evolution of the financial accounting
theory underpinning standards and guiding standard setters to see how it has moved through
three phases from the empirical inductive to the deductive and then to a formalised con-
ceptual framework.

6.2 Historical overview of the evolution of financial accounting theory

Financial accounting practices have not evolved in a vacuum. They are dynamic responses
to changing macro and micro conditions which may involve political, fiscal, economic and
commercial changes, e.g.:

® How to take account of changing prices?

— Ignore and apply historical cost accounting.

Ignore if inflation is low as is the present situation in many European countries.

Have a modified historical cost system where tangible non-current assets are revalued
which has been the norm in the UK.

— Have a coherent current cost system as implemented in the 1970s in the Netherlands.
® How to deal with changing commercial practices?
— Ignore if not a material commercial practice, e.g. leasing in the early 1970s.

— Apply objective, tightly defined, legalistic-based criteria, e.g. to define finance and
operating leases.

— Apply subjective criteria, e.g. assess the economic substance of a leasing transaction
to see if a finance lease because the risks and rewards have substantially been passed to
the lessee.

— Accept that it is not possible to effectively regulate companies to achieve consistent
treatment of similar economic transactions unless there is a common standard enforced.

It is clear from considering just these two questions that there could be a variety of account-
ing treatments for similar transactions and, if annual financial reports are to be useful in
making economic decisions,” there is a need for uniformity and consistency in reporting.
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Attempts to achieve consistency have varied over time.

® An empirical inductive approach was followed by the accounting profession prior to
1970.
This resulted in standards or reporting practices that were based on rationalising what
happened in practice, i.e. it established best current practice as the norm. Under this
approach there was a general disclosure standard, e.g. IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies, and standards for major specific items, e.g. IAS 2 Inventories.

® A deductive approach followed in the 1970s.
This resulted in standards or reporting practices that were based on rationalising what
happened in practice, i.e. it established best current practice as the norm but there was
also an acceptance of alternatives. Under this approach the accounting theoretical under-
pinning of the standards was that accounts should be prepared on an accrual basis, with
the matching of revenue and related costs and assuming that the business was a going
concern. Standards tended to deal with specific major items, for example, a measurement
standard for inventories or disclosure of accounting policies, for example, how non-current
assets were depreciated. Both types of standard were responding to the fact that there
were a number of alternative accounting treatments for the same commercial transaction.

® A conceptual framework approach was promoted in the 1980s.
It was recognised that standards needed to be decision-useful, that they should satisfy
cost/benefit criteria and that their implementation could only be achieved by consensus.
Consensus was generally only achievable where there was a clearly perceived rationale
underprinning a standard and, even so, alternative treatments were required in order to
gain support.

® A conceptual framework approach in the twenty-first century — the mandatory model.
Under this approach standard setters do not permit alternative treatments.

Empirical inductive approach

The empirical inductive approach looked at the practices that existed and attempted to
generalise from them.

This tended to be how the technical departments of accounting firms operated. By
rationalising what they did, they ensured that the firm avoided accepting different financial
reporting practices for similar transactions, e.g. accepting unrealised profit appearing in
the statement of comprehensive income of one client and not in another. The technical
department’s role was to advise partners and staff, i.e. it was a defensive role to avoid any
potential charge from a user of the accounts that they had been misled.

Initially a technical circular was regarded as a private good and distribution was restricted
to the firm’s own staff. However, it then became recognised that it could benefit the firm if
its practices were accepted as the industry benchmark, so that in the event of litigation it
could rely on this fact.

When the technical advice ceased to be a private good, there was a perceived additional
benefit to the firm if the nature of the practice could be changed from being a positive state-
ment, i.e. this is how we report profits on uncompleted contracts, to a normative statement,
i.e. this is how we report and this is how all other financial reporters ought to report.

Consequently, there has been a growing trend since the 1980s for firms to publish ration-
alisations for their financial reporting practices. It has been commercially prudent for them
to do so. It has also been extremely helpful to academic accountants and their students.

Typical illustrations of the result of such empirical induction are the wide acceptance
of the historical cost model and various concepts such as matching and realisation that
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6.2.2

we discussed in Chapter 2. The early standards were produced under this regime, e.g. the
standard on inventory valuation.

This approach has played an important role in the evolution of financial reporting prac-
tices and will continue to do so. After all, it is the preparers of the financial statements and
their auditors who are first exposed to change, whether economic, political or commercial.
They are the ones who have to think their way through each new problem that surfaces, for
example, how to measure and report financial instruments. This means that a financial
reporting practice already exists by the time the problem comes to the attention of theoreticians.

The major reasons that it has been felt necessary to try other approaches are both pragmatic
and theoretical.

Pragmatic reason

The main pragmatic reason is that the past procedure, whereby deduction was dependent
upon generalisation from existing practice within each individual accounting practice, has
become untenable. The accelerating rate of economic, political and commercial change
leaves too little time for effective and uniform practices to evolve.

Theoretical reasons

The theoretical reasons relate to the acceptability of the income determined under the
traditional historical cost model. There are three principal reasons:

® True income. We have seen that economists had a view that financial reports should
report a true income, which differed from the accountants’ view.

® User-defined income — public. There is a view that there may be a number of relevant
incomes depending upon differing user needs which may be regarded as public goods.

@ User-defined income — private. There is a view that there may be a number of relevant
incomes depending upon differing user needs which may be regarded as private rather
than public goods.

It was thought that the limitations implicit in the empirical inductive approach could be
overcome by the deductive approach.

Deductive approach

The deductive approach is not dependent on existing practice, which is often perceived
as having been tainted because it has been determined by finance directors and auditors.
However, the problem remains: from whose viewpoint is the deduction to be made?

Possible alternatives to the preparers and auditors of the accounts are economists and
users. However, economists are widely perceived as promoting unrealistic models and users
as having needs so diverse that they cannot be realistically satisfied in a single set of accounts.
Consider the attempts made to define income. Economists have supported the concept of a
true income, while users have indicated the need for a range of relevant incomes.

True income

We have already seen in Chapter 3 that there is a significant difference between the
accountant’s income and the economist’s income applying the ideas of Fisher and Hicks.

User needs and multiple incomes

Multiple measures of income, derived from the general price level adjusted accounting
model, the replacement cost accounting model and the exit price accounting model, were
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considered in Chapter 4. Each model provides information that is relevant for different
purposes, e.g. replacement cost accounting produces an income figure that indicates how
much is available for distribution while still maintaining the operating capacity of the entity.

These income figures were regarded as a public good, i.e. cost-free to the user. Latterly,
it has been recognised that there is a cost implication to the production of information,
i.e. that it is not a public good; that standards should be capable of being empirically tested;
and that consideration should be given to the economic consequences of standards. This has
resulted in a concern that standards should deal with economic substance rather than form,
e.g. the treatment of leases in TAS 17.°

It could be argued that the deductive approach to income, whether an economist’s defined
income or a theoretician’s multiple income, has a basic weakness in that it gives priority
to the information needs of only one user group — the investors. In the UK the ASB is
quite explicit about this. The Framemwork is less clear about the primary focus, stating that
financial statements are prepared to provide information that is useful in making economic
decisions. The ASB has been supported by other academics* who have stated:

As we have already noted that the needs of investors, creditors, employees and
customers are not fundamentally different, it seems safe to look to the needs of present
and potential investors as a guide . . .

There is little independent evidence put forward to support this view.

Where do we stand now?

We have seen that accounting theory was initially founded on generalisations from the account-
ing practices followed by practitioners. Then came the deductive approach of economists
and theoreticians. The latter were not transaction based and were perceived to be too
subjective relying on future cash flows.

The practitioners have now staked their claim to create accounting theory or a conceptual
framework through the TASB. The advantage of this is that the conceptual framework will
be based on consensus.

Conceptual framework

The framework does not seek to be seen as creating standards where none exist nor to over-
ride existing standards.
Its objectives are to assist:

@ standard setters in the development of future standards so that there is a rational basis for
reducing the number of alternatives in existing standards;

® preparers in applying standards and in having a principles basis for the treatment of
matters not covered by a standard;

@ auditors in satisfying themselves that financial statements being audited are in conformity
with the Framework principles; and

o stakeholders when interpreting the financial statements.

We will now consider the evolution of conceptual frameworks from the earliest attempts in
the 1970s by the FASB with the issue of Concepts Statements, which were picked up by the
TASC with its Framework for the Presentation and Preparation of Financial Statements and
developed by national standard setters. In this chapter we will review the Statement of
Principles produced by the ASB, the UK national standard-setting body.

We will then discuss the collaboration taking place between the FASB, the IASB and a
whole range of national standard-setting bodies.
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6.3 FASB Concepts Statements

6.3.1

6.3.2

6.3.3

The FASB was the originator of attempts to create a conceptual framework with the
issue of a series of Concepts Statements as a basis for financial accounting and reporting
standards. It is easy to overlook this fact, particularly as the present preference for principles
rather than rules in standard setting has tended to cast the FASB as rule bound. Instead it
was in the lead when it came to formulating a conceptual framework. We will consider four
of the statements below.

Concepts Statement No. I: Objectives of Financial Reporting by
Business Enterprises®

Financial reporting should provide information to present and potential investors and
creditors that is understandable by a user who has a reasonable knowledge of business
activities and useful in making rational investment and credit decisions. Such decisions
are based on an assessment of the amounts, timing and uncertainty of prospective net cash
inflows, i.e. ascertaining whether or not there is enough cash to pay creditors on time, cover
capital expenditure and pay dividends.

The Concept Statement identified two reasons for providing information about past activities:

e investment and credit decisions are in part based on an evaluation of past performance; and

® owners require information as to the stewardship by the management of their use of
resources.

Financial reporting should provide information about resources and claims, and reason
for changes, i.e. a statement of financial position and a statement of cash flows, and infor-
mation about past financial performance, i.e. a statement of financial performance. These
statements allow users to check movements in operating capital and financing, see how
cash has been spent and assess solvency, liquidity and profitability. Financial reporting is
not restricted to financial statements but also includes non-financial and supplementary
information.

Concepts Statement No. 2: Qualitative characteristics of Accounting
Information®

Figure 6.1 illustrates how close the Statement of Principles (see section 6.5.3) and Concepts
Statement No. 2 are in their approach.

Concepts Statement No. 6: Elements of Financial Statements’

This Statement defines ten elements. These include seven elements that appear in the Statement
of Principles (see section 6.5.4) with slight differences in their definition. These are:

® Assets — probable future economic benefits obtained or controlled by a particular entity
as a result of past transactions or events.

o Liabilities — probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from present obliga-
tions to transfer assets or provide services to other entities in the future as a result of past
transactions or events.

® Equity — the residual interest in the assets of an entity that remains after deducting its
liabilities. In a business enterprise, the equity is the ownership interest.
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Figure 6.1 A hierarchy of accounting qualities
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Investments by owners — increases in equity. Assets are most commonly received
as investments by owners but it might also include services or taking on liabilities of the
enterprise.

Distributions to owners — decreases in equity resulting from transferring assets, render-
ing services or incurring liabilities by the enterprise to owners. Distributions to owners
decrease ownership interest (or equity).

Gains — increases in equity (net assets) from peripheral or incidental transactions of
an entity and from all other transactions and other events and circumstances affecting the
entity except those that result from revenues or investments by owners.

Losses — decreases in equity (net assets) from peripheral or incidental transactions of
an entity and from all other transactions and other events and circumstances affecting the
entity except those that result from expenses or distributions to owners.

The Statement also defines three additional elements:

Comprehensive income — the change in equity during a period from transactions and
other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. It includes all changes in equity
during a period except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to
owners.
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6.3.4

® Revenues — inflows or other enhancements of assets of an entity or settlements of its
liabilities (or a combination of both) from delivering or producing goods, rendering services,
or other activities that constitute the entity’s ongoing major or central operations.

o Expenses — outflows or other using up of assets or incurring liabilities (or a combination
of both) from delivering or producing goods, rendering services or carrying out other
activities that constitute the entity’s ongoing major or central operations.

Concepts Statement No. 5: Recognition and Measurement in
Financial Statements of Business Enterprises®

This statement defines financial statements, sets out recognition criteria for inclusion in the
statements and comments on measurement.

Financial statements

Financial statements are a central feature of financial reporting being a principal means
of communicating financial information to those outside an entity. Financial reporting also
includes useful information that is better provided by other means, e.g. notes to the financial
statements and supplementary information.

A full set of financial statements for a period should show:
@ financial position at the end of the period,
@ carnings for the period;
® comprehensive income for the period,
@ cash flows during the period;

@ investments by and distributions to owners during the period.

Recognition criteria

An item and information about it should meet four fundamental recognition criteria to
be recognised and should be recognised when the criteria are met, subject to a cost—benefit
constraint and a materiality threshold. Those criteria are:

@ Definitions. The item meets the definition of an element of financial statements.

® Measurability. It has a relevant attribute measurable with sufficient reliability.

® Relevance. The information about it is capable of making a difference in user
decisions.

o Reliability. The information is representationally faithful, verifiable and neutral.

Measurement

Attributes

Items currently reported in the financial statements are measured by different attributes as
described in Chapters 3 and 4 above (e.g. historical cost, current (replacement) cost, current
market value, net realisable value and present value of future cash flows), depending on the
nature of the item and the relevance and reliability of the attribute measured.

Monetary unit

The monetary unit or measurement scale in current practice in financial statements is
nominal units of money, that is, unadjusted for changes in purchasing power of money over
time. The Board expects that nominal units of money will continue to be used to measure
items recognised in financial statements.
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6.4 IASC Framework for the Presentation and Preparation of
Financial Statements’

The Framework differs from the International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) in that
it does not define standards for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of financial
information nor does it override any specific IFRS. However, if there is no IFRS for a
particular situation, managers should consider the principles set out in the Framework when
developing an accounting policy, which should aim at providing the most useful information
to users of the entity’s financial statements.

This exposure draft deals with the following:

® The objective of financial statements.
The objective of financial statements is that they should provide information about the
financial position, performance and changes in financial position of an enterprise that is
useful to a wide range of potential users in making economic decisions.

® The qualitative characteristics that determine the usefulness of information in financial
statements.
The qualitative characteristics that determine the usefulness of information are
relevance and reliability. Comparability is a qualitative characteristic that interacts with
both relevance and reliability. Materiality provides a threshold or cut-off point rather
than being a primary qualitative characteristic. The balance between cost and benefit is a
persuasive constraint rather than a qualitative characteristic.

@ The definition, recognition and measurement of elements from which financial statements
are constructed.
The definition of an element is given in para. 46:

Financial statements portray the financial effects of transactions and other

events by grouping the effects into broad classes according to their economic
characteristics. These broad classes are termed the elements of financial statements.
The elements directly related to the measurement of financial position in the
statement of financial position are assets, liabilities and equity. The elements
directly related to the measurement of performance in the profit and loss account
are income and expense.

® The exposure draft defines each of the elements. For example, an asset is defined in
para. 53: “The future economic benefit embodied in an asset is the potential to contribute,
directly or indirectly, to the flow of cash and cash equivalents to the enterprise.’

® It defines when an element is to be recognised. For example, in para. 87 it states:
‘An asset is recognised in the statement of financial position when it is probable that the
future economic benefits will flow to the enterprise and the asset has an attribute that can
be measured reliably.’
Regarding measurement, it comments in para. 99:

The measurement attribute most commonly adopted by enterprises in preparing
their financial statements is historical cost. This is usually combined with other
measurement attributes, such as realisable value. For example, inventories are
usually carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value, and marketable

securities may be carried at market value, that is, their realisable value. Furthermore,
many enterprises combine historical costs and current costs as a response to the
inability of the historical cost model to deal with the effects of changing prices of
non-monetary assets.
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® The document deals in a similar style with the other elements.
® The concepts of capital, capital maintenance and profit.

o Finally, regarding the concepts of capital, capital maintenance and profit, the IASC
comments:

At the present time, it is not the intention of the Board of the IASC to prescribe
a particular measurement model (i.e. historical cost, current cost, realisable value,
present value) . . . This intention will, however, be reviewed in the light of world
developments.

An appropriate capital maintenance model is not specified but the Framework mentions
historical cost accounting, current cost accounting, net realisable value (as discussed in
Chapter 4) and present value models (as discussed in Chapter 3).

The Framework has initiated the development of conceptual frameworks by other
national standard setters for both private sector and public sector financial statements.
Since then and up to the present day other jurisdictions have been influenced when drafting
their own national conceptual frameworks, for example, Australia, Canada, New Zealand,
South Africa and the UK have similar conceptual frameworks.

One of the earliest conceptual frameworks developed subsequently was that developed
by the ASB in the UK as the Statement of Principles — this expanded on the ideas under-
lying the Framework and the ASB deserves praise for this.

6.5 ASB Statement of Principles 1999’

6.5.1

The Statement fleshes out the ideas contained in the Framework.

As Sir David Tweedie, Chairman of the ASB, commented, “The Board has developed its
Statement of Principles in parallel with its development of accounting standards . . . It is in
effect the Board’s compass for when we navigate uncharted waters in the years ahead. This
is essential reading for those who want to know where the Board is coming from, and where
it is aiming to go.’

The statement contains eight chapters dealing with key issues. Each of the chapters is
commented on below.

Chapter I: ‘The objective of financial statements’

The Statement of Principles follows the IASC Framemwork in the identification of user groups.

The statement identifies the investor group as the primary group for whom the financial
statements are being prepared. It then states the information needs of each group as follows:
® Investors. These need information to:

— assess the stewardship of management, e.g. in safeguarding the entity’s resources and
using them properly, efficiently and profitably;

— take decisions about management, e.g. assessing need for new management;

— take decisions about their investment or potential investment, e.g. deciding whether to
hold, buy or sell shares and assessing the ability to pay dividends.

® Lenders. These need information to:
— determine whether their loans and interest will be paid on time;

— decide whether to lend and on what terms.
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® Suppliers. These need information to:
— decide whether to sell to the entity;
— determine whether they will be paid on time;
— determine longer-term stability if the company is a major customer.

e Employees. These need information to:
— assess the stability and profitability of the company;

— assess the ability to provide remuneration, retirement benefits and employment
opportunities.

® Customers. These need information to:

— assess the probability of the continued existence of the company taking account of their
own degree of dependence on the company, e.g. for future provision of specialised
replacement parts and servicing product warranties.

o Government and other agencies. These need information to:
— be aware of the commercial activities of the company;
— regulate these activities;
— raise revenue;
— produce national statistics.
@ Public. Members of the public need information to:

— determine the effect on the local economy of the company’s activities, e.g. employment
opportunities, use of local suppliers;

— assess recent developments in the company’s prosperity and changes in its activities.

The information needs of which group are to be dominant?

Seven groups are identified, but there is only one set of financial statements. Although they
are described as general-purpose statements, a decision has to be made about which group’s
needs take precedence.

The Statement of Principles identifies the investor group as the defining class of user, i.e.
the primary group for whom the financial statements are being prepared.

It takes the view that financial statements ‘are able to focus on the common interest
of users’. The common interest is described thus: ‘all potential users are interested, to a
varying degree, in the financial performance and financial position of the entity as a whole’.

This means that it is a prerequisite that the information must be relevant to the investor
group. This suggests that any need of the other groups that is not also a need of the investors
will not be met by the financial statements.

The 1995 Exposure Draft stated: ‘Awarding primacy to investors does not imply that
other users are to be ignored. The information prepared for investors is useful as a frame
of reference for other users, against which they can evaluate more specific information that
they may obtain in their dealings with the enterprise.’

It is important, therefore, for all of the other users to be aware that this is one of the
principles. If they require specific disclosures that might be relevant to them, they will need
to take their own steps to obtain them, particularly where there is a conflict of interest.
For example, if a closure is being planned by the directors, it may be in the investors’
interest for the news to be delayed as long as possible to minimise the cost to the company;
employees, suppliers, customers and the public must not expect any assistance from the
financial statements — their information needs are not the primary concern.
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6.5.2

What information should be provided to satisfy the information needs?

The Statement proposes that information is required in four areas: financial performance,
financial position, generation and use of cash, and financial adaptability.

Financial performance

Financial performance is defined as the return an entity obtains from the resources it controls.
This return is available from the profit and loss account and provides a means to assess past
management performance, how effectively resources have been utilised and the capacity to
generate cash flows.

Financial position

Financial position is available from an examination of the statement of financial position
and includes:

@ the economic resources controlled by an entity, i.e. assets and liabilities;

@ financial structure, i.e. capital gearing indicating how profits will be divided between the
different sources of finance and the capacity for raising additional finance in the future;

@ liquidity and solvency, i.e. current and liquid ratios;

® capacity to adapt to changes — see below under Financial adaptability.

Generation and use of cash

Information is available from the cash flow statement which shows cash flows from operating,
investment and financing activities providing a perspective that is largely free from alloca-
tion and valuation issues. This information is useful in assessing and reviewing previous
assessments of cash flows.

Financial adaptability

This is an entity’s ability to alter the amount and timing of its cash flows. It is desirable
in order to be able to cope with difficult periods, e.g. when losses are incurred and to take
advantage of unexpected investment opportunities. It is dependent on factors such as the
ability, at short notice, to:

@ raise new capital;

@ repay capital or debt;

® obtain cash from disposal of assets without disrupting continuing business, i.e. realise
readily marketable securities that might have been built up as a liquid reserve;

@ achieve a rapid improvement in net cash flows from operations.

Chapter 2: ‘The reporting entity’

This chapter focuses on identifying when an entity should report and which activities to
include in the report.

When an entity should report

The principle is that an entity should prepare and publish financial statements if:

@ there is a legitimate demand for the information, i.e. it is the case both that it is decision-
useful and that benefits exceed the cost of producing the information; and

@ it is a cohesive economic unit, i.e. a unit under a central control that can be held account-
able for its activities.
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Which activities to include

The principle is that those activities should be included that are within the direct control
of the entity, e.g. assets and liabilities which are reported in its own statement of financial
position, or indirect control, e.g. assets and liabilities of a subsidiary of the entity which are
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Control is defined as (a) the ability to deploy the resources and (b) the ability to benefit (or
to suffer) from their deployment. Indirect control by an investor can be difficult to determine.
The test is not to apply a theoretical level of influence such as holding ¥% of shares but to
review the relationship that exists between the investor and investee in practice, such as the
investor having the power to veto the investee’s financial and operating policies and benefit
from its net assets.

Chapter 3: ‘The qualitative characteristics of financial information’

The Statement of Principles is based on the IASC Framework and contains the same four
principal qualitative characteristics relating to the content of information and how the
information is presented. The two primary characteristics relating to content are the need to
be relevant and reliable; the two relating to presentation are the need to be understandable
and comparable. The characteristics appear diagrammatically in Figure 6.2.

From the diagram we can see that for information content to be relevant it must have:
@ the ability to influence the economic decisions of users;
e predictive value, i.e. help users to evaluate or assess past, present or future events; or

@ confirmatory value, i.e. help users to confirm their past evaluations.
For information to be reliable it must be:

@ free from material error, i.e. transactions have been accurately recorded and reported;

e a faithful representation, i.e. reflecting the commercial substance of transactions;

Figure 6.2 What makes financial information useful?
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® neutral, i.e. not presented in a way to achieve a predetermined result;

@ prudent, i.e. not creating hidden reserves or excessive provisions, deliberately under-
stating assets or gains, or deliberately overstating liabilities or losses;

® complete, i.e. the information is complete subject to a materiality test.

To be useful, the financial information also needs to be comparable over time and between
companies and understandable.

It satisfies the criteria for understandability if it is capable of being understood by a user
with a reasonable knowledge of business activities and accounting, and a willingness to study
the information with reasonable diligence. However, the trade-off between relevance and
reliability comes into play with the requirement that complex information that is relevant to
economic decision making should not be omitted because some users find it too difficult to
understand. There is no absolute answer where there is the possibility of a trade-off and it
is recognised by the ASB that the relative importance of the characteristics in different cases
is a matter of judgement.

The chapter also introduces the idea of materiality as a threshold quality and any item
that is not material does not require to be considered further. The statement recognises that
no information can be useful if it is not also material by introducing the idea of a threshold
quality which it describes as follows: ‘An item of information is material to the financial
statements if its misstatement or omission might reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users of those financial statements, including their assessment of
management’s stewardship.’!’

First, this means that it is justified not to report immaterial items which would impose
unnecessary costs on preparers and impede decision makers by obscuring material informa-
tion with excessive detail.

Secondly, it means that the important consideration is not user expectation (e.g. users
might expect turnover to be accurate to within 1%) but the effect on decision making (e.g.
there might only be an effect if turnover were to be more that 10% over- or understated in
which case, only errors exceeding 10% are material).

It also states that ‘Materiality depends on the size of the item or error judged in the
particular circumstances of its omission or misstatement.” The need to exercise judgement
means that the preparer needs to have a benchmark.

A discussion paper issued in January 1995 by the Financial Reporting & Auditing Group
of the ICAEW entitled Materiality in Financial Reporting FRAG 1/95 identified that there
are few instances where an actual figure is given by statute or by standard setters, e.g. FRS 6,'!
para. 76 refers to a material minority and indicates that this is defined as 10%.

The paper also referred to a rule of thumb used in the USA:

The staff of the US Securities and Exchange Commission have an informal rule of
thumb that errors of more than 10% are material, those between 5% and 10% may be
material and those under 5% are usually not material. These percentages are applied to
gross profit, net income, equity and any specific line in the financial statements that is
potentially misstated.

The ASB has moved away from setting percentage benchmarks and there is now a need for
more explicit guidance on the application of the materiality threshold.

Unresolved trade-offs

There are a number of characteristics where there is no guidance given as to the trade-off.
For example, is relevance more important than reliability? Does being neutral conflict with
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prudence? Does relevance require a faithful representation and does a faithful representa-
tion require the information to be verifiable?

Unresolved relative importance

The approach taken has to be to regard decision usefulness as paramount. It is not clear
where this leaves accountability and stewardship. There are unresolved questions such as,
for example, whether comparability is as important as relevance or reliability.

Chapter 4: ‘The elements of financial statements’

This chapter gives guidance on the items that could appear in financial statements. These are
described as elements and have the following essential features:

o Assets. These are rights to future economic benefits controlled by an entity as a result of
past transactions or events.

e Liabilities. These are obligations of an entity to transfer future economic benefits as a
result of past transactions or events, i.e. ownership is not essential.

® Ownership interest. This is the residual amount found by deducting all liabilities from
assets which belong to the owners of the entity.

® Gains. These are increases in ownership interest not resulting from contributions by the
owners.

® Losses. These are decreases in ownership interest not resulting from distributions to the
owners.

@ Contributions by the owners. These are increases in ownership interest resulting from
transfers from owners in their capacity as owners.

o Distributions to owners. These are decreases in ownership interest resulting from
transfers to owners in their capacity as owners.

These definitions have been used as the basis for developing standards, e.g. assessing the
substance of a transaction means identifying whether the transaction has given rise to new
assets or liabilities, defined as above.

Chapter 5: ‘Recognition in financial statements’

The objective of financial statements is to disclose in the statement of financial position
and the profit and loss account the effect on the assets and liabilities of transactions, e.g.
purchase of stock on credit and the effect of events, e.g. accidental destruction of a vehicle
by fire. This implies that transactions are recorded under the double entry principle with
an appropriate debit and credit made to the element that has been affected, e.g. the asset
element (stock) and the liability element (creditors) are debited and credited to recognise
stock bought on credit. Events are also recorded under the double entry principle, e.g. the
asset element (vehicle) is derecognised and credited because it is no longer able to provide
future economic benefits and the loss element resulting from the fire damage is debited
to the profit and loss account. The emphasis is on determining the effect on the assets and
liabilities, e.g. the increase in the asset element (stock), the increase in the liability element
(creditors) and the reduction in the asset element (vehicle).

This emphasis has a particular significance for application of the matching concept in
preparing the profit and loss account. The traditional approach to allocating expenditure
across accounting periods has been to identify the costs that should be matched against the
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revenue in the profit and loss account and carry the balance into the statement of financial
position, i.e. the allocation is driven by the need to match costs to revenue. The Statement
of Principles approach is different in that it identifies the amount of the expenditure to be
recognised as an asset and the balance is transferred to the profit and loss account, i.e. the
question is ‘Should this expenditure be recognised as an asset (capitalised) and, if so, should
any part of it be derecognised (written off as a loss element)?’

This means that the allocation process now requires an assessment as to whether an asset
exists at the statement of financial position date by applying the following test:

1 If the future economic benefits are eliminated at a single point in time, it is at that point
that the loss is recognised and the expenditure derecognised, i.e. the debit balance is
transferred to the profit and loss account.

2 If the future economic benefits are eliminated over several accounting periods — typically
because they are being consumed over a period of time — the cost of the asset that comprises
the future economic benefits will be recognised as a loss in the performance statement
over those accounting periods, i.e. written off as a loss element as their future economic
benefit reduces.

The result of this approach should not lead to changes in the accounts as currently prepared
but it does emphasise that matching cost and revenue is not the main driver of recognition,
1.e. the question is not ‘How much expenditure should we match with the revenue reported
in the profit and loss account?’ but rather ‘Are there future economic benefits arising from the
expenditure to justify inclusion in the statement of financial position?’ and, if not, derecognise
it, i.e. write it off.

Dealing with uncertainty

There is almost always some uncertainty as to when to recognise an event or transaction,
e.g. when is the asset element of raw material inventory to be disclosed as the asset element
work-in-progress? Is it when an inventory requisition is issued, when the storekeeper
isolates it in the inventory to be issued bay, when it is issued onto the workshop floor, when
it begins to be worked on?

The Statement of Principles states that the principle to be applied if a transaction has
created or added to an existing asset or liability is to recognise it if:

1 sufficient evidence exists that the new asset or liability has been created or that there has
been an addition to an existing asset or liability; and

2 the new asset or liability or the addition to the existing asset or liability can be measured
at a monetary amount with sufficient reliability.

The use of the word sufficient reflects the uncertainty that surrounds the decision when to
recognise and the Statement states: ‘In the business environment, uncertainty usually exists
in a continuum, so the recognition process involves selecting the point on the continuum at
which uncertainty becomes acceptable.’?

Before that point it may, for example, be appropriate to disclose by way of note to the
accounts a contingent liability that is possible (less than 50% chance of crystallising into a
liability) but not probable (more than 50% chance of crystallising).

Sufficient reliability

Prudence requires more persuasive evidence of the measurement for the recognition of
items that result in an increase in ownership interest than for the recognition of items that
do not. However, the exercise of prudence does not allow for the omission of assets or gains
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where there is sufficient evidence of occurrence and reliability of measurement, or for the
inclusion of liabilities or losses where there is not. This would amount to the deliberate
understatement of assets or gains, or the deliberate overstatement of liabilities or losses.

Reporting gains and losses

Chapter 5 does not address the disclosure treatment of gains and losses. A change in assets
or liabilities might arise from three classes of past event: transactions, contracts for future
performance and other events such as a change in market price.

If the change in an asset is offset by a change in liability, there will be no gain or loss. If
the change in asset is not offset by a change in liability, there will be a gain or loss. If there
is a gain or loss, a decision is required as to whether it should be recognised in the profit and
loss account or in the statement of total recognised gains and losses.

Recognition in profit and loss account

For a gain to be recognised in the profit and loss account, it must have been earned and
realised. Earned means that no material transaction, contract or other event must occur
before the change in the assets or liabilities will have occurred; realised means that the
conversion into cash or cash equivalents must either have occurred or be reasonably assured.

Profit, as stated in the profit and loss account, is used as a prime measure of performance.
Consequently, prudence requires particularly good evidence for the recognition of gains.

It is important to note that in this chapter the ASB is following a statement of financial
position orientated approach to measuring gains and losses. The conventional profit
and loss account approach would identify the transactions that had been undertaken and
allocate these to financial accounting periods.

Chapter 6: ‘Measurement in financial statements’

The majority of listed companies in the UK use the mixed measurement system whereby
some assets and liabilities are measured using historical cost and some are measured using
a current value basis. The Statement of Principles envisages that this will continue to be the
practice and states that the aim is to select the basis that:

@ provides information about financial performance and financial position that is useful
in evaluating the reporting entity’s cash-generation abilities and in assessing its financial
adaptability;

@ carries values which are sufficiently reliable: if the historical cost and current value are
equally reliable, the better measure is the one that is the most relevant; current values
may frequently be no less reliable than historical cost figures given the level of estimation
that is required in historical cost figures, e.g. determining provisions for bad debts, stock
provisions, product warranties;

o reflects what the asset and liability represents: e.g. the relevance of short-term invest-
ments to an entity will be the specific future cash flows and these are best represented by
current values.

ASB view on need for a current value basis of measurement

The Statement makes the distinction'® between return oz capital — i.e. requiring the calcula-
tion of accounting profit — and return of capital — i.e. requiring the measurement of capital
and testing for capital maintenance. The Statement makes the point that the financial capital
maintenance concept is not satisfactory when significant general or specific price changes
have occurred.
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ASB gradualist approach

The underlying support of the ASB for a gradualist move towards the use of current values
is reflected in ‘Although the objective of financial statements and the qualitative character-
istics of financial information, in particular relevance and reliability may not change . . . as
markets develop, measurement bases that were once thought unreliable may become reliable.
Similarly, as access to markets develops, so a measurement basis that was once thought
insufficiently relevant may become the most relevant measure available.”'*

Determining current value

Current value systems could be defined as replacement cost (entry value), net realisable value
(exit value) or value in use (discounted present value of future cash flows). The approach
of the Statement is to identify the value to the business by selecting from these three alter-
natives the measure that is most relevant in the circumstances. This measure is referred to
as deprival value and represents the loss that the entity would suffer if it were deprived of
the asset.

The value to the business is determined by considering whether the company would
replace the asset. If the answer is yes, then use replacement cost; if the answer is 7o but the
asset is worth keeping, then use value in use; and if 7o and the asset is not worth keeping,
then use net realisable value.

This can be shown diagrammatically as in Figure 6.3.

How will value to the business be implemented?

The ASB is being pragmatic by following an incremental approach to the question of
measurement stating that ‘practice should develop by evolving in the direction of greater
use of current values consistent with the constraints of reliability and cost’. This seems a
sensible position for the ASB to take. Its underlying views were clear when it stated that
‘a real terms capital maintenance system improves the relevance of information because it
shows current operating margins as well as the extent to which holding gains and losses
reflect the effect of general inflation, so that users of real terms financial statements are able

to select the particular information they require’."®

Policing the mixed measurement system

Many companies have adopted the modified historical cost basis and revalued their fixed
assets on a selective basis. However, this piecemeal approach allowed companies to cherry-
pick the assets they wish to revalue on a selective basis at times when market values have
risen. The ASB have adopted the same approach as IAS 16.'¢

Figure 6.3 Value to the business

Value to the business
= lower of
[ [ |
Replacement cost and Recoverable amount
= higher of
[ [ |

Value in use and Net realisable value
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The fair value measurement system

A value to the business approach (often referred to as deprival value) was presented as a
logical approach to selecting a value to be recognised in financial statements. Standard
setters, e.g. the FASB are currently considering requiring fair values to be the most relevant
values for stakeholders.!”

Does the fair value measurement system make current cost and deprival
value redundant?

It is interesting to consider the analysis set out in the Discussion Paper Measurement Bases
for Financial Reporting — Measurement on Initial Recognition."® This is a discussion paper
prepared by the staff at the Canadian Accounting Standards Board which was issued (but
not adopted) by the TASB in March 2006 for comment. The discussion paper proposes a
four-level measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities when they are initially recognised.
The four levels start with two levels where there is a market (fair) value available, i.e. Level 1
— where there are observable market prices and Level 2 — where there are accepted valuation
models or techniques. The third and fourth levels deal with transactions where a substitute
has to be found for market value — this takes us back to the bases discussed in Chapter 4.
For example, when an asset cannot be reliably measured under Level 1 or 2 then the deprival
value approach is proposed.

Chapter 7: ‘Presentation of financial information’

Chapter 7 states that the objective of the presentation adopted is to communicate clearly
and effectively and in as simple and straightforward manner as is possible without loss
of relevance or reliability and without significantly increasing the length of the financial
statements.

The point about length is well made given the length of current annual reports and accounts.
Recent examples include Jenoptik AG extending to eighty-one pages, Sea Containers Ltd
seventy-six pages and Hugo Boss over one hundred pages.

The Statement analyses the way in which information should be presented in financial
statements to meet the objectives set out in Chapter 1. It covers the requirement for items
to be aggregated and classified and outlines good presentation practices in the statement
of financial performance, statement of financial position, cash flow statement and accom-
panying information, e.g.:

Statement of financial performance

Good presentation involves:

® Recognising only gains and losses.

o Classifying items by function, e.g. production, selling, administrative and nature, e.g.
interest payable.

® Showing separately amounts that are affected in different ways by economic or commercial
conditions, e.g. continuing, acquired and discontinued operations, segmental geographical
information.

® Showing separately:
— items unusual in amount or incidence;
— expenses that are not operating expenses, e.g. financing costs and taxation;

— expenses that relate primarily to future periods, e.g. research expenditure.
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Statement of financial position

Good presentation involves:

® Recognising only assets, liabilities and ownership interest.

o Classifying assets so that users can assess the nature, amounts and liquidity of available
resources.

o Classifying assets and liabilities so that users can assess the nature, amounts and timing of
obligations that require or may require liquid resources for settlement.

o Classifying assets by function, e.g. show fixed assets and current assets separately.

Accompanying information

Typical information includes chairman’s statement, directors’ report, operating and financial
review, highlights and summary indicators.

The Statement states that the more complex an entity and its transactions become, the
more users need an objective and comprehensive analysis and explanation of the main features
underlying the entity’s financial performance and financial position.

Good presentation involves discussion of:

® The main factors underlying financial performance, including the principal risks, uncer-
tainties and trends in main business areas and how the entity is responding.

® The strategies adopted for capital structure and treasury policy.

® The activities and expenditure (other than capital expenditure) that are investment in the
future.

It is interesting to note the Statement view that highlights and